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Foreword

This Code of Practice is based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
and has been developed by the CIPFA/LASAAC Code Board under the oversight of the
Financial Reporting Advisory Board.

The Code is based on approved accounting standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee, except where these are inconsistent with specific statutory
requirements. The Code also draws on approved accounting standards issued by the
International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board and the UK Financial Reporting
Council where these provide additional guidance. The Code has been prepared on the
basis of accounting standards and interpretations in effect for accounting periods
commencing on or before 1 January 20162017.

This edition of the Code applies for accounting periods commencing on or after 1 April
26162017. It supersedes the edition published on 1 April 2615-2016 (the 26152016/16-
17 Code) and the Update to the 2016/17 Code.

The key accounting changes in this edition of the Code include:

a)
MNertherntreland)2015-A restructure of chapter one (Introduction) to separately
present the requirements of each of the administrations across the UK for that
chapter.

b)

lecal-autherity-financial-statementsAmendments to section 2.2 (Business
Improvement District schemes (England, Wales and Scotland), Business Rate
Supplements (England), and Community Infrastructure Levy (England and Wales))
for the Community Infrastructure Levy to clarify the treatment of revenue costs and
any charges received before the commencement date.
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d)

e)

9)

Eunds)Amendment to section 3.1 (Narratlve Reporting) to introduce key reporting
principles for the Narrative report. -

%@pendﬁute—and—Fundmg—Analy#ss—ésee—e)—betew-)Updates to section 3.4

(Presentation of Financial Statements) to clarify the reporting requirements for
accounting policies and going concern reporting. Section 3.4 has also been
updated to reflect the amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows introduced by
the Disclosure Initiative amendments to IAS 7 issued in January 2016.

Aeeeuntmgétanda#ds—Bea@-élASB)—D&eles«MMaﬂveFollowm the amendments
in the Update to the 2016/17 Code, changes to section 3.5 (Housing Revenue

Account) to reflect the Housing Revenue Account (Accounting Practices) Directions
2016 disclosure requirements for English authorities.

@%%m*bttshed-by—GJP-FA—aFtdéQLAeEFollowmq the amendments in the Update

to the 2016/17 Code, changes to sections 4.2 (Lease and Lease Type
Arrangements), 4.3 (Service Concession Arrangements: Local Authority as Grantor),
7.4 (Financial Instruments — Disclosure and Presentation Requirements) and
Appendix B (Sources and Legislation) for the Local Authority (Capital Finance and
Accounting) Scotland Reqgulations 2016.

Cyele:Introduction in section 4.1 (Propertv. Plant and Equmment) of the new

measurement requirements for the Highways Network Asset and consequential
amendments for the definitions, measurement and disclosure provisions for 2017/18.
Note that the adoption of the new measurement requirements for the




h)

)

K)

Highways Network Asset will only be confirmed in an announcement by
CIPFA/LASAAC following its decisions at its March 2017 meeting.

2016/ Introduction of a new section 4.11 (Highways Network Asset) for the new
measurement requirements at depreciated replacement cost for the Highways
Network Asset based on the methodologies in the CIPFA Code of Practice on the
Highways Network Asset. Note that the adoption of the new measurement
requirements for the Highways Network Asset will only be confirmed in an
announcement by CIPFA/LASAAC following its decisions at its March 2017

meeting.

Highways-Network-Asset:Amendments to section 6.5 (Accounting and Reporting by
Pension Funds) to require a new disclosure of investment management transaction
costs and clarification on the approach to investment concentration disclosure.
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Fransportinfrastructure-Assets:A new Appendix F (Provisions in the 2018/19 Code

for Financial Instruments) representing the provisions to be included in the 2018/19
Code for IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. Note these provisions are included in the
2017/18 Code to allow authorities sufficient time to prepare for the changes in the
2018/19 Code and they may not be adopted early by a local authority.

A new Appendix G (Provisions in the 2018/19 Code for Revenue from Contracts with

Service Recipients) representing the provisions to be included in the 2018/19 Code
for IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Note these provisions are
included in the 2017/18 Code to allow authorities sufficient time to prepare for the
changes in the 2018/19 Code and they may not be adopted early by a local

authority.




Under the oversight of the Financial Reporting Advisory Board, the CIPFA/LASAAC
Code Board is in a position to issue mid-year updates to the Code. This will only be
done in exceptional circumstances.

In England and Wales, the Code constitutes a ‘proper accounting practice’ under the
terms of section 21(2) of the Local Government Act 2003. In Scotland, the Code
constitutes proper accounting practice under section 12 of the Local Government in
Scotland Act 2003. In Northern Ireland, the status and authority of the Code derives
from Regulation (2) of the Local Government (Capital Finance and Accounting)
Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2011 and through the relevant accounts direction issued
by the Department of the Environment (Northern Ireland).



STATEMENT BY THE FINANCIAL REPORTING ADVISORY
BOARD ON THE ‘CODE OF PRACTICE ON LOCAL
AUTHORITY ACCOUNTING IN THE UNITED KINGDOM
201462017/4718’

The Financial Reporting Advisory Board’s role is to promote the highest possible
standards in financial reporting by Government and to help to ensure that any
adaptations of, or departures from, GAAP are justified and properly explained. The
Financial Reporting Advisory Board (FRAB) is responsible for providing independent
advice to the relevant authorities on financial reporting principles and standards. The
‘relevant authorities’ for this purpose are HM Treasury in respect of central government,
the Scottish Government, the Northern Ireland Assembly and the Welsh Government in
respect of central government and the health sector in their territories, the Department of
Health and Monitor in respect of the health sector in England, and CIPFA/LASAAC in
respect of local authority accounts across England, Wales, Scotland and Northern
Ireland.

The CIPFA/LASAAC Local Authority Accounting Code Board (the Code Board), a
standing committee of CIPFA and LASAAC, is responsible for developing the Code of
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code), and shares the
FRAB'’s aim of promoting the highest possible standards in financial reporting. In
developing the Code, the Code Board has followed the Memorandum of Understanding
between the Relevant Authorities.

Statement

The FRAB has reviewed the Code, and concluded that it is consistent with International
Financial Reporting Standards as applied by the Government Financial Reporting
Manual for 20162017-1718, except for the differences shown in the Annex.

Kathryn-Cearnslan Mackintosh
CHAIRMAN

FINANCIAL REPORTING ADVISORY BOARD

Date: TBC



ANNEX

Differences between the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the
United Kingdom (the Code) and the Government’s Financial Reporting Manual (the
FReM)

Section 2.5 of the Code recognises gains or losses on transfer of a function in the
Movement in Reserves Statement and Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.
The FReM recognises gains or losses on the net/asset liability resulting from a transfer of
a function as a non-operating gain/loss.

Section 3.1 of the Code requires authorities to produce a Narrative Report (note the
Code does not include a requirement to prepare a sustainability report, but neither does
the Code prevent an authority including such information within its Narrative Report).
The FReM requires a strategic report to be produced (which in turn includes the
requirements for sustainability reporting).

The content of the Statement of Responsibilities in section 3.2 of the Code is less
detailed than that in the FReM.

The formats of the financial statements in section 3.4 of the Code are different from
those in the FReM, reflecting the differing governance positions and different audiences
for the financial statements.

Section 3.8 of the Code includes an adaptation to reflect regulations in respect of the
authorised for issue date. No adaptation is required in the FReM.

Section 4.1 of the Code retains the use of the cost model for certain classes of asset
(such as infrastructure assets that do not meet the definition of the Highways Network
Asset and community assets). All classes of asset are carried at a current valuation
under the FReM.

Section 4.5 of the Code requires intangible assets to be carried at historical cost (less
accumulated amortisation and impairment) where no active market exists. The FReM
requires such assets to be revalued using indices or some suitable model.

The FReM adapts the recognition of impairment losses in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets
such that impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are
always taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, irrespective of
whether there is an accumulated revaluation surplus for the asset. The Code does not
include this adaptation.

Section 4.8 of the Code permits authorities to select an accounting policy of expensing or



capitalising borrowing costs on qualifying assets (IAS 23 Borrowing Costs requires
borrowing costs in respect of qualifying assets to be capitalised). The FReM includes a
different adaptation.

Unlike the FReM, section 4.9 of the Code withdraws the option to present assets held for
sale in the notes as opposed to on the face of the Balance Sheet.

Section 6.2 of the Code permits authorities to account for certain long-term disability
payments in the same way as post-employment benefits. This is not permitted by the
FReM.

The FReM specifies the presentation of the pension liabilities in pension fund accounts
whereas section 6.5 of the Code retains the options set out in IAS 26.

Chapter seven of the Code includes minor adaptation and additional guidance covering
‘regular way’ trades of financial assets; a prohibition on the designation of the category of
a financial instrument; soft loans advanced and received by an authority — ‘prevailing
interest rate’; Lender Option Borrower Option Loans (LOBOs); accounting for immaterial
transaction costs on initial recognition; and exchanges of debt instruments. This is not
included in the FReM.

Chapter nine of the Code requires an authority to produce Group Accounts where it has
investments in associates and/or interests in joint ventures but no interests in
subsidiaries. The FReM includes criteria for the consolidation of entities into the
departmental accounting boundary based on control criteria used by the Office for
National Statistics for sector classification purposes (rather than the provisions of IFRS)
which are not relevant to local authorities.

In addition, a number of sections of the Code incorporate additional guidance on
non-exchange transactions that is not explicitly included in the FReM. These
adaptations of IAS 39 are in sections 2.7, 5.3 and 8.1 of the Code.



CHAPTER ONE
Introduction

1.1 OBJECTIVE OF THE CODE

111

The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code)

specifies the principles and practices of accounting required to give a ‘true and fair’ view
of the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of a local authority,
including the Group Accounts where a local authority has material interests in
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

1.2 LEGISLATIVE PROVISIONS FOR PROPER ACCOUNTING

PRACTICES

121

Proper Accounting Practices - England

The Code sets out the proper accounting practices defined by section 21(2) of the Local
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Government Act 2003. These proper practices apply to Statements of Accounts
prepared in accordance with the statutory framework established for England by the
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The audit of those accounts is undertaken in
accordance with the statutory framework established by sections 3 and 20 of the Local
Audit and Accountability Act 2014 for England.

Proper Accounting Practices - Northern Ireland

In Northern Ireland, the statutory framework for the accounts and audit is established by
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Article 24 of the Local Government (Northern Ireland) Order 2005 and the Local
Government (Accounts and Audit) Requlations (Northern Ireland) 2015.

Proper Accounting Practices - Scotland

In Scotland, the Code constitutes proper accounting practices under section 12 of the

Local Government in Scotland Act 2003. These proper practices apply to:

=  Annual Accounts prepared under the statutory framework established by the Local

Authority Accounts (Scotland) Requlations 2014
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= the audit of those accounts, undertaken in accordance with the statutory framework

established by section 99 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973.

Proper Accounting Practices — Wales

The Code sets out the proper accounting practices defined by section 21(2) of the Local
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Government Act 2003. These proper practices apply to Statements of Accounts

prepared in accordance with the statutory framework established for Wales by the

Accounts and Audit (Wales) Requlations 2014. The audit of those accounts is
undertaken in accordance with the statutory framework established by sections 39 and
58 of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004.

Proper Accounting Practices — Application of the Code

In the unusual event that other statutory provisions require departures from the Code,

126

then those statutory provisions shall be followed. Regard will still need to be given,
however, to the need for the Statement of Accounts/Annual Accounts in Scotland* to give
a ‘'true and fair’ view of the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the
authority, which may mean the inclusion of additional information in accordance with the
provisions of the Code.

The Code prescribes the accounting treatment and disclosures for all normal
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transactions of a local authority, and is based on European Union adopted IFRS. On
the few occasions where the CIPFA/LASAAC Local Authority Accounting Code Board
(CIPFA/LASAAC) considers it appropriate to adapt or interpret IFRSs, the accounting
treatment is based on the approach in the Memorandum of Understanding between the
Relevant Authorities.

The Code involves adaptations and interpretations of International Financial Reporting

Standards and other pronouncements by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB) subject to such adaptations and interpretations as are necessary for the local
government context. These will be clearly identified in each chapter or section of the
Code. In all other cases, the Code implements the requirements of International
Financial Reporting Standards. Where users experience difficulties interpreting this
Code, they shall refer back to the relevant International Financial Reporting Standard or
other pronouncement for further guidance. Where adaptations and interpretations of
International Financial Reporting Standards contained in the Code are in line with the
guidance contained in International Public Sector Accounting Standards or other

References to Statement of Accounts in this Code mean Annual Accounts for Scottish

authorities following the specifications of the Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Requlations
2014.
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reporting standards relevant to the public sector, authorities shall refer to those
standards for further quidance.

In the unusual event that a local authority enters into a transaction, the accounting

1.3

treatment and disclosure requirements of which are not covered by the Code, but which
are covered by an extant IAS, IFRS, SIC Interpretation or IFRIC Interpretation, by an
IPSAS or other reporting standards relevant to the public sector, the requirements of the
relevant 1AS, IFRS, SIC Interpretation, IFRIC Interpretation, IPSAS or other GAAP shall
be followed.

APPLICABILITY OF THE CODE

131

This Code has effect for financial years commencing on or after 1 April 2017.
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Applicability — English Authorities/Bodies

In England, the Code is part of the ‘proper practices’ requirements governing the
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preparation of an authority’s Statement of Accounts referred to in section 21 of the Local
Government Act 2003. However, the Code does not apply to any parish councils, even
those required to prepare a Statements of Accounts. Alternative guidance is applicable
to these councils. _All authorities to which section 21 applies that are required to prepare

a Statement of Accounts in compliance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015
made under section 32 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, except parish
councils, therefore have a statutory duty to comply with Code requirements. _In practice
this definition includes principal councils, police and crime commissioners, fire and
rescue authorities, and the Greater London Authority and its functional bodies.

Section 3 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires a relevant authority
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(defined in Schedule 2 of the Act (other than a health service body)) to prepare a
Statement of Accounts. It is expected that bodies covered by the Accounts and Audit
Regulations 2015 requirements to prepare a Statement of Accounts but not by the
definition of proper practices in section 21 of the Local Government Act 2003 will adopt
the Code as a source of proper practices, unless adoption is ruled out by legislation, or a

more specialised accounting code or other quidance applies. Specialised bodies should

check against the definitions in the relevant Acts to determine whether they are covered.

Section 141 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 stipulates that a
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number of sections of Part 1 Capital Finance etc and Accounts of the Local Government
Act 2003 (including Sections 21 and 22) apply to chief constables as they apply to a local

authority.

The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 confirmed the threshold for smaller relevant

authorities in England below which a Statement of Accounts is not required to be
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prepared. However, these authorities are permitted by legislation to follow the
requirements for larger relevant authorities in relation to the Statement of Accounts,
which might mean the requirements of the Code.

Applicability — Northern Irish District Councils

In Northern Ireland, district councils are required to prepare Statements of Accounts
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under Requlation 7 of the Local Government (Accounts and Audit) Requlations (Northern

Ireland) 2015 and the Code is part of the proper practices governing their preparation.

Applicability — Scottish Authorities/Bodies

Scottish local authorities have a duty under section 12 of the Local Government in
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Scotland Act 2003 to observe proper accounting practices. The Code is recognised as
setting out proper accounting practices in this regard. Local authorities are defined as a

council constituted under section 2 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994, the
Strathclyde Partnership for Transport and transport partnerships created under the
Transport (Scotland) Act 2005, integration joint boards established by order under
section 9 of the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014, and other bodies and

trust funds to which section 106(1) of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 applies.

As a consequence of the requirements of Part 4 of the Local Authority Accounts
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(Scotland) Regulations 2014, where a trust fund falls within section 106(1) and is a
reqistered charity it should comply with the accounting requirements of those requlations,

including following the Charities SORP and other financial reporting requirements as
specified by the Office of the Scottish Charity Requlator (OSCR). Where the trust fund
is not a reqistered charity, it should follow the requirements of this Code.

Applicability — Welsh Authorities/Bodies

In Wales, the Code is part of the ‘proper practices’ requirements governing the
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preparation of an authority’s Statement of Accounts referred to in section 21 of the Local
Government Act 2003. However, the Code does not apply to any community councils,
even those required to prepare a Statements of Accounts. Alternative quidance is
applicable to these councils. _All authorities to which section 21 applies that are required

to prepare a Statement of Accounts in compliance with the Accounts and Audit (Wales)
Reqgulations 2014 made under section 39 of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004, except
community councils, therefore have a statutory duty to comply with Code requirements.

In practice this definition includes principal councils, police and crime commissioners and

fire and rescue authorities.

It is expected that bodies covered by the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Requlations 2014

requirements to prepare a Statement of Accounts but not by the definition of proper
practices in section 21 of the Local Government Act 2003 will adopt the Code as a
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source of proper practices, unless adoption is ruled out by legislation, or a more
specialised accounting code applies. Specialised bodies should check against the
definitions to determine whether they are covered.

Section 141 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 stipulates that a

1312

number of sections of Part 1 Capital Finance etc and Accounts of the Local Government
Act 2003 (including Sections 21 and 22) apply to chief constables as they apply to a local

authority.

Applicability — General

This is the eighth edition of the Code to be prepared under International Financial
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Reporting Standards. This version of the Code reflects a number of changes to
accounting practice since the 2016/17 Code. These changes are set out at the end of
each section.

Proper practice, as defined by requlations, also includes the requirements of other codes

of practice, such as the Service Reporting Code of Practice (SeRCOP). Although this
Code no longer requires statements or notes to be prepared in accordance with
SeRCORP, in preparing relevant statistical information based on accounting records local
authorities will need to ensure that they comply with the requirements of SeRCOP and
other codes of practice as well as the requirements of this Code. Other codes of
practice, such as CIPFA’s Prudential Code, also rely on information in the financial
statements and accounting records. In preparing the financial statements local
authorities shall comply with the requirements of that Code.

1.4 PUBLICATION

General

141 The Statement of Accounts should be prepared promptly by authorities in a form which
fulfils the purpose outlined above in accordance with the statutory timetable and CIPFA’s
Standard of Professional Practice on Financial Reporting.
Confirmation and Publication Requirements for the Statement of Accounts in
England

142 In England, the responsible financial officer in each authority is required to confirm that

they are satisfied that the statement of accounts presents a true and fair view of the
financial position of the authority at the end of the relevant financial year and the
authority’s income and expenditure for that financial year, prior to the commencement of
the period for the exercise of public rights (which includes the first 10 working days in
June) and to approve and publish them by 31 July, or as soon as reasonably practicable
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after the receipt of the auditor’s final findings (if later). The complete set of financial
statements as defined in paragraph 3.4.2.17, and including the significant accounting
policies and notes to the accounts, should form the relevant Statement of Accounts for
the purpose of the auditor’s certificate and opinion in England. The statements should be
published with an audit certificate and opinion in England. If the published Statement of
Accounts has not been audited, this should be stated clearly on the front of the
document.

Issue and Publication Requirements for the Statement of Accounts in Northern
Ireland

In Northern Ireland, the requirement is to prepare and approve accounts by 30 June and
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to publish them by 30 September. The complete set of financial statements as defined in
paragraph 3.4.2.17, and including the significant accounting policies and notes to the
accounts, should form the relevant Statement of Accounts for the purpose of the
auditor’s certificate and opinion. The statements should be published with an audit
certificate and opinion. _If the published Statement of Accounts has not been audited,
this should be stated clearly on the front of the document.

Submission and Publication of the Annual Accounts in Scotland

In Scotland, the proper officer is required to submit the unaudited accounts to the
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appointed auditor by 30 June. The local authority or a committee of that authority
whose remit includes audit or governance functions must meet to consider the unaudited

Annual Accounts as submitted to the auditor by 31 August. The Local Authority
Accounts (Scotland) Requlations 2014 require the local authority to aim to approve the
Annual Accounts for signature by 30 September and to publish them by 31 October. In
Scotland, the financial statements are required to be included in the Annual Accounts.
The complete set of financial statements as defined in paragraph 3.4.2.17, and including
the significant accounting policies and notes to the accounts, should form the Annual
Accounts. The statements should be published with an audit certificate. If the
published Statement of Accounts has not been audited, this should be stated clearly on
the front of the document.

Issue and Publication of the Statement of Accounts in Wales

In Wales, the requirement is to prepare and approve accounts by 30 June and to publish

them by 30 September. The complete set of financial statements as defined in paragraph

3.4.2.17, and including the significant accounting policies and notes to the accounts,
should form the relevant Statement of Accounts for the purpose of the auditor’s
certificate and opinion. The statements should be published with an audit certificate and
opinion. If the published Statement of Accounts has not been audited, this should be
stated clearly on the front of the document.




Other Publication Issues

146 The publication of a Statement of Accounts/Annual Accounts in Scotland is a statutory
requirement. However, Statements of Accounts/Annual Accounts form part of reporting
in its wider sense, and must, therefore, be considered in relation to annual reports. It is
recommended that the Statement of Accounts should be included within the annual
report. However, where this is not appropriate, the annual report should contain a fair
summary of the Statement of Accounts, with a cross-reference to where and how the full
Statement of Accounts may be obtained.

147 The Code states which financial statements should be published as part of the Statement
of Accounts/Annual Accounts in Scotland, and the information to be included in each
statement. It also sets out recommendations regarding the order in which the financial
statements and notes to the accounts are presented. Within the general framework and
requirements of the Code, the layout of financial statements and terminology used are at
the discretion of authorities.

1.5 THE CONTEXT OF THE CODE'S RECOMMENDATIONS

151 The Code is supported by a number of detailed accounting recommendations which
have evolved as best accounting practice over many years. The provisions of the Code
are updated where professional or statutory developments make it appropriate. The
primary sources are set out in Appendix B.

152 The Code sets out the accounting concepts and accounting principles which underpin
the Statement of Accounts. The following points are intended to put some of those
requirements in context:

. The overriding requirement of the Code remains that the Statement of Accounts
gives a ‘true and fair’ view of the financial position, financial performance and cash
flows of the authority. Where there are changes in accounting policies or where
the requirements of the Code are not met, then full disclosure and, where relevant,
quantification in the Statement of Accounts is required.

= The Code represents the minimum requirements for disclosure and presentation
(subject to materiality) and is not intended to prejudice the provision of further
information by authorities.

1.6 ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

161 The Code is based on approved accounting standards and also reflects specific statutory
accounting requirements. Compliance with the Code is therefore necessary (save in
exceptional circumstances) in order that an authority’s accounts give a ‘true and fair’
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view of the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the authority.

The requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards and other

pronouncements by the International Accounting Standards Board in effect for
accounting periods commencing on or before 1 January 2017 (as adopted by the EU)
apply unless specifically adapted or interpreted by the Code.

1.7 MATERIALITY

171

The Code provides a definition of materiality in paragraph 2.1.2.11 which is applied to

information and disclosures in local authority financial statements. This Code only
requires local authority financial statements to disclose information which is material.
CIPFA/LASAAC is of the view that local authorities should only include disclosures that
are material to the presentation of a ‘true and fair’ view of the financial position, financial
performance and cash flows of the authority and to the understanding of users of the
financial statements.

1.8 PURPOSE OF THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS
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The Code has been prepared on the basis that the purpose of a local authority’s
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published Statement of Accounts/Annual Accounts (Scotland) is to give electors, those
subject to locally levied taxes and charges, members of the authority, employees and
other interested parties clear information about the authority’s finances. It should
answer such guestions as:

= What did the authority’s services cost in the year of account?

= Where did the money come from?

=  What were the authority’'s assets and liabilities at the year-end?

It is important for compliance with the Code that two particular aspects are understood
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clearly. First, all Statements of Accounts should reflect a common pattern of
presentation, although this does not necessarily require them to be in an identical format.

One of the main aims of the Code is to narrow the areas of difference and variety in
accounting treatment and thereby to enhance the usefulness of published Statements of

Accounts.

Secondly, interpretation and explanation of the accounts are considered to be extremely

This position is based on paragraph 3.4.2.27 from the Code’s adoption of IAS 1 Presentation of

Financial Statements which states that ‘A local authority need not provide a specific disclosure
required by the Code if the information resulting from that disclosure is not material.’
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important. The Code requires that there should be a Narrative Report to accompany the
financial statements/Statement of Accounts. The Narrative Report should explain the
more significant features of the accounts (see section 3.1 of the Code for further details
of the requirements to produce a Narrative Report). It should be based on the
information contained in the Statement of Accounts and local authorities should ensure
that it does not contain material inaccuracies or misleading statements in relation to the
Statement of Accounts.

Wherever possible the Statement of Accounts and the supporting notes should be written
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in plain language and technical terms or jargon should be used only sparingly. Where
the use of technical terms cannot be avoided, they should always be explained clearly in

a glossary.
Where an authority also publishes a summarised or simplified version of its Statement of
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Accounts, it should contain a clear reference to the existence of the full Statement of
Accounts and to its availability.

Information contained in the Statement of Accounts will be consolidated into the Whole of

Government Accounts. The Code aims to narrow the areas of difference and variety in
accounting treatment with the rest of the public sector, facilitating consolidation. As part
of the consolidation process, additional information to that disclosed in the Statement of
Accounts may need to be submitted to government; such information is expected to be in
line with the requirements of the Code.

























CHAPTER TWO

Concepts and principles

2.1 CONCEPTS

2111
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2.1.1 Introduction

Authorities shall prepare financial statements (including Group Accounts) in accordance
with the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements as adapted by this section of the Code.

In September 2010 the IASB issued the first phase of its new Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2010 (the Conceptual Framework). Two chapters, chapter 1 ‘The
Objective of General Purpose Financial Reporting’ and chapter 3 ‘Qualitative
Characteristics of Useful Financial Information’, have been issued. These chapters
replace the relevant paragraphs in the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements. It should be noted that the objective of general purpose
financial reporting set out in chapter 1 of the IASB Conceptual Framework (paragraph
OB2) has been expanded in the Code to reflect public sector circumstances. The
remaining paragraphs of this chapter would also need to be considered against needs of
the users of public sector financial statements (but see also the specific issues relating to
paragraph OB10 per paragraph 2.1.2.2).

Paragraphs 2.1.2.1 and 2.1.2.2 have also been drafted (using the hierarchy of standards
that applied in the 2012/13 Code and which is also consistent with the process set out in
paragraph 1.1.6 of the Code) from the Financial Reporting Council’s Statement of
Principles for Financial Reporting Interpretation for Public Benefit Entities, from the text
of the Code in previous editions and the International Public Sector Accounting
Standards Board’'s (IPSASB) Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial
Reporting by Public Sector Entities, IPSASB, October 2014 (IPSASB Conceptual
Framework)®.

The wording of paragraphs 2.1.2.1 and 2.1.2.2 was originally drawn from the Exposure Draft of
the IPSASB Conceptual Framework but is now more authoritatively drawn from the published
document.
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2116

2117

2121

The IPSASB Conceptual Framework provides additional guidance for local authorities on
issues raised by section 2.1.

In presenting information in their financial statements, authorities shall have regard to
the:

a) objective of financial statements

b) underlying assumption

c) qualitative characteristics of financial statements
d) elements of financial statements

e) recognition of the elements of financial statements

f)  measurement of the elements of financial statements.

In particular, regard should be had to the qualitative characteristics in the selection and
application of accounting policies and estimation techniques (see section 3.3 of the
Code), and in the exercise of professional judgement. The Code specifies many of the
accounting policies and estimation techniques to be adopted for material items. These
policies and techniques have been selected to accord with the accounting concepts and
principles set out in this section and with International Financial Reporting Standards (as
adapted for the public sector context, where necessary).

Financial statements shall give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial
performance and cash flows of an authority. A true and fair view requires the faithful
representation of the effects of transactions, other events and conditions in accordance
with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, income and expenses
set out in the Code. Although the IASB framework does not deal directly with such a
concept, the application of the principal qualitative characteristics and compliance with
the Code is presumed to result in the financial statements that convey a true and fair
view. Nevertheless it remains the responsibility of the authority to ensure that its
financial statements present a true and fair view of the financial position, performance
and cash flows of the authority.

2.1.2 Accounting Requirements

Objectives of financial statements

Authorities need to be familiar with the objective of the financial statements. For local
authorities, the objective of the financial statements is to provide information about the
authority’s financial performance, financial position and cash flows that is useful to a wide
range of users for assessing the stewardship of the authority’'s management and for
making economic decisions. The objective is also to provide financial information about
the reporting authority that is useful to existing and potential investors, lenders and other
creditors in making decisions about providing resources to it. Financial reporting is not
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an end in itself. Its purpose is to provide information useful to users of the financial
statements. The objectives of financial reporting are therefore determined by reference
to the users of the financial statements, and their information needs. In the public
sector, providing information that allows for an assessment of the stewardship and
accountability of elected members and management for the resources entrusted to them
is of paramount importance.

It should be noted that the IASB Conceptual Framework sets out that general purpose
financial reports are not primarily directed to regulators and members of the public other
than investors, lenders and other creditors (IASB Conceptual Framework, paragraph
OB10). However, CIPFA/LASAAC is of the view that the nature of public sector
financial statements would mean that this paragraph is not applicable to local authorities.
It considers that, consistent with the views issued in previous editions of the Code, the
presentation of the financial statements shall meet the common needs of most users,
focusing on the ability of the users to make economic decisions, the needs of public
accountability and the stewardship of an authority’s resources.

Local authority financial statements are developed primarily to respond to the information
needs of service recipients and resource providers who do not possess the authority to
require local authorities to disclose the information they need for accountability and
decision-making purposes. Local authority members and members of parliament are
also primary users of local authority financial statements, when acting in their capacity as
representatives of the interests of service recipients and resource providers. Therefore,
for the purposes of Code, the primary users of the financial statements are service
recipients and their representatives and resource providers and their representatives.

CIPFA/LASAAC would note that Government has prescribed the Code as a proper
practice in legislation and relies on the assurance it obtains from local authorities
producing a set of IFRS-based financial statements to ensure that local authority
financial performance, financial position and cash flows are disclosed to present a true
and fair view and thus the Government across the four UK administrations may be
described as an interested stakeholder in the local authority financial statements.

Financial performance reflected by accrual accounting

An authority shall prepare its financial statements, except for cash flow information, using
the accrual basis of accounting, ie the authority recognises items as assets, liabilities,
income and expenses (the elements of financial statements) when they satisfy the
definitions and recognition criteria for those elements in the Code. Accrual accounting
depicts the effects of transactions and other events and circumstances on an authority’s
economic resources and claims in the periods in which those effects occur, even if the
resulting cash receipts and payments occur in a different period. This is important
because information about an authority’s economic resources and claims and changes in
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its economic resources and claims during a period provides a better basis for assessing
the authority’s past and future performance than information solely about cash receipts
and payments during that period.

Underlying assumption

Going concern — an authority’s financial statements shall be prepared on a going
concern basis; that is, the accounts should be prepared on the assumption that the
functions of the authority will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future_
(see also paragraph 3.4.2.23 for bodies that follow the Code but are not discontinued by
statute). Transfers of services under combinations of public sector bodies (such as local
government reorganisation) do not negate the presumption of going concern.

Qualitative characteristics of useful financial information

Fundamental qualitative characteristics

If financial information is to be useful it must be relevant and faithfully represent what it
purports to represent. The usefulness of financial information is enhanced if it is
comparable, verifiable, timely and understandable. Thus the fundamental qualitative
characteristics of financial information are relevance and faithful representation.
Information must be both relevant and faithfully presented to be useful.

Relevance - relevant financial information is capable of making a difference in the
decisions made by users. Information may be capable of making a difference in a
decision even if some users choose not to take advantage of it or are already aware of it
from other sources. Financial information is capable of making a difference in decisions
if it has predictive value, confirmatory value or both.

Financial information has predictive value if it can be used as an input to processes
employed by users to predict future outcomes. Financial information need not be a
prediction or forecast to have predictive value.

Financial information has confirmatory value if it provides feedback about (confirms or
changes) previous evaluations.

Materiality — information is material if omitting it or misstating it could influence decisions
that users make on the basis of financial information about a specific reporting authority.
In other words, materiality is an authority-specific aspect of relevance based on the
nature or magnitude, or both, of the items to which the information relates in the context
of an individual authority’s financial statements. Consequently, the Code cannot specify
a uniform quantitative threshold for materiality or predetermine what could be material in
a particular situation. An authority need not comply with the Code, as to both disclosure
and accounting principles, if the information is not material to the ‘true and fair’ view of
the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the authority and to the
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understanding of users.

Faithful representation — the financial statements represent economic phenomena in
words and numbers. To be useful, financial information must not only represent
relevant phenomena, but it must also faithfully represent the phenomena that it purports
to represent.® To be a perfectly faithful representation, a depiction would have three
characteristics. It would be complete, neutral and free from error. The Code’s
objective is to maximise those qualities to the extent possible.

= A complete depiction includes all information necessary for a user to understand the
phenomenon being depicted, including all necessary descriptions and explanations.

= A neutral depiction is without bias in the selection or presentation of financial
information. A neutral depiction is not slanted, weighted, emphasised,
de-emphasised or otherwise manipulated to increase the probability that financial
information will be received favourably or unfavourably by users.

= Faithful representation does not mean accurate in all respects. Free from error
means there are no errors or omissions in the description of the phenomenon, and
the process used to produce the reported information has been selected and applied
with no errors in the process. In this context, free from error does not mean
perfectly accurate in all respects. For example, an estimate of an unobservable
price or value cannot be determined to be accurate or inaccurate. However, a
representation of that estimate can be faithful if the amount is described clearly and
accurately as being an estimate, the nature and limitations of the estimating process
are explained, and no errors have been made in selecting and applying an
appropriate process for developing the estimate.

Enhancing qualitative characteristics

Comparability, verifiability, timeliness and understandability are qualitative
characteristics that enhance the usefulness of information that is relevant and faithfully
represented. The enhancing qualitative characteristics may also help determine which
of two ways should be used to depict a phenomenon if both are considered equally
relevant and faithfully represented.

Comparability — information about an authority is more useful if it can be compared with
similar information about other authorities and entities and with similar information about

Note that paragraph BC3.26 of the IASB Conceptual Framework states: ‘Substance over form is
not considered a separate component of faithful representation because it would be redundant.
Faithful representation means that financial information represents the substance of an
economic phenomenon rather than merely representing its legal form. Representing a legal
form that differs from the economic substance of the underlying economic phenomenon could
not result in a faithful representation.’
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the same authority for another period or another date. Comparability is the qualitative
characteristic that enables users to identify and understand similarities in, and
differences among, items. Unlike the other qualitative characteristics, comparability
does not relate to a single item. A comparison requires at least two items. It should be
noted that:

= Consistency, although related to comparability, is not the same. Consistency refers
to the use of the same methods for the same items, either from period to period
within a reporting entity or in a single period across entities. Comparability is the
goal; consistency helps to achieve that goal.

= Comparability is not uniformity. For information to be comparable, like things must
look alike and different things must look different. Comparability of financial
information is not enhanced by making unlike things look alike any more than it is
enhanced by making like things look different. Application of the terms of the Code
will ensure adequate disclosure and consistency, and thus comparability.

Verifiability helps assure users that information faithfully represents the economic
phenomena it purports to represent. Verifiability means that different knowledgeable
and independent observers could reach consensus, although not necessarily complete
agreement, that a particular depiction is a faithful representation. Quantified information
need not be a single point estimate to be verifiable. A range of possible amounts and
the related probabilities can also be verified.

Verification can be direct or indirect. Direct verification means verifying an amount or
other representation through direct observation; for example, by counting cash. Indirect
verification means checking the inputs to a model, formula or other technique and
recalculating the outputs using the same methodology.

It may not be possible to verify some explanations and forward-looking financial
information until a future period, if at all. To help users decide whether they want to use
that information, it would normally be necessary to disclose the underlying assumptions,
the methods of compiling the information and other factors and circumstances that
support the information.

Timeliness means having information available to decision-makers in time to be capable
of influencing their decisions. Generally, the older the information, the less useful it is.
However, some information may continue to be timely long after the end of a reporting
period because, for example, some users may need to identify and assess trends.

Understandability — classifying characterising and presenting information clearly and
concisely makes it understandable. Some phenomena are inherently complex and

cannot be made easy to understand. Excluding information about those phenomena
from the financial statements might make the information in those financial statements
easier to understand. However, those statements would be incomplete and therefore
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potentially misleading.

The financial statements are prepared for users who have a reasonable knowledge of
business and economic activities and who review and analyse the information diligently.
Some economic and other phenomena are particularly complex and difficult to represent
in local authority financial statements and some users may need to seek the aid of an
advisor to assist in their understanding of them. All efforts should be undertaken to
represent economic and other phenomena included in the financial statements in a
manner that is understandable to a wide range of users. However, information should
not be excluded from financial statements solely because it may be too complex or
difficult for some users to understand without assistance.

Enhancing qualitative characteristics should be maximised to the extent possible.
However, the enhancing qualitative characteristics, either individually or as a group,
cannot make information useful if that information is irrelevant or not faithfully
represented.

Local authorities derive their powers from statute and their financial and accounting
framework is closely controlled by primary and secondary legislation. Itis a
fundamental principle of local authority accounting that, where specific legislative
requirements and accounting requirements conflict, legislative requirements shall apply.
However, the Code deals with such conflicts by showing the position required by the
Code’s accounting requirements in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement, and the effect of the legislative requirements in the Movement in Reserves
Statement.

Elements of financial statements

The elements directly related to the measurements of financial position in the Balance
Sheet are assets, liabilities and reserves. The elements directly related to the
measurement of the financial performance in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement are income and expenses. The presentation of these elements
is shown in section 3.4 of the Code. The Cash Flow Statement reflects elements in both
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the Balance Sheet.

In assessing whether an item meets the definition of an asset, liability or reserve,
attention needs to be given to its underlying substance and economic reality and not
merely its legal form.

An Aassets— is a resource controlled by the authority as a result of past events and
from which future economic benefits or service potential are expected to flow to the
authority.

A LiabHities-liability —areis —presenta present obligations of the authority arising from
past events, the settlement of which is expected to result in an outflow from the authority
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of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential.

RReserves —represent the residual interest in the assets of the authority after deducting
all its liabilities. The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the true economic cost of
providing the authority’s services. Some income and expenditure is required to be
recognised on a different basis or in a different accounting period (ie in accordance with
legislation) in the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account. These differences are
shown in the line ‘Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under
regulations’. The Movement in Reserves Statement shows Total Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure and the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
shows the breakdown between the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services and
Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.

Income_—is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the
reporting period when those inflows or enhancements of assets or decreases of liabilities
result in an increase in reserves. Income includes both revenue arising in the course of
ordinary activities and gains such as the revaluation of fixed assets.

Expenses —are decreases in economic benefits or service potential during the reporting
period in the form of outflows or consumption of assets or increases of liabilities that
result in decreases in reserves. Expenses include expenses that arise in the course of
the ordinary activities and losses such as revaluation of fixed assets.

Recognition of the elements of financial statements

Recognition is the process of incorporating in the Balance Sheet or Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement an item that meets the definition of an element and
satisfies the criteria for recognition. The relevant sections of the Code set out the
criteria for recognition of the elements of financial statements.

Measurement of the elements of financial statements

Measurement is the process of determining the monetary amounts at which the elements
of the financial statements are to be recognised and carried in the Balance Sheet and
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The relevant sections of the Code
set out the basis of measurement for the elements of financial statements.

Fair value

The concept of fair value is used throughout the Code. International Financial Reporting
Standards have a consistent definition of fair value introduced by IFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement. The measurement and disclosure requirements of the standard are
included in section 2.10.
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Current value measurement of property, plant and equipment

The Code has introduced the concept and definition of current value to the measurement
of property, plant and equipment. Current value measurements reflect the economic
environment prevailing for the service or function the asset is supporting at the reporting
date (see paragraph 4.1.2.4).

For 2016/1472017/18 the Highways Network Asset is measured at current value.
Infrastructure assets that are not part of the Highways Network Asset are carried at
depreciated historical cost.

Measurement at fair value or the different current value measurements of
property, plant and equipment

The following table demonstrates for accounts preparers when fair value or one of the
property, plant and equipment current value measurement bases’ apply to the main
income, expenditure, assets and liabilities classifications within local authority financial
statements.

Circumstance Fair Value or Current Value Measurement of Property, Plant and

Equipment

Revenue recognition; this Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or

is the general definition paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
that applies unless a more participants at the measurement date (see section 2.10).

specific definition applies

Property, plant and For non-specialised assets, current value should be interpreted as
equipment existing use value. Inthe RICS Valuation — Professional

Standards, this is market value based on the assumption that
property is sold as part of the continuing enterprise. This
requirement is met by providing an existing use valuation in
accordance with UKVS 1.3 of the RICS Valuation — Professional
Standards.

For specialised assets where no market exists, current value
should be interpreted as the present value of the assets’
remaining service potential, which can be assumed to be at least
equal to the cost of replacing that service potential. Under these
circumstances, property, plant and equipment is measured at
depreciated replacement cost.

The Surplus Assets class of Property, Plant and Equipment is measured at fair value as a
current value measurement base.



Circumstance

Fair Value or Current Value Measurement of Property, Plant and

Equipment

The current value of council dwellings shall be measured using
existing use value—social housing (EUV-SH).

The fair value of surplus assets is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date
(see section 2.10).

Leases

On initial recognition, fair value will be defined in accordance with
section 4.2 of the Code. Subsequent measurement, at current
value will follow the appropriate class of property, plant and
equipment. Intangible assets are measured at fair value where
relevant.

Service concession (PFI
and PPP) arrangements

On initial recognition, fair value is the estimated cost to purchase
the asset. Subsequently, the asset is measured at current value,
which will follow the appropriate class of property, plant and
equipment. Fair value measurement will apply, where relevant
for intangible assets acquired under service concession
arrangements.

Investment property

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date (see section 2.10). As a
non-financial asset an investment property shall be measured at
highest and best use. The fair value of investment property held
under a lease is the lease interest and see also sections 4.2 and
4.4,

Intangible assets

IAS 38 allows an intangible asset to be carried at a revalued
amount only where its fair value can be determined by reference
to an active market. Where there is no active market, assets are
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment loss. Where an intangible asset is
required under section 4.5 of the Code to be measured at fair
value, the definition in section 2.10 of the Code will apply.

Non-current assets held
for sale

Non-current assets held for sale shall be measured in accordance
with the measurement requirements of section 4.9 of the Code
and IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued




Circumstance

Fair Value or Current Value Measurement of Property, Plant and

Equipment

Operations, ie the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell.

Fair value in section 4.9 is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date (see
section 2.10). When applying the definition of fair value, as
non-financial assets, non-current assets held for sale shall be
measured at highest and best use. Fair value for social housing
being disposed of under Right to Buy (RTB) legislation is the
discounted RTB value.

Heritage assets

Heritage assets are carried at valuation rather than current or fair
value, reflecting the fact that sales and exchanges of heritage
assets are uncommon. Valuations may be made by any method
that is appropriate and relevant. There is no requirement for
valuations to be carried out or verified by external valuers, nor is
there any prescribed minimum period between valuations. In
some cases it may not be practicable to establish a valuation for a
heritage asset, in which case the asset is carried at historical cost
if this information is available. Authorities may elect to use this
basis for community assets.

’ Highways Network Asset

For 20162017/47-18 the Highways Network Asset is carried at
current value ie depreciated replacement cost in accordance with
the methodologies prescribed by the Code of Practice on

TFransport-infrastructure-Assetsthe Highways Network Asset:’

Inventories Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date (see section 2.10).

Debtors Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or

paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date (see section 2.10).




Circumstance Fair Value or Current Value Measurement of Property, Plant and

Equipment

Financial instruments Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date (see section 2.10).

Creditors Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date (see section 2.10).

Employee benefits Plan assets measured at fair value in accordance with sections
6.1 to 6.4 of the Code and IAS 19 Employee Benefits apply the
definition and measurement requirements of fair value in
accordance with chapter six of the Code and with the definition of
fair value included in section 2.10 of the Code.

Pension fund plan Retirement benefit plan investments measured at fair value in

investments accordance with section 6.5 (Accounting and Reporting by Pension
Funds) of the Code apply the definition, measurement and
disclosure requirements of fair value in accordance with chapter six
of the Code and with the definition of fair value included in section
2.10 of the Code.

2.1.3 Statutory Accounting Requirements
2131 There are no statutory accounting requirements regarding the concepts and principles.
2.1.4 Disclosure Requirements

2141 Authorities shall apply the objective, underlying assumption and qualitative
characteristics of useful financial information, in the selection and application of
accounting policies and estimation techniques (see section 3.3 of the Code).

2.1.5 Statutory Disclosure Requirements

2151 There are no statutory disclosure requirements in relation to the concepts and principles.

8 Issued by CIPFA in 2043-2016 and as may be updated from time to time.



2.1.6 Changes since the 20452016/46-17 Code
2161 The concepts section of the 2016/17Code-has-beenupdated-forthe-issue-of-the-

i i j 2017/18 Code has not been

changed since the 2016/17 Code.

PRINCIPLES OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE
RECOGNITION

2.2 BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT SCHEMES
(ENGLAND, WALES AND SCOTLAND); BUSINESS RATE
SUPPLEMENTS (ENGLAND); AND COMMUNITY
INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (ENGLAND AND WALES)

2.2.1 Introduction

Business Improvement District schemes

2211 Business Improvement District (BID) projects are projects for the benefit of a particular
area that are financed (in whole or in part) by a BID levy paid by the non-domestic
ratepayers, or a class of such ratepayers, in the BID area. There are two key
participants — the billing authority for the area and the BID body.

2212 There is no IFRS, IPSAS or UK GAAP covering BID schemes. The appropriate
accounting treatment for the billing authority is determined by whether it acts as principal
or agent, in accordance with section 2.6 of the Code. England and Wales have had a
BID scheme for some time; the Business Improvement Scheme for Scotland came into
force on 1 April 2007 under the Business Improvement Districts (Scotland) Regulations
2007.

Business Rate Supplements

2213 Business Rate Supplements (BRS) were introduced by the Business Rate Supplements
Act 2009 and related regulations and statutory guidance. The Act confers powers on
relevant local authorities ‘to impose a levy on non-domestic ratepayers to raise money
for expenditure on projects expected to promote economic development’. Levying
authorities are required to maintain a statutory ringfenced Business Rate Supplement
Revenue Account. Business Rate Supplements currently apply to England only;
although the Act extends to Wales, the Welsh Government has not enacted regulations
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to permit Business Rate Supplements to be levied.

A Business Rate Supplement is a non-exchange transaction, and as such is accounted
for under IPSAS 23 Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers).

Community Infrastructure Levy

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was introduced by the Planning Act 2008 and
the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (SI 2010/948) as amended, and is
a discretionary charge which relevant local authorities are empowered to charge on new
development in their area. CIL charges will be based on a formula which relates the
charge to the size of the development. The proceeds of the levy must be spent on
infrastructure to support the development of the area. CIL applies in England and
Wales only where the charging authority has implemented a CIL scheme.

CIL is a non-exchange transaction, and as such is accounted for under IPSAS 23
Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers) as adopted by this
Code.

2.2.2 Accounting Requirements

Business Improvement District schemes

If the billing authority acts as principal, the income received and expenditure incurred by
the billing authority is included in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services
under the appropriate service heads. If the billing authority acts as an agent, only the
following amounts are recognised in the billing authority’s Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement:

= A contribution made by the billing authority to the BID project (ie grant-in-aid), which
would be shown as service expenditure under the relevant service in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

= BID levy collection costs and associated (reimbursement) income, which would be
shown in Net Cost of Services under the relevant service in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement.

= Income from services supplied by the billing authority to the BID project on a paid
basis, which would usually be accounted for as a trading activity as part of Net
Operating Costs in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
However, where the service supplied for charge is a function of the authority, eg a
planning application, it is accounted for in the same way as other income of that
function.
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Business Rate Supplements

The collection of a Business Rate Supplement by a billing authority that is not a levying
authority is in substance an agency arrangement, and shall be accounted for in
accordance with section 2.6 of the Code.

BRS income is not the income of a billing authority that is not a levying authority and
shall not be included in its Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
Amounts deducted from BRS income to meet administrative expenses are a billing
authority’s income and shall be included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement on an accruals basis.

Levying authorities shall account for BRS income in the Taxation and Non-specific Grant
Income and Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

A levying authority may only use BRS income to finance a project to which the Business
Rate Supplement relates. A levying authority is also required to refund BRS levies that
have not been used to finance a project where the imposition of the Business Rate
Supplement has come to an end (see also paragraph 2.2.2.7). BRS income is therefore
subject to a condition, and authorities shall initially recognise receipts of BRS levies as a
creditor. A levying authority shall recognise BRS levies as income in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement at the point the condition is satisfied
(ie at the point the related expenditure, whether revenue or capital, is incurred).

Revenue expenditure relating to a BRS project shall be recognised as expenditure in the
relevant service revenue account(s) as it is incurred. Capital expenditure relating to a
BRS project shall be recognised as an asset. Any BRS expenditure meeting the
definition of Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute shall be accounted
for in accordance with the requirements of section 4.6 of the Code.

Where, at the end of an imposition of a BRS, a levying authority is required to refund
business ratepayers for unused levies, refunds shall be charged to the creditor as this
represents unapplied BRS levies. Where the authority is not required to refund
business ratepayers the creditor shall be transferred to the Taxation and Non-specific
Grant Income and Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement. These transactions must be carried out in accordance with the requirements
of BRS legislation.

Community Infrastructure Levy

Where an authority is a charging authority, CIL charges (including amounts applied to
meet the administrative expenses of the charging authority in accordance with the CIL
regulations) shall be accounted for on an accruals basis, and recognised immediately in
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as income. The recognition
criteria for CIL charges will be met at the commencement date of the chargeable
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development.

Surcharges and interest received by a charging authority in accordance with the CIL
regulations shall be accounted for as if they were receipts of CIL charges.

CIL charges received by a collecting authority that is not a charging authority are not the
income of the collecting authority. The collecting authority is acting as an agent and
shall account for the amounts received on that basis (see section 2.6 of the Code).

CIL charges applied to meet the administrative expenses of a collecting authority that is
not a charging authority in accordance with the CIL regulations are the income of the
collecting authority. Such amounts shall be accounted for on an accruals basis, and
recognised immediately in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as
income. Administrative or, where relevant, other revenue expenses of a collecting or a
charging authority shall be charged to the appropriate service revenue accounts-as-
refevant.

2.2.3 Statutory Accounting Requirements

Business Improvement District schemes

The billing authority for the area of a proposed BID is required to oversee the balloting
arrangements and will incur the costs of this whether a BID is eventually established or
not. These costs would be shown in the net expenditure of continuing operations under
the relevant service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Business Rate Supplements

A levying authority shall transfer an amount equal to the BRS income recognised in the
financial year (net of administrative expenses) from its General Fund to its Business Rate
Supplement Revenue Account; this transfer shall be reported in the Movement in
Reserves Statement. Any difference between the cumulative income transferred to the
Business Rate Supplement Revenue Account and the amount required by regulation to
be transferred to that account shall be credited or debited to that account, with the
corresponding debit or credit being made to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account.

Where revenue expenditure is incurred in respect of a BRS project, a levying authority
shall transfer an amount equal to that expenditure from the Business Rate Supplement
Revenue Account to the General Fund as the expenditure is incurred. Where capital
expenditure in respect of a BRS project is funded directly from BRS levies, a levying
authority shall transfer an amount equal to the capital expenditure from the Business
Rate Supplement Revenue Account to the Capital Adjustment Account as the capital
expenditure is incurred. Where capital expenditure in respect of a BRS project has
been funded from borrowing, a levying authority shall transfer from its Business Rate
Supplement Revenue Account to its General Fund an amount equal to the sum of the
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Minimum Revenue Provision and interest charged to the General Fund in the year in
respect of the BRS project. These transfers shall be reported in the Movement in
Reserves Statement. Depreciation and impairment of assets financed from BRS levies
are not BRS expenditure.

Where the Business Rate Supplement Revenue Account is in deficit, a levying authority
shall transfer an amount equivalent to the deficit from its General Fund to the Business
Rate Supplement Revenue Account; this transfer shall be reported in the Movement in
Reserves Statement.

Where the Business Rate Supplement Revenue Account is in surplus, a levying authority
shall transfer the surplus to its General Fund to the extent that this reverses any amounts
charged to that fund in the ten years immediately preceding the financial year; this
transfer shall be reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Where, at the end of the imposition of a BRS, the Business Rate Supplement Revenue
Account is in surplus, this amount shall be transferred to the Collection Fund Adjustment
Account.

Community Infrastructure Levy

Income from CIL charges, with the exception of amounts applied in accordance with the
CIL regulations to meet administrative expenses, must be applied to fund infrastructure
to support the development of the area_in accordance with the Community Infrastructure
Levy Requlations 2010, as amended.

Where CIL charges to be applied to fund capital expenditure have been received prior to
the commencement date for the chargeable development, the CIL charges shall be
transferred-recognised initially from-the-General-Fund-te-in the Grants Receipts in
Advance Account Gapital-Grants Unapphed-Aeceunt-until such a time that_the
chargeable development commences and then the charges are recognised as income in
accordance with paragraph 2.2.3.7. When the CIL charges are applied to capital
expenditure —When-Cl-¢ha : oo eonpol e e the CIL
charges shall be transferred from the General Fund (or the Capital Grants Unapplied
Account) to the Capital Adjustment Account.

Where CIL charges are to be applied to fund revenue expenditure (such as but not
limited to administration expenses), the CIL charges shall not be transferred out of the
General Fund.

2.2.4 Disclosure Requirements

There are no specific disclosure requirements for BID schemes. Authorities shall
consider separate disclosure of the transactions within a BID scheme if these amounts
are material.
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Transfers to or from the Business Rate Supplement Revenue Account shall be reported
in the Movement in Reserves Statement. An authority shall consider whether material
BRS income and BRS projects require separate disclosure to assist users to understand
the financial statements.

There are no specific disclosure requirements in relation to CIL. Transfers to the Capital
Grants Unapplied Account will be reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement and
associated notes. In addition, an authority shall consider whether material CIL income
and expenditure, and material balances on the Capital Grants Unapplied Account,
require separate disclosure to assist users to understand the financial statements.

2.2.5 Statutory Disclosure Requirements

Business Improvement District schemes

There are no statutory disclosure requirements in relation to BID schemes.

Business Rate Supplements
BRS transactions shall be included in billing authorities’ Collection Fund Statements.

A levying authority shall include in the notes to the accounts a Business Rate
Supplement Statement, comprising the following items, calculated in accordance with the
Business Rate Supplements (Accounting) (England) Regulations 2010:

a) Balance at the start of the relevant year

b) BRS revenues

c) Administrative expenses of BRS

d) BRS expenditure

e) Payments to functional bodies

f)  Refunds

g) Transfers to or from the General Fund, and

h) Balance at the end of the year.

Community Infrastructure Levy

There are no statutory disclosure requirements in relation to CIL.

2.2.6 Changes since the 20152016/16-17 Code
There have-been-no-changesinthe-Business Improvement District schemes (England,

Wales and Scotland), Business Rate Supplements (England), and Community
Infrastructure Levy (England and Wales) section of the 2017/18 —Code has been
updated to include clarification of the treatment of revenue costs under CIL schemes and




clarification where CIL charges to be applied to fund capital expenditure have been
received prior to the commencement date.since-the 2015/16 Code.

2.3 GOVERNMENT AND NON-GOVERNMENT GRANTS
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2.3.1 Introduction

Authorities shall account for and provide disclosures in relation to grants and
contributions in accordance with IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and
Disclosure of Government Assistance, except where adaptations to fit the public sector
are detailed in the Code. IPSAS 23 Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions (Taxes
and Transfers) provides additional guidance on the adaptations of IAS 20 adopted by the
Code.

Adaptation for the public sector context
The following adaptations of IAS 20 and IPSAS 23 for the public sector context apply.
Scope

= The scope of IAS 20 is extended to include grants and contributions from
non-government organisations.

Recognition and presentation

= Grants and contributions shall be recognised immediately as income, unless any
conditions have not been met; an authority shall not include grants and contributions
deferred in the Balance Sheet.

= The transfer of assets for nil consideration or less than fair value (ie donated assets)
shall be credited to a Donated Assets Account where any conditions of the transfer
have not been met.

The following adaptation of IAS 20 and IPSAS 23 for the public sector context applies:

Recognition and presentation

= The option of deducting the grant from the carrying amount of the asset(s) is not
permitted.

2.3.2 Accounting Requirements

Definitions

Conditions on transferred assets are stipulations that specify that the future economic
benefits or service potential embodied in the asset are required to be consumed by the
recipient as specified or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to
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the transferor.

Donated assets are assets (including heritage assets) transferred at nil value or
acquired at less than fair value.

Grants and contributions are assistance in the form of transfers of resources to an
authority in return for past or future compliance with certain conditions relating to the
operation of activities. They exclude those forms of assistance which cannot reasonably
have a value placed upon them and transactions with organisations which cannot be
distinguished from the normal service transactions of the authority.

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not exchange transactions. In a
non-exchange transaction, an authority either receives value from another entity without
directly giving approximately equal value in exchange, or gives value to another entity
without directly receiving approximately equal value in exchange.

Restrictions on transferred assets are stipulations that limit or direct the purposes for
which a transferred asset may be used, but do not specify that future economic benefits
or service potential are required to be returned to the transferor if not deployed as
specified.

Stipulations on transferred assets are terms in laws or regulation, or a binding
arrangement, imposed upon the use of a transferred asset by entities external to the
reporting authority.

Further definitions are contained in IAS 20 and IPSAS 23.

Recognition and presentation — grants and contributions

Grants and contributions, including donated assets, shall not be recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that:

= the authority will comply with the conditions attached to them, and

= the grants or contributions will be received.

Grants and contributions relating to capital and revenue expenditure shall be accounted
for on an accruals basis, and recognised immediately (when the two criteria in paragraph
2.3.2.8 are met) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as income,
except to the extent that the grant or contribution has a condition(s) (as opposed to
restrictions) relating to initial recognition that the authority has not satisfied. Grants and
contributions that satisfy the recognition criteria in paragraph 2.3.2.8 but which have a
condition attached that remains to be satisfied are recognised initially in the relevant
Grants Receipts in Advance Account.

General grants and contributions (comprising Revenue Support Grant, NDR
redistribution and unringfenced government grants) are required to be disclosed as one
or more items on the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
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Revenue grants and contributions that are not general grants described above shall be
credited to service revenue accounts, support services, trading accounts and the
Housing Revenue Account.

Donated assets transferred to an authority for nil consideration shall be recognised
immediately at fair value as an asset on the Balance Sheet. The asset shall be
recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as income, except
to the extent that the transfer has a condition(s) (as opposed to restrictions) that the
authority has not satisfied. In this case the asset is credited to the Donated Assets
Account and recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement once
the condition(s) has been satisfied.

Where donated assets have been acquired for less than fair value (ie a non-exchange
transaction), the difference between the fair value of the asset and the consideration paid
shall be recognised immediately in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement as income, or in the event that the transfer has a condition(s), recognised in
the Donated Assets Account until such time as the condition(s) have been met. The
measurement at fair value of an asset, acquired for no consideration or for less than fair
value, does not constitute a revaluation.

A grant, contribution or donated asset may be received subject to a condition that it be
returned to the transferor (subsequent to initial recognition) if a specified future event
does or does not occur (for example, a grant may need to be returned if the authority
ceases to use the asset purchased with that grant for a purpose specified by the
transferor). In these cases, a return obligation does not arise until such time as it is
expected that the condition will be breached and a liability is not recognised until that
time. Such conditions do not prevent the grant, contribution or donated asset being
recognised as income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

After initial recognition, donated assets shall be revalued and depreciated in line with
section 4.1 of the Code (also see IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment) or section 4.10
of the Code and impaired in line with section 4.7 of the Code (also see IAS 36
Impairment of Assets).

The benefit of a loan at a below market rate® of interest is treated as a grant or
contribution. The loan shall be recognised and measured in accordance with chapter
seven of the Code (also see IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement). The benefit of the below market rate of interest shall be measured as
the difference between the initial carrying value of the loan determined in accordance
with chapter seven of the Code and the proceeds received. It is expected that in the
majority of circumstances the loan will be for the acquisition or enhancement of an asset

PWLB loans are not loans at below market value for this purpose.
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and as such the benefit is accounted for in accordance with paragraph 2.3.2.9. An
authority shall consider the conditions and obligations that have been, or must be, met
when identifying the costs for which the benefit of the loan is intended to compensate.

Repayment of grants and contributions

A grant or contribution that becomes repayable shall be accounted for as a revision to an
accounting estimate in line with paragraphs 3.3.2.14 to 3.3.2.17 of the Code (also see
IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors). Repayment
shall first be applied to any receipt in advance set up in respect of the grant or
contribution (ie the balance on the Capital Grants Receipts in Advance). To the extent
that the repayment exceeds any such receipt in advance, or where no receipt in advance
exists, the repayment shall be recognised within the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement as an expense.

Circumstances giving rise to repayment of a grant relating to an asset may require
consideration to be given to the possible impairment of the asset (see section 4.7 of the
Code).

Transfers

IPSAS 23 includes the recognition and accounting treatment of debt forgiveness and
assumption of liabilities; fines; bequests; gifts and donations, including goods in kind and
services in kind. In the event that these areas are relevant, authorities should refer to
IPSAS 23.

2.3.3 Statutory Accounting Requirements

Grants, contributions and donated assets

Grants and contributions funding capital expenditure and donated assets that have been
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement are not proper
income charges to the General Fund or the Housing Revenue Account. Thisis as a
consequence of the capital control regime* requiring capital expenditure to be financed
as part of the Capital Financing Requirement (as defined in CIPFA’s Prudential Code for
Capital Finance in Local Authorities) unless other resources are set aside to finance the
expenditure. Authorities shall account for these amounts in accordance with the
following paragraphs.

10

See part 2 of Appendix B.
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Capital grants and contributions where conditions initially remain outstanding

Where a capital grant or contribution has been received, and conditions remain
outstanding at the Balance Sheet date, no statutory accounting requirements apply; the
grant or contribution will be recognised as part of Capital Grants Receipts in Advance in
accordance with paragraph 2.3.2.9 of the Code.

Once the condition has been met, the grant or contribution will be transferred from
Capital Grants Receipts in Advance and recognised as income in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement. At that point, an authority shall apply the
appropriate statutory accounting requirements for grants and contributions with no
conditions.

Capital grants and contributions where no conditions remain outstanding —
expenditure has been incurred

Where a capital grant or contribution (or part thereof) has been recognised as income in
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, and the expenditure to be
financed from that grant or contribution has been incurred at the Balance Sheet date, the
grant or contribution shall be transferred from the General Fund (or the Housing
Revenue Account) to the Capital Adjustment Account, reflecting the application of capital
resources to finance expenditure. This transfer shall be reported in the Movement in
Reserves Statement.

Capital grants and contributions where no conditions remain outstanding —
expenditure has not been incurred

Where a capital grant or contribution (or part thereof) has been recognised as income in
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, but the expenditure to be
financed from that grant or contribution has not been incurred at the Balance Sheet date,
the grant or contribution shall be transferred to the Capital Grants Unapplied Account
(within the usable reserves section of the Balance Sheet), reflecting its status as a capital
resource available to finance expenditure. This transfer shall be reported in the
Movement in Reserves Statement.

When, at a future date, the expenditure to be financed from the grant or contribution is
incurred, the grant or contribution (or part thereof) shall be transferred from the Capital
Grants Unapplied Account to the Capital Adjustment Account, reflecting the application
of capital resources to finance expenditure. This transfer shall be reported in the
Movement in Reserves Statement or in the notes to the accounts.

Donated assets where conditions initially remain outstanding

Where a donated asset has been received, and conditions remain outstanding at the
Balance Sheet date, no statutory accounting requirements apply; the donated asset will
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be recognised in the Donated Assets Account in accordance with paragraph 2.3.2.12 of
the Code.

Once the condition has been met, and the donated asset has been transferred from the
Donated Assets Account and recognised as income in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement, an authority shall transfer the income from the General Fund (or
the Housing Revenue Account) to the Capital Adjustment Account. This transfer shall
be reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Donated assets where no conditions remain outstanding

Where a donated asset has been recognised as income in the Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure Statement, the income shall be transferred from the General Fund (or
the Housing Revenue Account) to the Capital Adjustment Account. This transfer shall
be reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Repayments of capital grants or contributions

A capital grant or contribution may become repayable in accordance with paragraph
2.3.2.17 of the Code. Where conditions in respect of the grant or contribution have not
been met, the grant or contribution will have been recognised as part of Capital Grants
Receipts in Advance rather than as income in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement. The repayment shall be applied against Capital Grants
Receipts in Advance in accordance with paragraph 2.3.2.17 of the Code, and no
statutory accounting requirements will apply.

Where the grant or contribution has previously been recognised as income in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (or to the extent that the repayment
exceeds the balance in respect of the specific grant or contribution in Capital Grants
Receipts in Advance), the repayment is recognised as an expense in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement.

In England and Wales, regulations specify that the repayment of grants and financial
assistance given to an authority for capital purposes is to be capital expenditure. The
repayment shall therefore be transferred from the General Fund (or Housing Revenue
Account) to the Capital Adjustment Account. This transfer shall be reported in the
Movement in Reserves Statement.

2.3.4 Disclosure Requirements

Having regard to paragraph 3.4.2.27 of the Presentation of Financial Statements section
of the Code, which permits authorities not to provide a specific disclosure if information is
not material, authorities shall disclose the following notes in relation to grants and
contributions, and donated assets:



2351

2361

1) The financial statements shall disclose:

a)
b)

c)

2.3.5

There are no statutory disclosures required in relation to grants and contributions.

the accounting policy adopted for grants and contributions, and donated assets

the nature and extent of grants and contributions, and donated assets
recognised in the financial statements

where the condition(s) of the grant and contributions, and donated assets have
not been met, the breakdown of any balance of the liability (ie the Capital
Grants Receipts in Advance and the Donated Asset Account).

Statutory Disclosure Requirements

2.3.6 Changes since the 20152016/16-17 Code

There have been no changes to the government and non-government grants section of
the Code since the 20452016/4617 Code.

2.4 LANDFILL ALLOWANCE AND OTHER TRADING
SCHEMES

2411

2412

24.1

The Waste and Emissions Trading Act 2003 placed a duty on waste disposal authorities
(WDASs) in England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland to reduce the amount of
biodegradable municipal waste (BMW) disposed teof to landfill. It also provides the
legal framework for the:

Introduction

Landfill Allowance Trading Scheme, which commenced operation on 1 April 2005
in England

Landfill Allowances Scheme (Wales) Regulations, which commenced operation
on 1 October 2004
Loeiebor o004

Landfill Allowances Scheme (Scotland) Regulations, which came into force on 1
April 2005 and became a ‘cap and trade’ scheme from 1 April 2008

Landfill Allowances Scheme (Northern Ireland) Regulations, which came into
force on 1 April 2005.

The CIPFA/LASAAC Code Board has removed the provisions for the scheme as it has
ended in England and has taken the view that as the scheme is currently suspended in
Scotland, the Code shall not contain provisions for the scheme in Scotland.

The Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC) Energy Efficiency Scheme commenced in
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April 2010. The first reporting year under the scheme was 2011/12. The CRC scheme
will not apply to every local authority; only those authorities covered by the CRC scheme
will need to implement these requirements. Where authorities covered by the scheme
produce actual carbon emissions, this will give rise to a liability. From the 2011/12
financial and reporting year participating local authorities are required to surrender
purchased allowances in accordance with their liabilities in relation to carbon dioxide
(CO2) emissions under the scheme.

For the CRC scheme the Code treatment is based on decisions made by IFRIC 3
Emissions Rights, although the IFRIC was withdrawn.

The CRC scheme is in its second phase, which commenced on 1 April 2014. Where
any allowances are purchased prospectively, or at any other point authorities consider
that the allowances meet the definition of an asset, authorities will need to account for
the allowances as assets in accordance with paragraphs 2.4.2.3 to 2.4.2.6.

2.4.2 Accounting Requirements

Landfill Allowance Schemes — Wales and Northern Ireland

The Landfill Allowances Schemes that operate in Wales and Northern Ireland are not
‘cap and trade’ schemes and therefore authorities shall not recognise an asset for landfill
allowances, grant income in respect of the allowances or liabilities for actual BMW landfill
usage.

WDAs in Wales and district councils in Northern Ireland are required to meet annual
target figures for the maximum amount of BMW that can be sent to landfill. For each
tonne of BMW sent to landfill in excess of the target, an authority may be liable to a
penalty of £200 (Wales) or £150 (Northern Ireland). However, current guidance
indicates the penalty will be exercised with discretion rather than as an automatic
consequence of exceeding the target. An authority shall recognise a provision for
penalties payable to the Welsh Government or the Department of the Environment in
Northern Ireland. Where a possible landfill allowance liability exists but the authority has
concluded that it does not need to make a provision, the authority shall disclose a
separate class of contingent liability in relation to the possible penalty.

Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC) Energy Efficiency Scheme — participating
authorities

The CRC scheme is accounted for based on decisions made by IFRIC 3 Emissions
Rights, although the IFRIC was withdrawn.

The CRC scheme gives rise to:

a) an asset for allowances held
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b) a liability which is recognised (as emissions are generated) for the surrender of the
allowances to the CRC Registry (this liability shall be accounted for in accordance
with chapter eight of the Code).

CRC scheme assets are classified as either current intangible assets in accordance with
the requirements of paragraph 3.4.2.62 and section 4.5 of the Code, or, if held for the
purpose of trading, as current assets. The asset, whether classified as a current asset
or as a current intangible asset, shall be measured initially at cost. Allowances that are
issued for less than their fair value shall be measured initially at their fair value, with the
difference between fair value and the purchase price recognised as income.

Scheme assets in respect of allowances shall be revalued in accordance with section 4.5
of the Code. Revaluation gains and losses will, in most cases, be posted to the
Revaluation Reserve. Where there is no evidence of an active market, allowances shall
be measured at cost in accordance with section 4.5 of the Code for intangible assets and
section 5.1 for current assets.

2.4.3 Statutory Accounting Requirements

There are no statutory accounting requirements in respect of landfill or CRC scheme
allowances.

2.4.4 Disclosure Requirements

Assets, liabilities and government grant income in relation to CRC scheme allowances
shall be disclosed in accordance with the relevant sections of the Code.

2.4.5 Statutory Disclosure Requirements

There are no statutory disclosure requirements in relation to landfill allowances or CRC
scheme allowances.

2.4.6 Changes since the 20152016/16-17 Code

There have been no changes to the landfill allowances and other trading schemes
section of the Code since the 20452016/46-17 Code.

2.5 LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANISATION AND OTHER
COMBINATIONS

2511

2.5.1 Introduction

Chapter nine of the Code (Group Accounts) includes an adaptation of IFRS 3 Business
Combinations that combinations of public sector bodies (eg local government
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reorganisation and other transfers of function from one public sector body to another) are
deemed to be a combination of businesses under common control and as such excluded
from the scope of IFRS 3. This section of the Code sets out the accounting
requirements for such combinations.

2.5.2 Accounting Requirements

Definitions

A transfer of a function to or from alocal authority — a transfer of a function in this
section of the Code is defined as a transfer of an identifiable service or business
operation with an integrated set of activities, staff and recognised assets and/or liabilities
that are capable of being conducted and managed to achieve the objectives of that
service or business operation.

Recognition and measurement

Public sector bodies such as local authorities are deemed to be under common control.
The combination of two or more local authorities (or other public sector bodies) into one
new authority, or the transfer of functions (in full or in relation to a geographic area) from
the responsibility of one authority (or other public sector body) to another, shall be
accounted for using the principles that apply to group reconstructions and shall be
accounted for as either a transfer by absorption or a transfer by merger.

Transfers from one local authority to another or from one authority to another part of the
public sector are normally (and have historically been) accounted for as a transfer by
absorption, ie as specified in paragraph 2.5.2.6 below, taking the date of the transfer of a
function or a public sector combination as the starting point of the newly combined
authority or function.

Transfers by merger are rare transactions in local government but may occur when legal
transfers take place and management of the local government entity consider that in
substance for a true and fair presentation the financial statements would be best
presented as if the entity had always existed in its newly combined form. The results
and cash flows of all of the combining bodies (or functions) should be brought into the
financial statements of the combined body from the beginning of the financial year in
which the combination occurred. To ensure symmetrical accounting treatment te-with_
the etherrest of the public sector entity-transfers by merger shal-ret-eceurare not
permitted when a local government body is transferring to another part of the public
sector, ie outside of local government, and-vice-versaor when a function from another
part of the public sector is transferring to the local government sector.

For both types of transaction the accounting treatment for transfers of function under
common control should be determined by aligning the reporting with the accountability
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for financial performance. The underlying objective is to ensure the financial reporting
supports the accountability for the transferring function, and to do so in a symmetrical
way with the other public sector body to ensure there is no transparency gap.

For both forms of transfer, assets and liabilities shall normally be transferred at their
carrying amount as at the transfer date, except where:

a) the authorities (or other public sector bodies) have agreed revised amounts (in
accordance with their statutory duties), and

b) such amounts were agreed after authorities (or other public sector bodies)
transferring the services had issued their accounts for the year immediately prior to
the transfer date

in which case, assets and liabilities shall be transferred at their agreed amounts, and the
difference between these agreed amounts and their previous carrying amounts shall be
disclosed in a note to the financial statements.

Local government reorganisations normally take place at the start of a financial year.
The reorganisation shall be achieved in the aeeeunts-financial statements by adjusting
the opening Balance Sheet for the current year; transfers shall not be reflected in the
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but shall be separately disclosed in the
Movement in Reserves Statement and Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.
The notes to the accounts shall separately identify transfers of assets and liabilities (and
any consequential changes to reserves).

Local government transfers of functions that take place during the financial year are also
relatively rare occurrences. Where they do take place they will need to be reported in
accordance with the principles of transfers by absorption, ie from the date that the
transfer took place, or, in rare cases where management consider that a true and fair
presentation requires this to be presented as a transfer by merger, the resultant transfer
would be reported as if the newly combined body or functions has always existed.

Functions may be transferred from an authority to another body outside the public sector
(eg a social enterprise). Such transfers shall be accounted for by derecognising any
assets and liabilities transferred to the non-public-sector body. Any income received
shall be accounted for as proceeds of sale of the asset(s).

2.5.3 Statutory Accounting Requirements

There are no statutory accounting requirements in respect of combinations of public
sector bodies unless specific requirements are included in the legislation or other legal
documents issued by ministers giving rise to the transfer.

2.5.4 Disclosure Requirements

A local authority that receives a transfer of functions should disclose in its financial
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statements that the transfer has taken place (including a brief description of the
transferred function) giving the date of the transfer, the name of the transferring body and
the effect on the financial statements. An authority that transfers functions to another
authority or public sector entity shall also provide the same information in its financial
statements. Where accounted for as a transfer by absorption, the authority should apply
judgment as to whether the additional disclosure of historical financial performance of the
function should be provided, to enable users to understand the operational performance.

For new authorities, where transfers take place at the beginning of the financial year,
under transfer by absorption no corresponding amounts for the previous year will be
required in the financial statements. The notes to the accounts of the new authority
shall include an opening Balance Sheet (ie transferred assets and liabilities and opening
reserve balances). This shall be clearly identified as the opening balance on the
creation of the new authority, not the previous year’s Balance Sheet.

For authorities created under transfers by merger, restatement of comparatives,
including that of the results for all the combining bodies for the previous period, shall be
provided in accordance with IAS 1 as adopted by this Code. Comparatives shall be
adjusted as necessary to achieve uniformity of accounting policies and consistency of
presentation. In addition, the authority shall disclose:

a) an explanation that the transfer has been accounted for under the merger
accounting provisions of the Code

b) an analysis of the principal components of the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of
Services and of Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure pre- and
post-merger

c) the carrying amount of the net assets at the merger date

d) a statement of any adjustment to reserves resulting from the merger.

Where transfers by absorption have taken place during the financial year no comparative
information will be required for the previous year and the information reported in the
complete set of financial statements will be reported from the date the transfer took place
(see also paragraphs 2.5.4.1 and 2.5.4.2 where these paragraphs apply to transfer by
absorption).

Where transfers by merger have taken place during the financial year comparative
information is required in accordance with IAS 1 as adopted by this Code. The
disclosures required by paragraph 2.5.4.1 and 2.5.4.3, where they apply to transfers by
merger, will also be required.

For continuing authorities, newly acquired functions (or functions in relation to a
geographic area) shall be disclosed separately in the current year. Functions (or
functions in relation to a geographic area) transferred to another authority or other public
sector body shall be disclosed separately in the comparative year. Where the transfer
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requires reporting in the notes to the accounts, a separate line disclosing the transfer
shall be included after the balance brought forward from the previous year. A new
sub-total shall be inserted to disclose the restated opening Balance Sheet figures.
These lines will be required in the notes showing the movements in assets, liabilities and
reserves, including the Movement in Reserves Statement and the Movement on the
Housing Revenue Account Statement.

An authority shall disclose the circumstances of any transfer of assets and liabilities to a
non-public-sector body arising from the transfer of one or more functions to that body.
The disclosure shall include details of the assets and liabilities transferred, and their
carrying amounts.

2.5.5 Statutory Disclosure Requirements

There are no statutory disclosures in respect of combinations of public sector bodies.

2.5.6 Changes since the 20152016/16-17 Code

There have been no changes to the accounting for local government reorganisation and
other combinations section of the Code since the 20152016/4617 Code.

2.6 PRINCIPAL AND AGENT TRANSACTIONS
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2.6.1 Introduction

The accounting treatment of transactions within an authority’s financial statements shall
have regard to the general principle of whether the authority is acting as the principal or
agent, in line with IAS 18 Revenue, IPSAS 9 Revenue from Exchange Transactions and
IPSAS 23 Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers).

2.6.2 Accounting Requirements

Definitions
Agent is where the authority is acting as an intermediary.

Principal is where the authority is acting on its own behalf.

Recognition and measurement

Where an authority is acting as a principal as opposed to acting as an agent,
transactions shall be included in an authority’s financial statements, following the
relevant section of the Code.

Where an authority is acting as an agent, transactions shall not be reflected in an
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authority’s financial statements, with the exception in respect of cash collected or
expenditure incurred by the agent on behalf of the principal, in which case there is a
debtor or creditor position and the net cash position being included in financing activities
in the Cash Flow Statement. Another exception is where the authority receives payment
for acting as an agent, in which case any amount of commission received or receivable
shall be recognised as revenue in the authority’s financial statements.

Examples of where an authority is acting as an agent include billing authorities for the
collection of NDR and council tax in England (see section 2.8 of the Code).

2.6.3 Statutory Accounting Requirements

There are no statutory accounting requirements in relation to principal and agency
transactions.

2.6.4 Disclosure Requirements

There are no specific disclosure requirements for principal and agent transactions. The
transactions will be included in the disclosure requirements of other sections of the Code.
2.6.5 Statutory Disclosure Requirements

There are no statutory disclosures required in relation to principal and agent
transactions.

2.6.6 Changes since the 20152016/16-17 Code

There have been no changes in the principal and agent transactions section of the Code
since the 20152016/4617 Code.

2.7 REVENUE RECOGNITION

2711
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2.7.1 Introduction

Authorities shall account for revenue recognition in accordance with IAS 18 Revenue,
IPSAS 23 Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers) and SIC 31
Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.

IPSAS 9 Revenue from Exchange Transactions is based on IAS 18, and provides
additional guidance for public sector bodies.

This section of the Code does not cover revenue arising from construction contracts (see
section 5.2), lease agreements (see section 4.2), dividends arising from investments in
associates (see chapter nine), insurance contracts (see Appendix A, paragraph A.1.7),
changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities or their disposal (see chapter
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seven, and sections 4.2, 4.3 and 4.4), changes in the fair value of other assets and
changes in fair value of investment property (see section 4.4), and revenue from
agricultural produce (see Appendix A, paragraph A.1.5) and extraction of minerals (this is
unlikely to apply to authorities — see |IFRS 6).

e
This section of the Code shall be applied to the accounting for revenue arising from:

» the sale of goods (produced by an authority for the purpose of sale or purchased for
resale)

» the rendering of services (excluding services directly related to construction
contracts, ie project managers and architects, which are covered in section 5.2 of the
Code)

* interest, royalties and dividends
= non-exchange transactions (ie council tax)

= where previously a liability had been recognised (ie creditor) on satisfying the
revenue recognition criteria.

Adaptation for the public sector context

No adaptations of IAS 18 and IPSAS 23 are required for the public sector context; these
standards are applied in full in relation to the recognition and measurement of revenue.

IPSAS 9 includes a public sector adaptation which the Code has adopted. The
adaptation is as follows:

Definitions

» The definition of revenue excludes the reference to ‘ordinary activities’.

The Code includes an adaptation of IAS 39 which has a direct impact on the
measurement of revenue, as follows:

Recognition and measurement

. Revenue relating to such things as council tax, general rates, etc shall be
measured at the full amount receivable (net of any impairment losses) as they are
non-contractual, non-exchange transactions and there can be no difference
between the delivery and payment dates.

The consensus in SIC 31 is that revenue from an exchange involving advertising
services cannot be reliably measured by reference to the fair value of the services
received. This is because reliable information is not available to the seller to support
such measurement. However, a seller can reliably measure revenue at fair value of the
advertising service it provides in a barter transaction by reference to its non-barter
transactions that meet certain criteria specified in SIC 31. Itis not expected that these
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transactions will be common for authorities. Where an authority considers it has
relevant transactions, it shall refer to SIC 31.

2.7.2 Accounting Requirements

Definitions

Exchange transactions are transactions in which one entity receives assets or services,
or has liabilities extinguished, and directly gives approximately equal value (primarily in
the form of cash, goods, services, or use of assets) to another entity in exchange.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (see
section 2.10).

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not exchange transactions. In a
non-exchange transaction, an authority either receives value from another entity without
directly giving approximately equal value in exchange, or gives value to another entity
without directly receiving approximately equal value in exchange.

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the
reporting period when those inflows result in an increase in net worth.

Recognition and measurement

Revenue shall be measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable
except for a financial asset that is measured under chapter seven of the Code.

In most cases, the consideration receivable is in the form of cash and cash equivalents
and the amount of revenue is the amount of cash and cash equivalents receivable.
However, if payment is on deferred terms (ie beyond normal credit terms), the
consideration receivable is recognised initially at the cash price equivalent (that is, the
discounted amount). The difference between this amount and the total payments
received is recognised as interest revenue in Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of
Services (see chapter seven of the Code).

There is no difference between the delivery and payment dates for non-contractual,
non-exchange transactions, ie revenue relating to council tax and general rates, and
therefore these transactions shall be measured at their full amount receivable.

When goods or services are exchanged or swapped for goods or services which are of a
similar nature and value, the exchange is not regarded as a transaction which generates
revenue. This type of transaction is not expected to be common in authorities.

When goods are sold or services are rendered in exchange for dissimilar goods or
services, the exchange is regarded as a transaction which generates revenue. The
revenue is measured at the fair value of the goods or services received, adjusted by the
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amount of any cash or cash equivalents transferred. When the fair value of the goods
or services received cannot be measured reliably, the revenue is measured at the fair
value of the goods or services given up, adjusted by the amount of any cash or cash
equivalents transferred. This type of transaction is not expected to be common in
authorities.

The following cover the revenue recognition of the transactions and events referred to in
paragraph 2.7.1.4:

The sale of goods: revenue shall be recognised when all of the following conditions
have been satisfied:

a) the authority has transferred to the purchaser the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the goods

b) the authority retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold

c) the amount of revenue can be measured reliably

d) itis probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the
transaction will flow to the authority, and

e) the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be
measured reliably.

The rendering of services: when the outcome of a transaction involving the
rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with the
transaction shall be recognised by reference to the percentage of completion method
at the reporting date. The outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably when
all the following conditions are satisfied:

a) the amount of revenue can be measured reliably

b) itis probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the
transaction will flow to the authority

c) the stage of completion of the transaction (using the percentage of completion
method) at the reporting date can be measured reliably, and

d) the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction
can be measured reliably.

The requirements in section 5.2 of the Code (Construction Contracts) are generally
applicable to the recognition of revenue and the associated expenses for a
transaction involving the rendering of services over a period of time.

When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services cannot be
estimated reliably, revenue should be recognised only to the extent of the expenses
recognised that are recoverable.
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» Interest, royalties and dividends: revenue shall be recognised when:

a) itis probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the
transaction will flow to the authority, and

b) the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

The accounting treatments (subject to the recognition criteria above being met) are
as follows:

a) interest should be recognised using the effective interest method as set out
chapter seven of the Code (also see IAS 39)

b) royalties should be recognised as they are earned in accordance with the
substance of the relevant agreement, and

c) dividends or their equivalents should be recognised when the authority’s right to
receive payment is established.

= Non-exchange transactions: revenue shall be recognised when:

a) itis probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the
transaction will flow to the authority, and

b) the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.

= Where previously a liability had been recognised (ie creditor) on satisfying the
revenue recognition criteria: in the event that a liability had been recognised,
revenue shall be recognised equal to the reduction of the carrying amount of a
liability when the relevant revenue recognition criteria have been met.

In the event that the consideration is received but the revenue does not meet the
recognition criteria set out in paragraph 2.7.2.10 above, an authority shall recognise a
creditor (ie receipt in advance) in respect of that inflow of resources (see section 8.1 of
the Code).

In the event that revenue meets the recognition criteria set out in paragraph 2.7.2.10, but
the consideration has not been received, an authority shall recognise a debtor in respect
of that inflow of resources (see section 5.3 of the Code).

Revenue is recognised only when it is probable that the economic benefits or service
potential associated with the transaction will flow to the authority. However, when an
uncertainty arises about the collectability of an amount already included in revenue, the
uncollectable amount, or the amount in respect of which recovery has ceased to be
probable, is recognised as an expense (ie impairment of financial assets — see chapter
seven), rather than as an adjustment of the amount of revenue originally recognised in
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

2.7.3 Statutory Accounting Requirements

There are no statutory accounting requirements in relation to revenue recognition.
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2.7.4 Disclosure Requirements

Disclosure of accounting policies in relation to revenue recognition is required, where
these accounting policies are significant to the authority’s financial statements (see
section 3.4 of the Code).

There are no specific disclosure requirements covering revenue recognition, however,
transactions may be disclosed as part of the disclosure requirements of trade and other
receivables (see section 5.3 of the Code) and trade and other payables (see section 8.1
of the Code).

2.7.5 Statutory Disclosure Requirements

There are no statutory disclosures required in relation to revenue recognition.

2.7.6 Changes since the 20152016/16-17 Code

There have been no changes in the revenue recognition section of the Code since the
20152016/1617 Code.

2.8 TAX INCOME (COUNCIL TAX, RESIDUAL COMMUNITY
CHARGES, NON-DOMESTIC RATES (NDR) AND RATES)

2811
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2.8.1 Introduction

This section of the Code applies the accounting principles contained within the Code to
the accounting requirements in respect of tax income collected by local authorities.
There is no IFRS covering tax income. [IPSAS 23 Revenue from Non-Exchange
Transactions (Taxes and Transfers) sets out the principles that are to be followed.

2.8.2 Accounting Requirements

Non-domestic rates (NDR) (Wales and Scotland)

Billing authorities in Scotland and Wales collect NDR under what is in substance an
agency arrangement with each jurisdiction’s Government. It therefore follows that:

a) NDR income is not the income of the billing authority and shall not be included in its
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The cost of collection
allowance received by billing authorities in Wales is the billing authority’s income and
shall be included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (in
Scotland an amount for ‘collection of non-domestic rates’ is included in Revenue
Support Grant).

b) NDR debtor and creditor balances with taxpayers and the impairment allowance for



2822

2823

2824

doubtful debts are not assets and liabilities of the billing authority and shall not be
recognised in the billing authority’s Balance Sheet.

c) Cash collected from NDR taxpayers by billing authorities (net of the cost of collection
allowance in Wales) belongs to the Government and the amount not yet paid to the
Government at the Balance Sheet date shall be included in the Balance Sheet as a
creditor; similarly, if cash paid to the Government exceeds the cash collected from
NDR taxpayers (net of the billing authority’s cost of collection allowance in Wales),
the excess shall be included in the Balance Sheet as a debtor.

d) Cash collected from NDR taxpayers by a billing authority is collected for the
Government and is therefore not an operating activity of the billing authority and shall
not be included in the billing authority’s Cash Flow Statement as a cash inflow except
for the cash retained in respect of the cost of collection allowance. Similarly, the
billing authority’s payment into the NDR national pool is not an operating activity and
shall not be included in the billing authority’s Cash Flow Statement as a cash outflow.
The difference between the cash collected from NDR taxpayers and the amount paid
into the NDR national pool shall be included within financing activities in the Cash
Flow Statement.

e) Amounts are sometimes billed to NDR taxpayers over and above the NDR due,
usually to recover the billing authority’s costs of pursuing unpaid NDR debts. Any
amounts charged to NDR taxpayers in respect of amounts that the authority is not
required to account for to the Government are income of the billing authority.

Non-domestic rates (England)

Non-domestic rating income included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement for the year shall be the accrued income for the year. The government’s
central share and each major preceptor’s share of the accrued non-domestic rating
income would be available from the information that is required to be produced in order
to prepare the Collection Fund Statement (see section 3.6 of the Code). The allowance
for the cost of collection will need to be recognised in the relevant service revenue
account.

Since collection of non-domestic rating income is in substance an agency arrangement,
the cash collectable by the billing authority from non-domestic rating income debtors
belongs proportionately to the billing authority, central government (by means of its
central share) and the major preceptors. There will therefore be a debtor/creditor
position between the billing authority, central government and each major preceptor to be
recognised since the net cash paid to central government and each major preceptor in
the year will not be its share of cash collectable from NDR taxpayers.

If the net cash paid to central government or a major preceptor in the year is more than
its proportionate share of net cash collected from non-domestic rating income
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debtors/creditors in the year, the billing authority shall recognise a debit adjustment for
the amount overpaid to central government or the major preceptor in the year. The
major preceptor shall recognise a credit adjustment for the (same) amount to the
debtor/creditor position between them brought forward from the previous year. If the
cash paid to central government or a major preceptor is less than its proportionate share
of net cash collected in the year from non-domestic rating income debtors/creditors, the
billing authority shall recognise a credit adjustment for the (same) amount underpaid to
central government or the major preceptor in the year. The major preceptor shall
recognise a debit adjustment for the amount to the debtor/creditor position between them
brought forward from the previous year.

The Cash Flow Statement of the billing authority shall include within operating activities
only its own share of non-domestic rating income net cash collected from non-domestic
rating debtors in the year; and the amount paid shall exclude amounts paid to central
government and major preceptors. The difference between the central government and
the major preceptors’ share of the net cash collected from non-domestic rating debtors
and net cash paid to central government and major preceptors as precepts and
settlement of the previous year’s surplus or deficit on the Collection Fund for
non-domestic rating income shall be included within financing activities in the Cash Flow
Statement.

The Cash Flow Statement of a major preceptor shall include within operating activities
the net non-domestic rating income cash received from the Collection Fund in the year
(ie the major preceptors’ share of non-domestic rating income for the year plus its share
of Collection Fund surplus for the previous year, or less the amount paid to the Collection
Fund in respect of its share of the previous year’s Collection Fund deficit).

Top-ups and tariffs

Top-up income receivable and tariff expenditure payable shall be recognised by the
authority in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on an accruals
basis. These transactions shall be recognised in the line item Taxation and Non-specific
Grant Income and Expenditure. An authority will need to determine, based on the
materiality of these items, whether they are reported either separately on the face of the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement or in the notes to the financial
statements.

Safety net income and levy expenditure

Safety net income and levy expenditure shall also be recognised in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement on an accruals basis. These transactions will be
recognised in the line item Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income and Expenditure.

An authority will need to determine, based on the materiality of these items, whether they
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are reported either separately on the face of the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement or in the notes to the financial statements. Debtors and creditors
in respect of these items shall be recognised in the Balance Sheet.

Pool of authorities for non-domestic rating income

The Local Government Finance Act 2012 permits the Secretary of State to designate two
or more relevant authorities as a pool of authorities. Authorities that are party to such a
pool will need to recognise their share of the income and expenditure (and debtors and
creditors) in accordance with the agreed arrangements for distribution of the pool income
and expenditure and the accounting requirements of this section of the Code.

Non-domestic rates — retention of percentage of income growth (England and
Scotland)

In England, where an authority is able to retain any non-domestic rating income growth
for the purposes established under rate retention schemes it shall make the transfers
required by regulations to the General Fund. The authority shall determine whether it is
acting as principal or agent for these sums in accordance with the relevant scheme
requirements and section 2.6 of the Code and shall recognise such income for which it is
acting as principal.

In Scotland, where an authority is able to retain an element of its non-domestic rating
income growth for the purposes established under a Tax Incremental Financing Scheme,
it shall determine the extent to which it is acting as principal for these sums in
accordance with the scheme requirements and section 2.6 of the Code and recognise
such income for which it is acting as principal.

Non-domestic rates — Business Rates Incentivisation Scheme

In Scotland, the Business Rates Incentivisation Scheme allows authorities that exceed
their annual business rates target to retain 50% of any additional income for the
revaluation period. As this element of non-domestic rating income is the income of the
authority in the pursuit of its own objectives and the authority bears all the risks of
non-collection, then this part of the non-domestic rating income of the authority shall be
recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement of the authority
and disclosed as appropriate in the notes to the financial statements.

Council tax (England)

Council tax income included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
for the year shall be the accrued income for the year. Each major preceptor’s share of
the accrued council tax income would be available from the information that is required to
be produced in order to prepare the Collection Fund Statement (see section 3.6 of the
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Code).

Since the collection of council tax is in substance an agency arrangement, the cash
collected by the billing authority from council tax debtors belongs proportionately to the
billing authority and the major preceptors. There will therefore be a debtor/creditor
position between the billing authority and each major preceptor to be recognised since
the net cash paid to each major preceptor in the year will not be its share of cash
collectable from council taxpayers.

If the net cash paid to a major preceptor in the year is more than its proportionate share
of net cash collected from council tax debtors/creditors in the year, the billing authority
shall recognise a debit adjustment for the amount overpaid to the major preceptor in the
year and the major preceptor shall recognise a credit adjustment for the same amount to
the debtor/creditor position between them brought forward from the previous year. If the
cash paid to a major preceptor is less than its proportionate share of net cash collected
in the year from council tax debtors/creditors, the billing authority shall recognise a credit
adjustment for the amount underpaid to the major preceptor in the year and the major
preceptor shall recognise a debit adjustment for the same amount to the debtor/creditor
position between them brought forward from the previous year.

The Cash Flow Statement of the billing authority shall include within operating activities
only its own share of council tax net cash collected from council tax debtors in the year;
and the amount included for precepts paid shall exclude amounts paid to major
preceptors. The difference between the major preceptors’ share of the net cash
collected from council tax debtors and net cash paid to major preceptors as precepts and
settlement of the previous year’s surplus or deficit on the Collection Fund shall be
included within financing activities in the Cash Flow Statement.

The Cash Flow Statement of a major preceptor shall include within operating activities
the net council tax cash received from the Collection Fund in the year (ie the precept for
the year plus its share of Collection Fund surplus for the previous year, or less the
amount paid to the Collection Fund in respect of its share of the previous year’s
Collection Fund deficit).

Residual community charge (England)

Any residual community charge income ‘adjustments’ (losses or gains) are also required
to be included in the Collection Fund. Such adjustments, which will now often be nil or
negligible, are borne wholly by the billing authority and are excluded from the Collection
Fund surplus or deficit in calculating the amount that is shared between the billing
authority and major preceptors. The community charge adjustment for the year shall be
taken to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services.
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Council tax (Scotland)

Scotland does not have precepting authorities. The whole council tax income accruing
in the year shall be included as council tax income of the authority collecting the tax.
Council tax debtors and creditors and the impairment allowance for doubtful debts shall
be wholly included in the authority’s Balance Sheet. In the Cash Flow Statement the
cash inflow for council tax received shall be included within operating activities and shall
be the net cash collected from council tax debtors or creditors.

Council tax (Wales)

Billing authorities in Wales do not maintain a Collection Fund. Under regulation, major
preceptors in Wales (in effect police and crime commissioners), like community councils,
receive the exact amount of their precept. Major preceptors do not therefore share with
the billing authority the risk that actual council tax outturn will be greater or less than
assumed when setting council tax requirements.

28221 Since the billing authority bears the whole risk of council tax income being higher or lower
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than estimated, it is acting as a principal rather than an agent in relation to major
preceptors. All council tax income is therefore the income of the billing authority and shall
be included as council tax income in the billing authority’s Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement. Council tax debtors or creditors and impairment allowance for
doubtful debts shall be included wholly in its Balance Sheet. The major preceptors’
precepts shall be included as expenditure in the billing authority’s Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure Statement. The council tax income for the year included in a major
preceptor's Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement shall be its council tax
precept for the year.

In a billing authority’s Cash Flow Statement the amount included within operating
activities in respect of council tax receipts shall be the net cash collected from council tax
debtors or creditors including amounts arising in respect of the major preceptors’
precepts. The amount included in respect of operating activities for precepts paid shall
include the amounts paid to major preceptors.

Rates (Northern Ireland)

In Northern Ireland rates are levied on both domestic and non-domestic properties at a
rate in the pound set by the authority as the proceeds of a penny rate product but are
collected by the Land and Property Services Agency (LPSA), an executive agency of the
Department of Finance and Personnel. The rate income for the year shall be the
amount receivable for the year from the LPSA, ie the income shall be based on the
‘actual penny rate product’ for the year. Instalments of rates income are received from
the LPSA during the year based on the ‘estimated penny rate product’ made when the
authority’s budget was set. A debtor or creditor for the ‘actual penny rate product’
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adjustment for the year that will be made by the LPSA in the following year shall be
included as a debtor or creditor. If the formal notification from the LPSA of the amount
of the ‘actual penny rate product’ adjustment for the year is not available from the LPSA
at the time the accounts are finalised, an estimated amount shall be accrued.

2.8.3 Statutory Accounting Requirements

Non-domestic rates (England)

For both the billing authority and major preceptors, the difference between the
non-domestic rating income included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement and the amount required by regulation to be credited to the General Fund
shall be taken to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account and reported in the Movement
in Reserves Statement.

Council tax (England)

For both the billing authority and major preceptors, the difference between the council tax
income included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the
amount required by regulation to be credited to the General Fund shall be taken to the
Collection Fund Adjustment Account and reported in the Movement in Reserves
Statement.

Residual community charge (England)

The difference between the community charge adjustment included in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the amount required by
regulation to be taken to the General Fund (ie the previous year's community charge
adjustment) shall be taken to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account.

2.8.4 Disclosure Requirements

Tax income reported in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement shall be
disclosed in line with the requirements of the Code set out in section 3.4 (Presentation of
Financial Statements), which include disclosures for council tax (Wales) and rates
(Northern Ireland). Disclosures in respect of the Collection Fund (England), Council Tax
Income Account (Scotland) and Non-Domestic Rates Account (Scotland) are set out in
section 3.6 of the Code.

In accordance with paragraphs 2.8.2.7 and 2.8.2.8 above, an authority will need to
determine whether top-up income/tariff payments and safety net income and levy
expenditure will need to be reported separately on the face of the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement or in the notes.

Lead authorities of a designated pool of authorities may need to consider whether a true



and fair presentation of its non-domestic rating income arrangements might require that a
memorandum account be produced in the financial statements for the pool.

2.8.5 Statutory Disclosure Requirements

2851 There are no statutory disclosures in relation to the Non-domestic Rates (England), the
Collection Fund (England), Council Tax Income Account (Scotland) and Non-Domestic
Rates Account (Scotland).

2.8.6 Changes since the 20152016/16-17 Code

2861 There have been no changes to the tax income (council tax, residual community
charges, non-domestic rates (NDR) and rates) section of the Code since the
20152016/4617 Code.

2.9 VALUE ADDED TAX

2.9.1 Introduction

2911 The preparation of the Code follows the Memorandum of Understanding between the
Relevant Authorities (see paragraph 1.1.6); because there are no IFRS*" or IPSAS
specifically relating to value added tax (VAT), authorities shall account for VAT in
accordance with FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard Applicable in the UK and
Republic of Ireland, and apply specific rules for the recovery of VAT.

Adaptation for the public sector context

2912 No adaptations of FRS 102 are required for the public sector context; this standard is
applied in full.

2.9.2 Accounting Requirements

Definitions
2921 Input tax is VAT charged on purchases.
2922 Output tax is VAT charged in sales.

2923 Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting
period when those inflows result in an increase in net worth.

2924 VAT is an indirect tax levied on most business transactions and on many goods and
some services.

1 IAS 18 Revenue makes a reference to VAT.
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Recognition and measurement

Revenue to be included in an authority’'s Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement shall be only the gross inflows of economic benefits or service potential
received or receivable by an authority on its own behalf (see section 2.7 of the Code,
Revenue Recognition) and therefore excludes VAT that must be passed on (where
output tax exceeds input tax) or repaid (where input tax exceeds output tax) to HM
Revenue and Customs.

The net amount due to or from HM Revenue and Customs in respect of VAT shall be
included as part of creditors or debtors.

VAT, whether of a capital or a revenue nature, should be included in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement (or included in the cost of an asset where permitted
or required by the Code) only to the extent that it is irrecoverable.

2.9.3 Statutory Accounting Requirements

There are no statutory accounting requirements in relation to VAT.

2.9.4 Disclosure Requirements

Disclosure of accounting policies in relation to VAT is required, where these accounting
policies are significant to the authority’s financial statements (see section 3.4 of the
Code).

There are no specific disclosure requirements covering VAT. However, transactions
may be disclosed as part of the disclosure requirements of trade and other receivables
(see section 5.3 of the Code) and trade and other payables (see section 8.1 of the
Code).

2.9.5 Statutory Disclosure Requirements

There are no statutory disclosures required in relation to VAT.

2.9.6 Changes since the 20452016/46-17 Code

There have been no changes to the reporting requirements of the value added tax
section of the Code since the 20452016/4617 Code.

2.10 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

2.10.1 Introduction

21011 Local authorities shall measure their assets and liabilities and provide disclosures in

accordance with IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement where another section of the Code
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requires or permits fair value measurement, except where adaptations to fit the public
sector are detailed in the Code.

Adaptation and application for the public sector context

There is only one adaptation to IFRS 13 for the public sector context (see paragraph
2.10.1.3 below). However, section 4.1 of this Code adapts IAS 16 to require that items
of property, plant and equipment that are operational and therefore providing service
potential for the authority are measured for their service potential at existing use value,
existing use value — social housing or depreciated replacement cost (see section 4.1 of
the Code), and not at fair value. Surplus assets (property, plant and equipment) are
measured at fair value.

This section of the Code adapts IFRS 13 by removing the scope exclusion on the
disclosures for retirement benefit plan investments measured at fair value in accordance
with section 6.5 (Accounting and Reporting by Pension Funds).

2.10.2 Accounting Requirements

Definitions

Active market is a market in which transactions for the asset or liability take place with
sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Cost approach is a valuation technique that reflects the amount that would be required
currently to replace the service capacity of an asset (often referred to as current
replacement cost).

Entry price is the price paid to acquire an asset or received to assume a liability in an
exchange transaction.

Exit price is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

Income approach is a valuation technique that converts future amounts (eg cash flows
or income and expenses) to a single current (ie discounted) amount. The fair value
measurement is determined on the basis of the value indicated by current market
expectations about those future amounts.

Inputs are the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, including assumptions about risk, such as the following:

a) the risk inherent in a particular valuation technique used to measure fair value (such
as a pricing model), and

b) the risk inherent in the inputs to the valuation technique.



Inputs may be observable or unobservable.

21028 Market approach is a valuation technique that uses prices and other relevant
information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable (ie
similar) assets, liabilities or a group of assets and liabilities, such as a business.

21029 Market participants are buyers and sellers in the principal (or most advantageous)
market for the asset or liability that have all of the following characteristics:

a) They are independent of each other, ie they are not related parties as defined in IAS
24, although the price in a related party transaction may be used as an input to a fair
value measurement if the entity has evidence that the transaction was entered into
at market terms.

b) They are knowledgeable, having a reasonable understanding about the asset or
liability and the transaction using all available information, including information that
might be obtained through due diligence efforts that are usual and customary.

c) They are able to enter into a transaction for the asset or liability.

d) They are willing to enter into a transaction for the asset or liability, ie they are
motivated but not forced or otherwise compelled to do so.

210210 Most advantageous market is the market that maximises the amount that would be
received to sell the asset or minimises the amount that would be paid to transfer the
liability, after taking into account transaction costs and transport costs.

210211 An orderly transaction is a transaction that assumes exposure to the market for a
period before the measurement date to allow for marketing activities that are usual and
customary for transactions involving such assets or liabilities; it is not a forced
transaction (eg a forced liquidation or distress sale).

210212 A principal market is the market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the
asset or liability.

210213 Further definitions are included in IFRS 13.

Scope

210214 This section of the Code applies when another section of the Code requires or permits
fair value measurements or disclosures about fair value measurements (and
measurements, such as fair value less costs to sell, based on fair value or disclosures
about those measurements), except as specified in paragraphs 2.10.2.15 and 2.10.2.16.

210215 The measurement and disclosure requirements of this section of the Code do not apply
to the following:

a) share-based payment transactions within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based
Payments



b) leasing transactions within the scope of section 4.2 (Lease and Lease Type
Transactions) of the Code and IAS 17 Leases, and

Cc) measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in section 5.1 (Inventories) or value in use in section 4.7
(Impairment of Assets) of the Code.

210216 The disclosures required by this section of the Code are not required for the following:

a) plan assets measured at fair value in accordance with sections 6.1 to 6.4 of the
Code, and

b) assets for which recoverable amount is fair value less costs of disposal in
accordance with section 4.7 (Impairment of Assets) of the Code.

210217 The fair value measurement framework described in this section of the Code applies to
both initial and subsequent measurement if fair value is required or permitted by other
sections of the Code.

Measurement
The asset or liability

210218 A fair value measurement is for a particular asset or liability. Therefore, when
measuring fair value an authority shall take into account the characteristics of the asset
or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Such characteristics include, for
example, the following:

a) the condition and location of the asset, and

b) restrictions, if any, on the sale or use of the asset.

The transaction

210219 A fair value measurement assumes that the asset or liability is exchanged in an orderly
transaction between market participants to sell the asset or transfer the liability at the
measurement date under current market conditions.

210220 A fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either:
a) in the principal market for the asset or liability, or

b) inthe absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability.

Market participants

210221 An authority shall measure the fair value of an asset or a liability using the assumptions



that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

The price

210222 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the
measurement date under current market conditions (ie an exit price) regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique.

210223 The price in the principal (or most advantageous) market used to measure the fair value
of the asset or liability shall not be adjusted for transaction costs. Transaction costs
shall be accounted for in accordance with other sections of the Code. Transaction costs
are not a characteristic of an asset or a liability; rather, they are specific to a transaction
and will differ depending on how an authority enters into a transaction for the asset or
liability.

Fair value measurement of non-financial assets

210224 A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market
participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

Application to liabilities

210225 A fair value measurement assumes that a financial or non-financial liability is transferred
to a market participant at the measurement date. The transfer of a liability assumes that
a liability would remain outstanding and the market participant transferee would be
required to fulfil the obligation. The liability would not be settled with the counterparty or
otherwise extinguished on the measurement date. In order to reflect that price at which
the liability would be transferred to market participants, the fair value of the liability,
including non-financial liabilities, will also need to reflect the non-performance risk which
includes but may not be limited to the authority’s own non-performance risk.

Liabilities held by other parties as assets

210226 When a quoted price for the transfer of an identical or a similar liability is not available
and the identical item is held by another party as an asset, an authority shall measure
the fair value of the liability from the perspective of a market participant that holds the
identical item as an asset at the measurement date.

Liabilities not held by other parties as assets

210227 When a quoted price for the transfer of an identical or a similar liability is not available



and the identical item is not held by another party as an asset, an authority shall
measure the fair value of the liability using a valuation technique from the perspective of
a market participant that owes the liability.

Valuation techniques

210228 An authority shall use valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and

for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Three widely
used valuation techniques are the market approach, the cost approach and the income
approach. The main aspects of those approaches are summarised in paragraphs
B5-B11 of IFRS 13. An authority shall use valuation techniques consistent with one or
more of those approaches to measure fair value.

210229 Local authorities are required to follow the fair value hierarchy prescribed by paragraphs

21031

21041

7690 of IFRS 13 to increase consistency and comparability in fair value measurements
and related disclosures. This hierarchy categorises into three levels the inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair value; these include:

= Level 1inputs — quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the authority can access at the measurement date.

= Level 2 inputs — inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

» Level 3inputs — unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 inputs) and the lowest priority to
unobservable inputs (Level 3 inputs).

2.10.3 Statutory Accounting Requirements

There are no statutory accounting requirements in relation to fair value measurement.

2.10.4 Disclosure Requirements

Having regard to paragraph 3.4.2.27 of the Presentation of Financial Statements section
of the Code, which permits authorities not to provide a specific disclosure if information is
not material, authorities shall disclose the following notes in relation to fair value
measurement for all assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the Code, with the
exception of those excluded by paragraphs 2.10.2.15 and 2.10.2.16. For fair value
measurement disclosures, authorities should only include those disclosures that are
material to their financial statements to ensure that the main messages of the disclosures
are not obscured by excessive detail:

1) An authority shall disclose information that helps users of its financial statements



assess both of the following:

a) for assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring or
non-recurring basis in the Balance Sheet after initial recognition, the valuation
techniques and inputs used to develop those measurements

b) for recurring fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs
(Level 3), the effect of the measurements on Surplus or Deficit on the Provision
of Services or Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure for the period.

2) To meet the objectives in disclosure requirement 1) above, an authority shall
consider all the following:

a) the level of detail necessary to satisfy the disclosure requirements
b) how much emphasis to place on each of the various requirements
c) how much aggregation or disaggregation to undertake, and

d) whether users of financial statements need additional information to evaluate the
guantitative information disclosed.

3) To meet the objectives in disclosure requirement 1) above, an authority shall
disclose after initial recognition in the Balance Sheet, at a minimum,* the following
information for each class of assets and liabilities (see disclosure requirement 4)
below for information on determining appropriate classes of assets and liabilities)
measured at fair value (including measurements based on fair value within the
scope of this section of the Code):

a) for recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, the fair value
measurement at the end of the reporting period, and, for non-recurring fair value
measurements, the reasons for the measurement. Recurring fair value
measurements of assets or liabilities are those that other sections of the Code
require or permit in the Balance Sheet at the end of each reporting period.
Non-recurring fair value measurements of assets or liabilities are those that
other sections of the Code require or permit in the Balance Sheet in particular
circumstances (eg when an authority measures an asset held for sale at fair
value less costs to sell in accordance with section 4.9 (Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations) of the Code and IFRS 5 because the
asset’s fair value less costs to sell is lower than its carrying amount)

b) for recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, the level of the fair
value hierarchy within which the fair value measurements are categorised in
their entirety (Level 1, 2 or 3)

12 Although reference is made to ‘at a minimum’, iHis-censidered-that-materiality judgements still

apply to this disclosure.



c) for assets and liabilities held at the end of the reporting period that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis, the amounts of any transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the reasons for those
transfers and the authority’s policy for determining when transfers between
levels are deemed to have occurred (see disclosure 5) below). Transfers into
each level shall be disclosed and discussed separately from transfers out of
each level

d) for recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements categorised within
Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, a description of the valuation
technique(s) and the inputs used in the fair value measurement. If there has
been a change in valuation technique (eg changing from a market approach to
an income approach or the use of an additional valuation technique), the
authority shall disclose that change and the reason(s) for making it. For fair
value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, an
authority shall provide quantitative information about the significant
unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement. An authority is not
required to create quantitative information to comply with this disclosure
requirement if quantitative unobservable inputs are not developed by the
authority when measuring fair value. However, when providing this disclosure
an authority cannot ignore quantitative unobservable inputs that are significant
to the fair value measurement and are reasonably available to the authority

e) for recurring fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy, a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances,
disclosing separately changes during the period attributable to the following:

i) total gains or losses for the period recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on
the Provision of Services, and the line item(s) in the Surplus or Deficit on
the Provision of Services in which those gains or losses are recognised

i) total gains or losses for the period recognised in Other Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure, and the line item(s) in Other Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure in which those gains or losses are recognised

iii) purchases, sales, issues and settlements (each of those types of changes
disclosed separately)

iv) the amounts of any transfers into or out of Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy, the reasons for those transfers and the authority’s policy for
determining when transfers between levels are deemed to have occurred
(see disclosure requirement 5)). Transfers into Level 3 shall be disclosed
and discussed separately from transfers out of Level 3

f) for recurring fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy, the amount of the total gains or losses for the period in e) i) included



4)

in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services that is attributable to the
change in unrealised gains or losses relating to those assets and liabilities held
at the end of the reporting period, and the line item(s) in the Surplus or Deficit
on the Provision of Services in which those unrealised gains or losses are
recognised

g) for recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements categorised within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, a description of the valuation processes used
by the authority (including, for example, how an authority decides its valuation
policies and procedures and analyses changes in fair value measurements from
period to period)

h) for recurring fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy:

)

for all such measurements, a narrative description of the sensitivity of the
fair value measurement to changes in unobservable inputs if a change in
those inputs to a different amount might result in a significantly higher or
lower fair value measurement. If there are interrelationships between
those inputs and other unobservable inputs used in the fair value
measurement, an authority shall also provide a description of those
interrelationships and of how they might magnify or mitigate the effect of
changes in the unobservable inputs on the fair value measurement. To
comply with that disclosure requirement, the narrative description of the
sensitivity to changes in unobservable inputs shall include, at a minimum,
the unobservable inputs disclosed when complying with d)

for financial assets and financial liabilities, if changing one or more of the
unobservable inputs to reflect reasonably possible alternative assumptions
would change fair value significantly, an authority shall state that fact and
disclose the effect of those changes. The authority shall disclose how the
effect of a change to reflect a reasonably possible alternative assumption
was calculated. For that purpose, significance shall be judged with respect
to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, and total assets or
total liabilities, or, when changes in fair value are recognised in Other
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure in Reserves

i) for recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, if the highest and best
use of a non-financial asset differs from its current use, an authority shall
disclose that fact and why the non-financial asset is being used in a manner that
differs from its highest and best use.

An authority shall determine appropriate classes of assets and liabilities on the basis
of the following:

a) the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability, and



5)

6)

7

8)

b) the level of the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is
categorised.

Determining appropriate classes of assets and liabilities for which disclosures about
fair value measurements should be provided requires judgement. A class of assets
and liabilities will often require greater disaggregation than the line items presented
in the Balance Sheet. However, an authority shall provide information sufficient to
permit reconciliation to the line items presented in the Balance Sheet. If another
section of the Code specifies the class for an asset or a liability, an authority may
use that class in providing the disclosures required in this section of the Code if that
class meets the requirements in this disclosure.

It is considered that it will be rare for local authorities to transfer between levels of
the fair value hierarchy. Where this does occur, an authority shall disclose and
consistently follow its policy for determining when transfers between levels of the fair
value hierarchy are deemed to have occurred in accordance with paragraph 3) c)
and e) iv) above. The policy about the timing of recognising transfers shall be the
same for transfers into the levels as for transfers out of the levels. Examples of
policies for determining the timing of transfers include:

a) the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer
b) the beginning of the reporting period
c) the end of the reporting period.

If an authority makes an accounting policy decision to use the exception in
paragraph 48 of IFRS 13, ie if the authority manages that group of financial assets
and financial liabilities on the basis of its net exposure to either market risks or credit
risk, it shall disclose that fact.

For each class of assets and liabilities not measured at fair value in the Balance
Sheet but for which the fair value is disclosed, an authority shall disclose the
information required by disclosure 3) b), d) and i). However, an authority is not
required to provide the quantitative disclosures about significant unobservable inputs
used in fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy required by paragraph 3) d). For such assets and liabilities, an authority
does not need to provide the other disclosures required by this section of the Code.

For a liability measured at fair value and issued with an inseparable third-party credit
enhancement, an issuer shall disclose the existence of that credit enhancement and
whether it is reflected in the fair value measurement of the liability.

An authority shall present the quantitative disclosures required by this section of the
Code in a tabular format unless another format is more appropriate.




2.10.5 Statutory Disclosure Requirements

21051 There are no statutory disclosures required in relation to fair value measurement.

2.10.6 Changes since the 206452016/46-17 Code

21061 Fhe-2016/17 Code-includes-The transitional reporting requirements for the
amendments to the fair value measurement section of the Code to remove the scope
exclusion on the disclosures for retirement benefit plan investments measured at fair
vatde-value have been removed from the 2017/18 Code in-aceordance-with-section6.5-
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CHAPTER THREE
Financral statements

3.1 NARRATIVE REPORT

3111

3112

3113

3.1.1 Introduction

A local authority in England, Northern Ireland and Wales shall publish a Narrative Report
with the financial statements (for the purposes of this section of the Code the “Narrative
Report” is deemed to have the same meaning as “narrative statement” in the Accounts
and Audit Regulations 2015 for local authorities in England).

The purpose of the narrative report is to provide information on the authority, its main
objectives and strategies and the principleal risks that it faces. The narrative report
should provide a commentary on how the authority (including the Group Accounts) has
used its resources to achieve its desired outcomes in line with its objectives and

strategies.

The narrative report must provide a fair, balanced and understandable analysis of the

3114

authority's performance. The narrative report should highlight and explain the linkages
between information presented in the narrative report and the information within the
financial statements and information presented must be consistent with the information
within the financial statements.

The structure and presentation of the narrative report should be determined by the

authority in order to best meet the needs of the users and reflect the individual
characteristics of the authority and the reporting period under review. The narrative
report should focus on those elements that are material to thean understanding of the
financial position and performance of the authority;. In developing the narrative report
consideration should be given to the following elements:

a) organisational overview and external environment

b) governance
c) businessorganisational model

d) risks and opportunities

e) strateqy and resource allocation
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f) performance

g) outlook, and

h) basis of preparation.

It is recommended that the structure and content of the narrative report is reviewed
annually to ensure that it continues to meet its objectives in an efficient and effective
manner.

Organisational Overview and External Environment

The narrative report should contain sufficient information to understand the organisation

3117

of the authority and its services, its purpose and its key objectives. In order to put the
authority’s objectives and purpose into context the narrative report should include
information on the external environment in which it operates, particularly where there
have been changes that impact upon the year under review.

Governance

If there have been significant changes in, or issues around, governance arrangements

3118

during the year these should be highlighted in the narrative report. To avoid duplication
Fhethis may be achieved by —harrativereportsheuld-cross reference to the Annual
Governance Statement that accompanies the financial statements.

Business Operational Model

The narrative report should include information on inputs, outputs, businressoperational

3119

activities of the authority’s key services, and outcomes and how the authority allocated
and consumed resources during the year in order to achieve its objectives.

Risks and Opportunities

The narrative report should include any significant future opportunities to develop

31110

services along with key risks and uncertainties in relation to future service provision
(including financial risks) and risk mitigation measures.

Further details of the future outlook or risks and uncertainties should be included where

31111

there is a potential material impact on the authority's businessoperational model or
performance (including the performance of its services).

Strategy and Resource Allocation

The narrative report should provide a description of the agreed medium and long term

strategies of the authority, including its medium term financial strategy and plans to
address any future resource shortfalls.
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Performance

The narrative report should provide an analysis of:

31113

a) the performance of the authority in that financial year and its position at the end of
the year to complement the financial statements, where relevant, providing additional

explanations, analysed in the context of the authority’s strategic/corporate reports for
that year; any segmental analysis should be consistent with the authority’s
segmental analysis provided in accordance with this section and section 3.4 of this
Code, and

b) any key financial and non-financial performance indicators as relevant to the
performance of the authority that the local authority judges as central in assessing
progress against its strategic objectives, or monitoring its risks or otherwise used to
measure performance in the year.

Performance indicators used should, where possible, represent generally accepted

31114

measures of performance for local authorities whether on a corporate, financial or
service basis and comparatives should be included. Any significant changes from year to
year should be explained; and, if necessary, appropriate description of the performance
indicators should be provided.

It is recommended that a local authority cross refer to the outturn provided in the

31115

Expenditure and Funding Analysis required by paragraph 3.4.2.97 and include additional
narrative context for the performance presented in the analysis. A local authority may
wish to include appropriate budgetary information to provide additional context to the
Expenditure and Funding Analysis.

Outlook

The narrative report should contain sufficient information to allow the user to assess the

31116

future sustainability of the organisation and its impact on service provision including:

a) cashflows during the year and the factors that may affect future cash flows

b) information on an authority’s key commitments, commentary on significant matters
covered in the budget report and any significant assets or liabilities earned or
incurred, and

c) details of known future budget pressures or changes in resources and the authority's
plans for dealing with any shortfalls.

Basis of Preparation and Presentation

The narrative report should allow the users to understand how materiality and the Group

Accounts boundary decisions are made in relation to what is included in the financial
statements of the authority and the impact on the financial statements.Fhe-purpese-of-




Management Commentary — Scottish Local Authorities

311517 Statutory Guidance on the Management Commentary in Scottish Government Circular
5/2015 “sets aside” the Code requirement for an Explanatory Foreword. This wil-means
the requirements of this section of the Code.

3.1.2 Accounting Requirements

3121 Information provided in the Narrative Report shall reflect the accounting requirements of
the Code.
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31532

31533

3.1.63 Statutory Reporting and Disclosure Requirements

There are no statutory disclosure requirements in relation to the Narrative Report.

Narrative Report — English Local Authorities

Local authorities in England are required by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 to
publish a narrative statement with the Statement of Accounts. -Such a narrative
statement shall be provided in accordance with this section of the Code.

As a part of the requirement to provide a narrative statement, regulation 8(2) of the
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 stipulates that a local authority must provide
information on its “financial performance and economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources over the financial year”. CIPFA/LASAAC considers that te-the Code
meets the requirement of Regulation 8 (2).






Narrative Report — Welsh and Northern Irish Local Authorities

31534 There are no statutory reporting requirements in relation to the Narrative Report for
Welsh and Northern Irish Local Authorities.

Management Commentary — Scottish Local Authorities

31535 The statutory reporting requirements for a Management Commentary are included in the
Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014. Scottish Government Finance
Circular 5/2015 provides Statutory Guidance on the Management Commentary.

3.1.64 Changes since the 20152016/46-17 Code
31641 This section of the Code_—(following-the-amendments-inthe Update-to-the 2015/16-

Cede)-has been amended to reflect the adoption of key principles within the Code in
respect of the Narrative Report.




3.2 STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES

3211

3221

3231

3241

3.2.1 Introduction

A local authority shall provide a Statement of Responsibilities setting out the
responsibilities of the authority and the chief financial officer in respect of the Statement
of Accounts.

3.2.2 Accounting Requirements

The Statement of Responsibilities shall confirm that the Statement of Accounts has been
prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Code.

3.2.3 Statutory Accounting Requirements

There are no statutory accounting requirements in respect of the Statement of
Responsibilities.

3.2.4 Disclosure Requirements

A local authority shall set out the responsibilities of the authority and the chief financial
officer in respect of the Statement of Accounts. The following wording is recommended
but not mandatory:

England, Wales and Scotland

The Authority’s Responsibilities

The authority is required to:

= Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure
that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In
this authority, that officer is the chief financial officer.

* Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and
safeguard its assets.

= Approve the Statement of Accounts (England and Wales only).

The Chief Financial Officer’'s Responsibilities

The chief financial officer is responsible for the preparation of the authority’s Statement
of Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code
of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code).



In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the chief financial officer has:

» selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently
* made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent

= complied with the local authority Code.

The chief financial officer has also:
= Kkept proper accounting records which were up to date

= taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

In England and Wales, the chief financial officer should sign and date the Statement of
Accounts, stating that it gives a true and fair view of the financial position of the authority
at the reporting date and of its expenditure and income for the year ended 31 March
20XX.

In Scotland, the proper officer is required to submit the unaudited accounts to the
authority and appointed auditor by 30 June. The audited financial statements must be
laid before a meeting of the authority or a committee of that authority whose remit
includes audit or governance functions no later than 30 September. The Local Authority
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014 require that the Statement of Responsibilities is
signed by the leader of the council and the proper officer. The proper officer is required
to sign and date the financial statements stating that they give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the authority at the reporting date and of the transactions of the
authority and where relevant its group for the year ended 31 March 20XX. Scottish
Government Guidance, issued in Scottish Government Finance Circular 7/2014, provides
an illustration of a Statement of Responsibilities.

Northern Ireland

The Council’s Responsibilities

Under section 1 of the Local Government Finance Act (Northern Ireland) 2011 the
council shall make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs.
Under this section the council is required to designate an officer of the council as its chief
financial officer. Arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs shall
be carried out under the supervision of its chief financial officer.

The council is required to approve the Statement of Accounts.

The Chief Financial Officer’s Responsibilities

Under Regulation 8 of the Local Government (Accounts and Audit) Regulations
(Northern Ireland) 2015 the chief financial officer is responsible for the preparation of the
council’'s Statement of Accounts in the form directed by the Department of the
Environment (NI).
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The accounts must give a true and fair view of the expenditure and income and cash
flows for the financial year and the financial position as at the end of the financial year.

In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the chief financial officer is required to:

= observe the Accounts Direction issued by the Department of the Environment (NI)
including compliance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the
United Kingdom

= follow relevant accounting and disclosure requirements and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis, and

= make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent.

= The chief financial officer is also required to:

= Kkeep proper accounting records which are up to date, and

= take reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

The chief financial officer should sign and date the Statement of Accounts, stating that it
gives a true and fair view of the financial position of the authority at the reporting date
and of its expenditure and income for the year ended 31 March 20XX.

3.2.5 Statutory Disclosure Requirements

There are no statutory disclosure requirements in relation to the Statement of
Responsibilities.

3.2.6 Changes since the 206152016/246-17 Code

The statement of responsibilities section of the Code has not been amended since the
2016/17 Code-{following-the Und

3.3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES AND ERRORS

3311

3.3.1 Introduction

Authorities shall select accounting policies, and account for changes in accounting
policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors in accordance with IAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, except where
adaptations to fit the public sector are detailed in the Code. IPSAS 3 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors is based on IAS 8, and introduces
no additional accounting requirements, although it provides additional guidance for public
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sector bodies.

IAS 8 requires entities to disclose the expected impact of new standards that have been
issued but not yet adopted. Future editions of the Code may therefore prescribe
retrospective disclosure requirements relating to changes to accounting policies.

3.3.2 Accounting Requirements

Definitions

Accounting policies are the specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices
applied by an authority in preparing and presenting financial statements.

A change in accounting estimate is an adjustment of the carrying amount of an asset
or a liability, or the amount of the periodic consumption of an asset, that results from the
assessment of the present status of, and expected future benefits and obligations
associated with, assets and liabilities. Changes in accounting estimates result from new
information or new developments and, accordingly, are not correction of errors.

Impracticable. Applying a requirement is impracticable when the authority cannot
apply it after making every reasonable effort to do so. For a particular prior period, it is
impracticable to apply a change in an accounting policy retrospectively or to make a
retrospective restatement to correct an error if:

a) the effects of the retrospective application or retrospective restatement are not
determinable

b) the retrospective application or retrospective restatement requires assumptions
about what management’s intent would have been in that period, or

c) the retrospective application or retrospective restatement requires significant
estimates of amounts and it is impossible to distinguish objectively information about
those estimates that:

i) provides evidence of circumstances that existed on the date(s) at which those
amounts are to be recognised, measured or disclosed, and

i) would have been available when the financial statements for that prior period
were authorised for issue

from other information.

Material. Omissions or misstatements of items are material if they could, individually or
collectively, influence the decisions or assessments of users made on the basis of the
financial statements. Materiality depends on the nature or size of the omission or
misstatement judged in the surrounding circumstances. The nature or size of the item,
or a combination of both, could be the determining factor.

Prior period errors are omissions from, and misstatements in, the authority’s financial
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statements for one or more prior periods arising from a failure to use, or misuse of,
reliable information that:

a) was available when financial statements for those periods were authorised for issue,
and

b) could reasonably be expected to have been obtained and taken into account in the
preparation and presentation of those financial statements.

Such errors include the effects of mathematical mistakes, mistakes in applying
accounting policies, oversights or misinterpretations of facts, and fraud.

Prospective application of a change in accounting policy and of recognising the effect
of a change in an accounting estimate, respectively, are:

a) applying the new accounting policy to transactions, other events and conditions
occurring after the date as at which the policy is changed, and

b) recognising the effect of the change in the accounting estimate in the current and
future periods affected by the change.

Retrospective application is applying a new accounting policy to transactions, other
events and conditions as if that policy had always been applied.

Retrospective restatement is correcting the recognition, measurement and disclosure
of amounts of elements of financial statements as if a prior period error had never
occurred.

Accounting policies

When the Code specifically applies to a transaction, other event or condition, the
accounting policy or policies applied to that item shall be determined by applying the
Code. Those policies need not be applied when the effect of applying them is
immaterial. Where the Code does not specifically apply to a transaction, other event or
condition, management shall use its judgement in developing and applying an
accounting policy that results in information that is:

a) relevant to the decision-making needs of users, and
b) reliable, in that the financial statements:

i) represent faithfully the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of
the authority

i) reflect the economic substance of transactions, other events and conditions and
not merely the legal form

iif) are neutral, ie free from bias
iv) are prudent, and

v) are complete in all material respects.
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In making the judgement management shall refer to, and consider the applicability of, the
Code requirements dealing with similar and related issues; and definitions, recognition
and measurement criteria for assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses described
elsewhere in the Code. Management may also consider the most recent
pronouncements of standard-setting bodies and accepted public or private sector
practices to the extent, but only to the extent, that these do not conflict with the
requirements of the Code.

An authority shall select and apply its accounting policies consistently for similar
transactions, other events and conditions, unless the Code specifically requires or
permits categorisation of items for which different policies may be appropriate. If the
Code requires or permits such categorisation (for example different classes of property,
plant and equipment), an appropriate accounting policy shall be selected and applied
consistently to each category.

An authority shall change an accounting policy only if the change is required by the Code
or results in the financial statements providing reliable and more relevant information
about the effects of transactions, other events and conditions on the authority’s financial
position, financial performance or cash flows.

Where an authority changes an accounting policy, it shall apply the changes
retrospectively unless the Code specifies transitional provisions that shall be followed.

A change in accounting policy shall be applied retrospectively by adjusting the opening
balance of each affected component of net worth for the earliest period presented and
the other comparative amounts disclosed for each prior period presented as if the new
accounting policy had always been applied, except to the extent that it is impracticable to
determine either the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change.

Changes in accounting estimates

As a result of the uncertainties inherent in delivering services, conducting trading or other
activities, many items in financial statements cannot be measured with precision but can
only be estimated. Estimation involves judgements based on the latest available,
reliable information. The use of reasonable estimates is an essential part of the
preparation of financial statements and does not undermine their reliability.

An estimate may need revision if changes occur in the circumstances on which the
estimate was based or as a result of new information or more experience. By its nature,
the revision of an estimate does not relate to prior periods and is not the correction of an
error. A change in the measurement basis applied is a change in an accounting policy
and is not a change in an accounting estimate.

The effect of a change in an accounting estimate (other than a change to which
paragraph 3.3.2.17 applies) shall be recognised prospectively by including it in surplus or
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deficit in:
a) the period of the change, if the change affects the period only, or

b) the period of the change and future periods, if the change affects both.

To the extent that a change in an accounting estimate gives rise to changes in assets
and liabilities, or relates to an item of net worth, it shall be recognised by adjusting the
carrying amount of the related asset, liability or net worth item in the period of change.

Errors

Except to the extent that it is impracticable to determine either the period-specific effects

or the cumulative effect of the error, an authority shall correct material prior period errors

retrospectively in the first set of financial statements authorised for issue after their

discovery by:

a) restating the comparative amounts for prior period(s) presented in which the error
occurred, or

b) if the error occurred before the earliest prior period presented, restating the opening
balances of assets, liabilities and net worth for the earliest prior period presented.

When it is impracticable to determine the period specific effects of an error on
comparative information for one or more prior periods presented, an authority shall
restate the opening balances of assets, liabilities and net worth for the earliest period for
which retrospective restatement is practicable (which may be the current period).

3.3.3 Statutory Accounting Requirements

There are no statutory accounting requirements in relation to the selection of accounting
policies, or accounting for changes in accounting estimates and errors.

3.3.4 Disclosure Requirements

Accounting policies

An authority shall disclose information about its accounting policies as required by
section 3.3 of the Code. Accounting policies that relate to statutory accounting
requirements are accounted for in the same manner as other accounting policies.

Where a change of accounting policy is required by the Code, an authority shall disclose
the information required by the Code. For other changes in accounting policy, an
authority shall disclose:

a) the nature of the change in accounting policy

b) the reasons why applying the new accounting policy provides reliable and more
relevant information
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c) for the current period and each prior period presented, to the extent practicable, the
amount of the adjustment for each financial statement line item affected

d) the amount of the adjustment relating to periods before those presented, to the
extent practicable, and

e) if retrospective application is impracticable for a particular prior period, or for periods
before those presented, the circumstances that led to the existence of that condition
and a description of how and from when the change in accounting policy has been
applied.

Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat these disclosures.

An authority shall disclose information relating to the impact of an accounting change
that will be required by a new standard that has been issued but not yet adopted. This
requirement applies to accounting standards that come into effect for financial years
commencing on or before 1 January of the financial year in question (ie on or before 1
January 2017-2018 for 26162017/2718). Disclosure requirements are expected to be
included in a subsequent edition of the Code.

Changes in accounting estimates

An authority shall disclose the nature and amount of a change in an accounting estimate
that has an effect in the current period or is expected to have an effect on future periods.

Errors

Where a prior period error is corrected, an authority shall disclose the following:
a) the nature of the prior period error

b) for each prior period presented, to the extent practicable, the amount of the
correction for each financial statement line item affected, and

c) the amount of the correction at the beginning of the earliest prior period presented.

Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat these disclosures.

3.3.5 Statutory Disclosure Requirements

There are no statutory disclosures required in relation to the selection of accounting
policies, or accounting for changes in accounting estimates and errors. Accounting
policies that relate to statutory accounting requirements are disclosed in the same
manner as other accounting policies.

3.3.6 Changes since the 20452016/46-17 Code

There have been no changes to the requirements of the accounting policies, changes in
accounting estimates and errors section of the Code since the 206152016/16-17 Code.




3.4 PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.4.1 Introduction

Authorities shall prepare financial statements in accordance with IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements, IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 8 Operating Segments,
as adapted by this section of the Code.

IPSAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements is based on IAS 1, and IPSAS 2 Cash
Flow Statements is based on IAS 7. These standards provide additional guidance for
public sector bodies.

Adaptation for the public sector context

IAS 1 specifies the information to be included in the financial statements, but does not
prescribe a format. IAS 1 also specifies information that must be disclosed either on the
face of the financial statements or in the notes to the financial statements. IAS 1
permits the terminology used to be adapted to suit the reporting entity.

The Code adapts the requirements of IAS 1 by specifying the format of the statements,
disclosures and terminology that are appropriate for local authorities. In doing so, the
Code adopts the interpretation of IAS 1 included in IPSAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements that ‘function of expenses’ is equivalent to a service analysis. The Code
adopts the principle of specifying the minimum level of detail for the financial statements,
whilst permitting authorities to include more detail where it is appropriate to do so.

Where an authority prepares Group Accounts, the Code requires the authority to prepare
authority-only accounts and Group Accounts incorporating all financial statements.
Authorities may elect to present the Group Accounts alongside the authority-only
accounts (ie a columnar approach) or as separate statements. An authority need not
apply the same approach to each statement.

3.4.2 Accounting Requirements

Definitions
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits.

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value.

Cash flows are inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents.

Financing activities are activities that result in changes in the size and composition of
the principal, received from or repaid to external providers of finance.
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Impracticable. Applying a requirement is impracticable when the authority cannot
apply it after making every reasonable effort to do so.

Investing activities are the acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other
investments not included in cash equivalents.

Material. Omissions or misstatements of items are material if they could, individually or
collectively, influence the decisions or assessments of users made on the basis of the
financial statements. Materiality depends on the nature or size of the omission or
misstatement judged in the surrounding circumstances. The nature or size of the item,
or a combination of both, could be the determining factor.

Notes contain information in addition to that presented in the Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure Statement, Movement in Reserves Statement, Balance Sheet and Cash
Flow Statement. Notes provide narrative descriptions or disaggregations of items
presented in those statements and information about items that do not qualify for
recognition in those statements.

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure comprises items of expense and
income (including reclassification adjustments) that are not recognised in the Surplus or
Deficit on the Provision of Services as required or permitted by the Code. Examples
include changes in revaluation surplus; remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability
(asset); and gains and losses on remeasuring available-for-sale financial assets.

Operating activities are the activities of the authority that are not investing or financing
activities.

Reclassification adjustments are amounts reclassified to Surplus or Deficit on the
Provision of Services in the current period that were recognised in Other Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure in the current or previous periods.

Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services is the total of income less expenses,
excluding the components of Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure comprises all components of Surplus
or Deficit on the Provision of Services and of Other Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents shall include bank overdrafts that are an integral part of an
authority’s cash management.

Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments
rather than for investment or other purposes. There are no strict criteria to follow
relating to the nature and maturity of items treated as cash equivalents and as such an
authority shall disclose the policy that it adopts in determining the composition of cash
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equivalents.

Financial statements

One of the objectives of financial statements is to provide information about the financial
position, financial performance and cash flows of an authority that is useful to a wide
range of users in making and evaluating decisions about the allocation of resources.
Specifically, the objectives of financial reporting in the public sector should be to provide
information useful for decision making, and to demonstrate the accountability of the
authority for the resources entrusted to it.

A complete set of financial statements comprises:

a) Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for the period

b) Movement in Reserves Statement for the period

c) Balance Sheet as at the end of the period

d) Cash Flow Statement for the period

e) notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information

f) comparative information in respect of the preceding period as specified in
paragraphs 3.4.2.30 and 38A of IAS 1

g) Balance Sheet as at the beginning of the preceding period (ie a third Balance Sheet)
when an authority applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a
retrospective restatement of items in its financial statements, or when it reclassifies
items in its financial statements in accordance with paragraphs 40A to 40D of IAS 1,
and

h) statements, or other financial reports or disclosures which are required by statute to
be included in the Statements of Account for the period, where relevant to the
authority.

Authorities shall present with equal prominence all of the financial statements in a
complete set of financial statements. The order of the first four statements above is
recommended but not required. Authorities shall present the statements in the order
that best enables their users to understand the financial statements.

Financial statements shall give a true and fair presentation of the financial position,
financial performance and cash flows of an authority. A true and fair presentation
requires the faithful representation of the effects of transactions, other events and
conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities,
income and expenses set out in the Code. Compliance with the Code is presumed to
result in financial statements that achieve a true and fair presentation.

A fair presentation also requires an authority:

a) to select and apply accounting policies in accordance with section 3.3 of the Code
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and
IAS 8. Paragraph 3.3.2.10 sets out the guidance that an authority’s management
considers in the absence of an IFRS that specifically applies to an item

b) to presentinformation, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides
relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information

c) to provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in
the Code is insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular
transactions, other events and conditions on the authority’s financial position and
financial performance.

An authority cannot rectify inappropriate accounting policies either by disclosure of the
accounting policies used or by notes or explanatory material.

In the extremely rare circumstances in which management concludes that compliance
with a requirement of the Code would be so misleading that it would prevent the financial
statements achieving a true and fair view, an authority shall depart from that
requirement. In doing so, an authority shall disclose-that:

a) that management has concluded that the financial statements present a true and fair
view of the authority’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows

b) that it has complied with the Code, except that it has departed from a particular
requirement to achieve a true and fair presentation

c) the nature of the departure, including the treatment that the Code would require, the
reason why that treatment would be so misleading in the circumstances that it would
prevent the financial statements presenting a true and fair view, and the treatment
adopted, and

d) for each period presented, the financial effect of the departure on each item in the
financial statements that would have been reported in complying with the
requirement.

Local authorities that can only be discontinued under statutory prescription Alecal
autheority'sfinancial-statements-shall be-prepared_their financial —enstatements on a
going concern basis_of accounting; that is, the aeceunts-financial statements sheuld-shall
be prepared on the assumption that the functions of the authority will continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future. Transfers of services under
combinations of public sector bodies (such as local government reorganisation) do not
negate the presumption ef-geing-concernthat the financial statements shall be prepared
on a going concern basis of accounting._Other bodies that prepare financial statements

in accordance with the Code that may be discontinued without statutory prescription shall
follow the going concern reporting requirements in 1AS 1.

A local authority shall prepare its financial statements, except for cash flow information,
using the accrual basis of accounting, ie the authority recognises items as assets,
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liabilities, income and expenses (the elements of financial statements) when they satisfy
the definitions and recognition criteria for those elements in the Code.

A local authority shall present separately each material class of similar items. A local
authority shall present separately items of a dissimilar nature or function unless they are
immaterial.

When applying this section of the Code and other sections of the Code or IFRSs an
authority shall decide, taking into consideration all relevant facts and circumstances, how
it aggregates information in the financial statements, which include the notes. A local
authority shall not reduce the understandability of its financial statements by obscuring
material information with immaterial information or by aggregating material items that
have different natures or functions.

Some sections of the Code or IFRSs specify information that is required to be included in
the financial statements, which include the notes. A local authority need not provide a
specific disclosure required by the Code if the information resulting from that disclosure
is not material. This is the case even if the section of the Code or IFRS contains a list of
specific requirements or describes them as minimum requirements. An authority shall
also consider whether to provide additional disclosures when compliance with the
specific requirements in another section of the Code or IFRS is insufficient to enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact of particular transactions, other
events and conditions on the authority’s financial position and financial performance.

A local authority shall not offset assets and liabilities or income and expenses, unless
required or permitted by the Code.

A local authority shall present a complete set of financial statements (including
comparative information) annually.

Except when the Code permits or requires otherwise, a local authority shall present
comparative information in respect of the preceding period for all amounts reported in the
current period’s financial statements. A local authority shall apply paragraphs 38A to
38D of IAS 1, as relevant to its circumstances and as appropriate to ensure a true and
fair presentation of its financial statements.

If a local authority changes the presentation or classification of items in its financial
statements, the authority shall reclassify comparative amounts unless reclassification is
impracticable. When comparative amounts are reclassified, the authority shall disclose
(including as at the beginning of the preceding period):

a) the nature of the reclassification
b) the amount of each item or class of items that is reclassified, and

c) the reason for the reclassification.

When it is impracticable to reclassify comparative amounts, an authority shall disclose:



a) the reason for not reclassifying the amounts, and

b) the nature of the adjustments that would have been made if the amounts had been
reclassified.

34233 A local authority shall retain the presentation and classification of items in the financial
statements from one period to the next unless:

a) itis apparent, following a significant change in the nature of the authority’s
operations or a review of its financial statements, that another presentation or
classification would be more appropriate having regard to the criteria for the
selection and application of accounting policies in the Code, or

b) the Code requires a change in presentation.

3423 A local authority shall present Group Accounts in addition to its single entity financial
statements where required by chapter nine of the Code.

Structure and content of financial statements

34235 A local authority shall clearly identify the financial statements and distinguish them from
other information in the same published document.

34236 An authority shall clearly identify each financial statement and the notes. In addition, a
local authority shall display the following information prominently, and repeat it when
necessary for the information presented to be understandable:

a) the name of the authority

b) the date of the end of the reporting period or the period covered by the set of
financial statements or notes, and

c) the level of rounding used in presenting amounts in the financial statements.

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

34237 A local authority shall present a Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
Where a local authority presents Group Accounts as well as authority-only accounts, the
authority shall present either separate Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statements for the authority-only accounts and the Group Accounts, or a single
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement showing both the authority-only and
group transactions. An authority shall include a description of the purpose of the
statement, either in the Narrative Report or on the face of the statement (or both). The
following description is recommended but not mandatory.

This statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance
with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from
taxation [or rents]. Authorities raise taxation [and rents] to cover expenditure in
accordance with statutory requirements; this may be different from the accounting cost.
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The taxation position is shown in both the Expenditure and Funding Analysis and the
Movement in Reserves Statement.

The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement shall include line items that
present the following amounts for the period:

a)

b)

d)

9)

h)

)

Gross expenditure, gross income and net expenditure of continuing operations,
analysed by service. Authorities shall present the service analysis on the basis of
the organisational structure (including, where relevant, corporate support services)
under which local authorities operate and shall include costs for those services in
accordance with paragraph 3.4.2.39 below.

Other operating expenditure (comprising precepts (paid to non-principal authorities
in England and all authorities in Wales) and levies; payments to the Housing Capital
Receipts Pool; and gains or losses on the disposal of non-current assets).

Financing and investment income and expenditure (comprising interest payable and
similar charges; net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset);
remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset) for long-term employee
benefits recognised in accordance with section 6.2;* interest income; income,
expenditure, and changes in the fair values of investment properties; the surplus or
deficit of trading operations which are not allocated back to services; and other
investment income).

Surplus or deficit on discontinued operations (such a surplus or deficit may need to
include an appropriate apportionment of the total cost of a service including an
appropriate allocation of overheads).

Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure (comprising council tax
income, NDR distribution, non-domestic rates income and expenditure, unringfenced
government grants, and all capital grants and contributions).

Surplus or deficit on the provision of services.

Associates and joint ventures accounted for on an equity basis (Group Accounts
only).

Tax expenses (Group Accounts only; taxation of group entities and reporting
authority’s share of taxation of associates and joint ventures shall be shown on
separate lines).

Group surplus or deficit (Group Accounts only).

Surplus or deficit on revaluation of non-current assets.

15

Note that the recognition of these remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset) is
for long-term employee benefits and not post-employment benefits, which are recognised in line

m).
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k) Impairment losses on non-current assets charged to the revaluation reserve.
[)  Surplus or deficit on revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets.
m) Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset).

n) Share of other comprehensive income and expenditure of associates and joint
ventures (Group Accounts only).

0) Other comprehensive income and expenditure.

p) Total comprehensive income and expenditure.

The income and expenditure allocated to services should reflect the way in which an
authority operates or manages its services. Each service segment shall include the
appropriate charges for the use of its non-current assets under sections 2.3, 4.1, 4.5 and
4.7 of the Code eg depreciation, impairment, impairment reversals etc. Each service
segment shall also include appropriate employee benefit accrued costs under sections
6.1 to 6.4 of the Code.

Where a local authority presents Group Accounts, the authority shall disclose separately
those amounts of Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services and Other
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure that are attributable to the local authority and
those that are attributable to any minority interest, eg impairment of goodwill, share of
profits of subsidiaries.

A local authority shall present, either in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement or in the notes, an analysis of the amounts included in items b), c) and e) of
the statement.

When an authority presents subtotals in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement it shall do so in accordance with paragraphs 85 and 85A and B of IAS 1.

A local authority shall disclose information for the authority on the nature of expenses,
including depreciation and amortisation expense and employee benefits expense. It
may choose to use the following headings as applicable to the authority:

a) fees, charges and other service income

b) surplus or deficit on associates and joint ventures

c) interest and investment income

d) income from council tax, non-domestic rates, district rate income
e) government grants and contributions

f) employee benefits expenses

g) other service expenses

h) support service recharges

i) depreciation, amortisation and impairment
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j) interest payments

k) precepts and levies

[) payments to Housing Capital Receipts Pool
m) gain or loss on disposal of non-current assets

n) surplus or deficit on the provision of services.

An authority shall not present any items of income or expense as extraordinary items,
either in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement or in the notes.

Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services

An authority shall recognise all items of income and expense in a period in Surplus or
Deficit on the Provision of Services unless the Code requires or permits otherwise.

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure for the period

Where an authority prepares Group Accounts, the authority shall disclose the amount of
income tax relating to each component of Other Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure, including reclassification adjustments, either in the Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure Statement or in the notes.

Where a local authority is required to recognise amounts in Other Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure for the period, which include amounts that may be subsequently
reclassified in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, it shall include:

a) items of other comprehensive income and expenditure (excluding amounts in
paragraph b)), classified by nature and grouped into those that, in accordance with
other sections of the Code or IFRSs:

i) will not be reclassified subsequently to the Surplus of Deficit on the Provision of
Services, and

i) will be reclassified subsequently to the Surplus of Deficit on the Provision of
Services when specific conditions are met.

b) the share of the other comprehensive income and expenditure of associates and
joint ventures accounted for using the equity method, separated into the share of
items that, in accordance with other sections of the Code or other IFRSs:

i)  will not be reclassified subsequently to the Surplus of Deficit on the Provision of
Services, and

i) will be reclassified subsequently to the Surplus of Deficit on the Provision of
Services when specific conditions are met.

An example of amounts that may be reclassified subsequently in the Surplus or Deficit
on the Provision of Services in local authorities is gains or losses on available-for-sale
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financial assets.

For Group Accounts, an authority may present components of Other Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure either:

a) net of related tax effects, or

b) before related tax effects with one amount shown for the aggregate amount of
income tax relating to those components.

If an authority elects alternative b), it shall allocate the tax between the items that might
be reclassified subsequently to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services and
those that will not be reclassified subsequently to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision
of Services, where Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure reflects these
groupings in accordance with paragraph 3.4.2.47.

An authority shall disclose reclassification adjustments relating to components of Other
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.

Information to be presented either in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement or in the notes

When items of income or expense are material, an authority shall disclose their nature
and amount separately. Examples include:

a) disposals of items of property, plant and equipment
b) disposals of investments, and

c) other reversals of provisions.

Movement in Reserves Statement

A local authority shall present a Movement in Reserves Statement. Where a local
authority presents Group Accounts as well as authority-only accounts, the authority shall
present either separate Movement in Reserves Statements for the authority-only
accounts and the Group Accounts, or a single Movement in Reserves Statement
showing both the authority-only and group reserves.

An authority shall include a description of the purpose of the statement, either in the
Narrative Report or on the face of the statement (or both). The following description is
recommended but not mandatory.

This statement shows the movement from the start of the year to the end on the different
reserves held by the authority, analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (ie those that can be
applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other ‘unusable reserves’. The
Movement in Reserves Statement shows how the movements in year of the authority’s
reserves are broken down between gains and losses incurred in accordance with
generally accepted accounting practices and the statutory adjustments required to return
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to the amounts chargeable to council tax [or rents] for the year. The Net
Increase/Decrease line shows the statutory General Fund Balance and Housing
Revenue Account Balance movements in the year following those adjustments.

The Movement in Reserves Statement shall show, for each classification of reserves:

a) balance as at the end of the previous reporting period

b) total comprehensive income and expenditure

c) adjustments between Group Accounts and authority accounts (Group Accounts only)
d) netincrease or decrease before transfers (Group Accounts only)

e) adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under statutory provisions
f) increase or decrease in year

g) balance as at the end of the current reporting period.

A local authority shall present, either in the Movement in Reserves Statement or in the
notes, an analysis of the amounts included in items b), c) and e) of the statement. The
analysis of item e) shall include the following transactions where relevant, but these
transactions do not have to be individually identified in the analysis (authorities shall refer
to paragraph 3.4.2.26 and 3.4.2.27 when preparing this disclosure):

. depreciation, impairment and revaluation losses (charged to Surplus or Deficit on
the Provision of Services) of non-current assets

. amortisation of intangible assets

. movements in the fair value of investment properties

. capital grants, contributions and income in relation to donated assets credited to
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

. revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute

. costs of disposal funded from capital receipts

. net gain or loss on sale or derecognition of non-current assets and non-current

assets held for sale

. amount by which finance costs calculated in accordance with the Code are
different from the amount of finance costs calculated in accordance with statutory
requirements

. amount by which pension costs calculated in accordance with the Code (ie in
accordance with 1AS 19) are different from the contributions due under the
pension scheme regulations

. amount by which council tax income, non-domestic rate income and residual
community charge adjustment included in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement is different from the amount taken to the General Fund in
accordance with regulations (England only)
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. amounts debited or credited to the Business Rate Supplements Revenue Account

. statutory provision for repayment of debt

. capital expenditure charged to the General Fund Balance

. transfers in respect of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) receipts

. transfer from Capital Receipts Reserve equal to the amount payable into the
Housing Capital Receipts Pool (in England and Wales only)

. any voluntary provision for repayment of debt

. net transfer to or from earmarked reserves required by legislation

. transfers between other reserves required by legislation.

The classification of reserves presented in the Movement in Reserves Statement shall
include the following items; authorities may choose to present additional items on the
face of the statement:

a) General Fund Balance

b) Housing Revenue Account Balance

c) Major Repairs Reserve (England and Wales)

d) Revenue statutory funds (Scotland)

e) Capital Receipts Reserve (England and Wales); Capital statutory funds (Scotland)
f)  Capital Grants Unapplied Account

g) Total usable reserves

h) Unusable reserves

i) Total reserves of the authority

J)  Authority’s share of the reserves of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
(Group Accounts only)

k) Total reserves (Group Accounts only).

Fhis-The analysis in paragraph 3.4.2.55 shall present amounts held for capital purposes
separately from those held for revenue purposes, and shall separately identify the total
reserves held by schools either in the Statement er-or in the Notes.

A local authority shall present in a disclosure note, an analysis of the movements in its
earmarked reserves showing opening and closing balances and movements in year.
Note that this analysis shall have regard to paragraphs 3.4.2.26 and 3.4.2.27.

Balance Sheet

A local authority shall present a Balance Sheet. Where a local authority presents Group
Accounts as well as authority-only accounts, the authority shall present either separate
Balance Sheets for the authority-only accounts and the Group Accounts, or a single



statement showing both the authority-only and group Balance Sheets. An authority shall
include a description of the purpose of the statement, either in the Narrative Report or on
the face of the statement (or both). The following description is recommended but not
mandatory.

The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and
liabilities recognised by the authority. The net assets of the authority (assets less
liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the authority. Reserves are reported in
two categories. The first category of reserves are usable reserves, ie those reserves
that the authority may use to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent
level of reserves and any statutory limitations on their use (for example the Capital
Receipts Reserve that may only be used to fund capital expenditure or repay debt). The
second category of reserves are those that the authority is not able to use to provide
services. This category of reserves includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and
losses (for example the Revaluation Reserve), where amounts would only become
available to provide services if the assets are sold; and reserves that hold timing
differences shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line ‘Adjustments between
accounting basis and funding basis under regulations’.

34259 The Balance Sheet shall include line items that present the following amounts:
a) property, plant and equipment
b) heritage assets
c) Highways Network Asset (for 2016/172017/18)

d) investment property (including held for sale* where the authority has opted to
disclose this as a separate category)

e) intangible assets (including goodwill for Group Accounts only)*
f) assets held for sale*
g) investments (including net pensions asset)*

h) investments in associates and joint ventures (in Scotland where an authority has
negative balances in respect of individual associates, the authority shall include any
such associates with a net negative balance in a separate ‘liabilities in associates’
line)

i) debtors*

j) deferred tax asset (Group Accounts only)
k) long-term assets (sub-total)

[) inventories

m) cash and cash equivalents

n) current tax asset (Group Accounts only)
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0) current assets (sub-total)

b snden

&p) borrowing*

¥q) creditors*

sr) provisions*

ts) liabilities in disposal groups*

df) current tax liability (Group Accounts only)
vu) current liabilities (sub-total)

wV) other long-term liabilities (comprising net pensions liability, deferred liabilities and
any other long-term liabilities)

*%w) Donated Assets Account*

yx) Grants Receipts in Advance*

zy) deferred tax liability (Group Accounts only)

aaz)long-term liabilities (sub-total)

abaa) net assets (total)

acab) usable reserves (including group reserves where appropriate)
adac) unusable reserves (including group reserves where appropriate)
aead) total reserves (total).

*  Asterisked items are shown only once in the list, but should be presented as current
and/or non-current items in accordance with their classification (see paragraphs
3.4.2.62 (assets) and 3.4.2.63 (liabilities) of the Code).

An authority shall present other lines (for example, biological assets) where relevant.
This might also require disaggregation of line items.

An authority shall present additional line items (including by disaggregating the line items
listed in paragraph 3.4.2.59) when such presentation is relevant to an understanding of
the authority’s financial position. For example, an authority may separately disclose one
or more categories of property, plant and equipment. When an authority presents
subtotals (in addition to the subtotals specified in paragraph 3.4.2.59) in the Balance
Sheet it shall do so in accordance with paragraph 55A of IAS 1.

Current assets

An authority shall classify an asset as current when:

a) it expects to realise the asset, or intends to sell or consume it, in its normal operating
cycle (the normal operating cycle for a local authority shall be assumed to be 12
months, however the normal operating cycle of other group members may be



34263

34264

34265

different)
b) it holds the asset primarily for the purpose of trading
C) it expects to realise the asset within 12 months after the reporting period, or

d) the assetis cash or a cash equivalent unless the asset is restricted from being
exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.

An authority shall classify all other assets as long term.

Current liabilities

An authority shall classify a liability as current when:

a) it expects to settle the liability in its normal operating cycle (the normal operating
cycle for a local authority shall be assumed to be 12 months, however the normal
operating cycle of other group members may be different)

b) it holds the liability primarily for the purpose of trading
c) the liability is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period, or

d) the authority does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability
for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Terms of a liability that could, at
the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the issue of equity
instruments do not affect its classification.

An authority shall classify all other liabilities as long term.

Information to be presented either in the Balance Sheet or in the notes

An authority shall disclose, either in the Balance Sheet or in the notes, further
sub-classifications of the line items presented, classified in a manner appropriate to the
authority. Examples include:

a) items of property, plant and equipment are disaggregated into classes

b) receivables are disaggregated into amounts receivable from trade customers,
receivables from related parties, prepayments and other amounts, and

c) provisions are disaggregated into provisions for employee benefits and other items.

An authority shall disclose in the Balance Sheet, in the Movement in Reserves
Statement, or in the notes a description of the nature and purpose of each reserve, the
carrying amount of each reserve as at the Balance Sheet date and the movement in the
reserve in the period. An authority shall present amounts held for capital purposes
separately from those held for revenue purposes, and shall separately identify the total
reserves held by schools.
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Cash Flow Statement

A local authority shall present a Cash Flow Statement. Where a local authority presents
Group Accounts as well as authority-only accounts, the authority shall present either
separate Cash Flow Statements for the single entity financial statements and the Group
Accounts, or a single Cash Flow Statement showing both authority-only and group cash
flows. An authority shall include a description of the purpose of the statement, either in
the Narrative Report or on the face of the statement (or both). The following description
is recommended but not mandatory.

The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the
authority during the reporting period. The statement shows how the authority generates
and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing
and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is
a key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the authority are funded by way of
taxation and grant income or from the recipients of services provided by the authority.
Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made for
resources which are intended to contribute to the authority’s future service delivery.

Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash
flows by providers of capital (ie borrowing) to the authority.

An authority shall report cash flows from operating activities prepared using either:

a) the direct method, whereby major classes of gross cash receipts and gross cash
payments are disclosed, or

b) the indirect method, whereby net Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services is
adjusted for the effects of transactions of a non-cash nature, any deferrals or
accruals of past or future operating cash receipts or payments, and items of revenue
or expense associated with investing or financing cash flows.

Cash Flow Statement — direct method

As a minimum, the Cash Flow Statement prepared using the direct method shall include
line items that present the following amounts:

a) operating activities

b) investing activities

c) financing activities

d) netincrease or decrease in cash and cash equivalents

e) cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period

f) cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period.

The amounts to be included (where relevant) in lines a), b) and c) above are as follows:



Operating activities

a) taxation

b) grants

c) housing rents (housing authorities only)

d) sales of goods and rendering of services

e) interest received

f)  other receipts from operating activities

g) cash inflows generated from operating activities (sub-total)
h) cash paid to and on behalf of employees

i) housing benefit paid out (housing authorities only)

j) national non-domestic rate payments to national pool (billing authorities in Scotland
and Wales only)

k) precepts paid (billing authorities only)

I) payments to the Capital Receipts Pool (in England and Wales only)
m) cash paid to suppliers of goods and services

n) interest paid

0) other payments for operating activities

p) cash outflows generated from operating activities (sub-total)

g) net cash flows from operating activities.

Investing activities

a) purchase of property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible
assets

b) purchase of short-term (not considered to be cash equivalents) and long-term
investments (includes investments in associates, joint ventures and subsidiaries)

c) other payments for investing activities

d) proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, non-current assets held for
sale, investment property and intangible assets

e) proceeds from short-term (not considered to be cash equivalents) and long-term
investments (includes investments in associates, joint ventures and subsidiaries)

f)  other receipts from investing activities

g) netcash flows from investing activities.

Financing activities

a) cash receipts of short- and long-term borrowing
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b) other receipts from financing activities

c) cash payments for the reduction of the outstanding liability relating to finance leases
and on-Balance-Sheet service concession arrangements (PFI) contracts

d) repayments of short- and long-term borrowing
e) other payments for financing activities

f)  net cash flows from financing activities.

A local authority shall consider presenting the detail of the amounts of major classes of
gross cash receipts and gross cash payments arising from operating, investing and
financing activities (see paragraph 3.4.2.69) in the Cash Flow Statement based on the
direct method where such presentation is relevant to an understanding of the authority’s
cash flow position, or otherwise in the notes.

Cash flows from interest and dividends received and paid (dividends paid will only be
applicable to Group Accounts) shall be disclosed separately either in the Cash Flow
Statement or in the notes and be classified as operating activities. In the rare event that
cash flows of a local authority (or Group Accounts) arise from transactions in a foreign
currency, the cash flows shall be recorded in pounds sterling by applying to the foreign
currency amount the exchange rate at the time of the cash flow.

Cash Flow Statement —indirect method

Where an authority presents a Cash Flow Statement prepared using the indirect method,
as a minimum the statement shall include line items that present the following amounts:

a) netsurplus or deficit on the provision of services
b) adjust net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non-cash movements

c) adjust for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the provision of services that
are investing and financing activities

d) net cash flows from operating activities

e) investing activities

f)  financing activities

g) netincrease or decrease in cash and cash equivalents

h) cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period

i) cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period.

The amounts to be included (where relevant) in lines b), c), e) and f) above are as
follows:

Adjust net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non-cash movements

a) depreciation



b) impairment and downward valuations

c) amortisation

d) increase/decrease in impairment for bad debts
e) increase/decrease in creditors

f) increase/decrease in debtors

g) increase/decrease ininventories (stock)

h) movement in pension liability

i) carrying amount of non-current assets and non-current assets held for sale, sold or
derecognised

j)  other non-cash items charged to the net surplus or deficit on the provision of
services.

Adjust for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the provision of services that are
investing and financing activities

a) proceeds from short-term (not considered to be cash equivalents) and long-term
investments (includes investments in associates, joint ventures and subsidiaries)

b) proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, investment property and
intangible assets

c) any other items for which the cash effects are investing or financing cash flows.

Investing activities

a) purchase of property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible
assets

b) purchase of short-term (not considered to be cash equivalents) and long-term
investments (includes investments in associates, joint ventures and subsidiaries)

c) other payments for investing activities

d) proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, non-current assets held for
sale, investment property and intangible assets

e) proceeds from short-term (not considered to be cash equivalents) and long-term
investments (includes investments in associates, joint ventures and subsidiaries)

f)  other receipts from investing activities

g) net cash flows from investing activities.
Financing activities

a) cash receipts of short- and long-term borrowing
b) other receipts from financing activities

c) cash payments for the reduction of the outstanding liability relating to a finance lease
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and on-Balance-Sheet service concession arrangements (PFI) contracts
d) repayments of short- and long-term borrowing
e) other payments for financing activities

f)  net cash flows from financing activities.

A local authority shall consider presenting the detail of the amounts of major classes of
gross cash receipts and gross cash payments arising from operating, investing and
financing activities (see paragraph 3.4.2.73) in the Cash Flow Statement based on the
indirect method where such presentation is relevant to an understanding of the
authority’s cash flow position, or otherwise in the notes.

Cash flows from interest and dividends received and paid (dividends paid will only be
applicable to Group Accounts) shall be disclosed separately either in the Cash Flow
Statement or in the notes and be classified as operating activities. In the rare event that
cash flows of a local authority (or Group Accounts) arise from transactions in a foreign
currency, the cash flows shall be recorded in pounds sterling by applying to the foreign
currency amount the exchange rate at the time of the cash flow.

Cash Flow Statement — general

In the rare event that cash flows arise from obtaining and losing control of subsidiaries or
other businesses, authorities should refer to IAS 7.

For cash flow purposes, bank overdrafts are shown separately from cash and cash
equivalents where they are not an integral part of an authority’s cash management.
Where they are an integral part of an authority’s cash management (ie the bank balance
often fluctuates from being positive to overdrawn), they are shown as part of cash and
cash equivalents.

Where an authority prepares Group Accounts, the authority shall also include (where
relevant) lines in relation to operating activities — preference dividend paid to minority
interest, equity dividends paid, income tax paid; investing activities — net overdraft
acquired with subsidiary, net cash acquired with subsidiary; financing activities —
purchase/redemption of share capital, issue of share capital and any other lines that may
be relevant, and disclosed separately where material in the Cash Flow Statement or in
the notes. Cash flows between the reporting authority and an associate or joint venture
should be included under the appropriate cash flow heading for the activity giving rise to
the cash flow. None of the other cash flows of an associate or joint venture should be
included in the Cash Flow Statement of the Group Accounts.

Operating, investing and financing transactions that do not require the use of cash and
cash equivalents shall be excluded from an authority’s (or group) Cash Flow Statement.
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3428190 The impact on the Cash Flow Statement of the accounting requirements in England for
council tax and NDR is shown in section 2.8 of the Code.

Cash Flow Statement Disclosures

342801 An authority (and the Group Accounts) shall-disclese:

1) disclose the components of cash and cash equivalents in the Cash Flow Statement
or in the notes.

2) provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash
flows and non-cash changes (see paragraphs 44B to 44E of 1AS 7 for guidance on
this disclosure).

Notes to the financial statements

34282 A local authority shall present notes to the financial statements. Where a local authority
presents Group Accounts as well as authority-only accounts, the authority shall present
either separate notes to the financial statements for the authority-only accounts and the
Group Accounts, or notes to the financial statements showing both authority-only and
group information. The notes shall:

a) presentinformation about the basis of preparation of the financial statements and
the specific accounting policies used

b) disclose the information required by the Code that is not presented elsewhere in the
financial statements, and

c) provide information that is not presented elsewhere in the financial statements, but is
relevant to an understanding of any of them.

34283 An authority shall, as far as practicable, present notes in a systematic manner. In
determining a systematic manner, an authority shall consider the effect on the
understandability and comparability of its financial statements. An authority shall
cross-reference each item in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement,
Movement in Reserves Statement, Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement to any
related information in the notes.

34284 Examples of systematic ordering or grouping of the notes include:

a) giving prominence to the areas of its activities that the authority considers to be most
relevant to an understanding of its financial performance and financial position, such
as grouping together information about particular activities

b) grouping together information about items measured similarly, such as assets
measured at current value, or
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c) following the order of the line items in the statement(s) of the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement and the Balance Sheet.

An authority shall disclose its significant accounting policies comprising:
a) the measurement basis (or bases) used in preparing the financial statements, and

b) the other accounting policies used that are relevant to an understanding of the
financial statements.

An authority shall disclose, along with its significant accounting policies or other notes,
the judgements, apart from those involving estimations_(see paragraph 3.4.2.88), that
management has made in the process of applying the authority’s accounting policies and
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements _(for further guidance see also paragraphs 124 and 125 of IAS 1).

i Individual
sections of this Code set out the accounting policies relevant to local authorities. In
deciding whether a particular accounting policy should be disclosed as a significant
accounting policy in its financial statements, a local authority considers whether

disclosure would assist users in understanding how transactions, other events and

conditions are reflected in reported financial performance and financial position.-

normally expected by the users of local authority financial statements. Some sections of
the Code or IFRSs specifically require disclosure of particular accounting policies,
including choices made by management between different policies they allow, and it will
often be useful to reflect the choice made by the authority. It is also appropriate to
disclose each significant accounting policy that is not specifically required by a section of
the Code or IFRSs but the authority selects and applies in accordance with section 3.3
and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.-Fe-assist
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A local authority shall disclose information about the assumptions it makes about the
future, and other major sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. In respect of those
assets and liabilities, the notes shall include details of:

a) their nature, and

b) their carrying amount as at the end of the reporting period.

These disclosures are not required for assets and liabilities measured at fair value based
on a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability. Such fair values
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might change materially within the next financial year but these changes would not arise
from assumptions or other sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period.

Segment reporting

The aim of segment reporting is to disclose information to enable users of a local
authority’s financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the
activities in which it engages and the economic environments in which it operates.

An authority shall present information on reportable segments within the notes, where
necessary. However, the service analysis in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement and the segmental analysis within the Expenditure and Funding
Analysis (see paragraph 3.4.2.97) should fulfill a local authority’s segmental reporting
requirements. Where this is not the case a local authority shall add additional disclosure
notes to meet the requirements of paragraphs 3.4.2.90 to 3.4.2.100. Where relevant, a
local authority shall also provide segmental information for the Group Accounts.

34.2.92 Reportable segments shall be based on an authority’s internal management reporting, for

34293

34294

34295

example, departments, directorates or portfolios. Where more than one presentation is
used for internal management reporting, the authority shall select the presentation most
commonly used by the individual or group within the authority that has the most significant
role in allocating resources and assessing the performance of services (for example,
cabinet, board or senior directors) when considering the allocation of financial resources.
Segments may include support services. Normally for local authorities the judgments
made by management on aggregation of segments arise as a result of their internal
management reporting requirements and therefore disclosure of these judgments should
not be onerous. This should be covered by including a description of the aggregation of
the operating segments.

An authority need not report all segments. A segment shall be reported where its
expenditure is 10% or more of the gross expenditure within the net expenditure of
continuing operations; or its income is 10% or more of the gross income within the net
expenditure of continuing operations. An authority may report segments that do not
meet these criteria, either individually or combined with other segments.

Where the reportable segments identified by applying the criteria above do not include at
least 75% of the gross expenditure within the net expenditure of continuing operations,
additional segments or combinations of segments shall be treated as reportable
segments until the reportable segments include at least 75% of the gross expenditure
within the net expenditure of continuing operations.

For each reportable segment, an authority shall present an analysis of the income and
expenditure for that segment in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
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(paragraph 3.4.2.38). A segmental analysis is also provided in the Expenditure and
Funding Analysis described in paragraphs 3.4.2.96 and 3.4.2.97. The Expenditure and
Funding Analysis shall be given due prominence in the financial statements in
accordance with the needs of a local authority’s users.

Expenditure and Funding Analysis

A local authority shall include a description of the purpose of the Expenditure and
Funding Analysis in the financial statements and/or the Narrative Report. The following
description is recommended but not mandatory:

The objective of the Expenditure and Funding Analysis is to demonstrate to council tax
[and rent] payers how the funding available to the authority (ie government grants, rents,
council tax and business rates) for the year has been used in providing services in
comparison with those resources consumed or earned by authorities in accordance with
generally accepted accounting practices. The Expenditure and Funding Analysis also
shows how this expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes between the
Council’s directorates [services or departments]. Income and expenditure accounted for
under generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

The Expenditure and Funding Analysis_note shall include three columns 1), II) and III).
These three columns shall present:

I) For income and expenditure chargeable to the General Fund the line items that
present the following amounts for the period:

a) Net expenditure chargeable under statutory funding provisions, analysed by
segment. A local authority shall present this segmental analysis on the basis of
the organisational structure under which it operates (see paragraphs 3.4.2.90 to
3.4.2.95 for provisions on the segmental analysis).

b) Other income and expenditure not charged to services and chargeable to the
General Fund (statutory requirements).

c) Surplus or deficit for the General Fund.

II) The amounts for each of the line items in I) for the period that adjust column I)
amounts to arrive at column I11) (column IlI) amounts are described below). These
adjustments are those that add expenditure or income not chargeable to council tax
or rents and remove transactions which are only chargeable under statutory
provisions and to arrive at the totals in column Ill, and

[I) The net expenditure or, where applicable, income for the equivalent amounts in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement per paragraph 3.4.2.38 with
lines b) to e) aggregated into one line for comparison with the General Fund
position.



The foot of the Expenditure and Funding Analysis shall show the movement for the
period including opening and closing balances on the General Fund. Where an
authority has a Housing Revenue Account these movements shall be split between the
General Fund and the HRA movements or appropriate cross reference shall be made to
those same balances in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

34298 The Expenditure and Funding Analysis will provide a reconciliation of the adjustments
between the authority’s financial performance under the funding position and the Surplus
or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement. A local authority shall present a note to the Expenditure and Funding
Analysis which describes all material reconciling items in column Il):

» The analysis shall include items chargeable to the General Fund that are not
chargeable to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and vice
versa (ie adjustments to add expenditure or income not chargeable to council tax or
rents and the removal of transactions which are only chargeable under statutory
provisions and that reconcile to the relevant lines in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement).

= A local authority may wish to use the items listed in paragraph 3.4.2.54 as they apply
to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis to ensure that they have identified the main
statutory reversals. However, all of these items do not need to be listed separately
in the analysis and may be aggregated, as appropriate.

3429 The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the Expenditure and
Funding Analysis both provide a measure of surplus or deficit in accordance with
paragraph 23 of IFRS 8. If the Expenditure and Funding Analysis column I) a) includes
the following items then they shall be reported on a segmental basis:

a) revenues from external customers

b) revenues from transactions with other operating segments of the authority
C) interest revenue

d) interest expense

e) depreciation and amortisation

f)  material items of income and expense disclosed in accordance with paragraph
3.4.2.50

g) alocal authority’s interest in the profit or loss of associates and joint ventures
accounted for by the equity method

h) income tax expense or income, and

i)  material non-cash items other than depreciation and amortisation.

342100 If an authority reports segment assets and/or liabilities internally, it shall present an
analysis of segment assets and/or liabilities in the financial statements. This analysis
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shall be on the same basis as that used to report internally (ie assets and/or liabilities
that are not reported on a segment basis internally are not presented in the analysis in
the financial statements). Where an analysis of segment assets and/or liabilities is
presented in the financial statements, the authority shall also present a reconciliation of
segment assets and/or liabilities to the total assets and/or liabilities included in the
Balance Sheet.

Transition

The new reporting formats and requirements for the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement, the Movement in Reserves Statement and the Expenditure and
Funding Analysis shall be reported retrospectively from 1 April 2016. These new
requirements require full retrospective restatement in accordance with section 3.3,
paragraph 3.4.2.31 and IAS 1.

3.4.3 Statutory Accounting Requirements

There are no statutory accounting requirements regarding the presentation of financial
statements in England, Scotland and Wales. In Northern Ireland, the format of the
statements is prescribed by the Department for the Environment, and authorities should
follow those requirements.

3.4.4 Disclosure Requirements

Authorities shall disclose the information in the financial statements as required by this
section. Having regard to paragraph 3.4.2.27 of this section of the Code, which permits
authorities not to provide a specific disclosure if information is not material, authorities
shall disclose the notes as set out in the other sections of the Code in addition to the
following:

1) The nature of any acquired or discontinued operations and details of any
outstanding liabilities in respect of discontinued operations.

2) The nature, turnover, and surpluses/deficits of any significant trading operation and
for Scottish local authorities the cumulative surplus or deficit for the current year and
two preceding financial years in accordance with the requirements of the Local
Government in Scotland Act 2003.

3) The nature and amount of any significant agency income and expenditure.

4) Sufficient information on any partnership schemes under Section 75 of the National
Health Service Act 2006, under the Community Care and Health (Scotland) Act 2002
and under Section 33 of the National Health Service (Wales) Act 2006 to allow for
the understanding of the authority’s financial affairs. As a minimum this includes
the purpose of the partnership, the identities of partner bodies, the gross income and
expenditure of the partnership and the authority’s contribution.
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6)
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8)

The totals of members’ allowances (and expenses) paid in the year. In Scotland all
elements of members remuneration and reimbursement of actual expenditure under
the heads of salaries, allowances and expenses.

Number of exit packages agreed (grouped in rising bands of £20,000 up to
£100,000, and bands of £50,000 thereafter), analysed between compulsory
redundancies and other departures. Authorities shall also disclose the total cost of
packages agreed in each band. Bands shall be combined where this is necessary
to ensure that individual exit packages cannot be identified (except where disclosure
of payments to the individuals is required elsewhere under regulations). Exit
packages include compulsory and voluntary redundancy costs, pension
contributions in respect of added years, ex-gratia payments and other departure
costs (England, Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland). Scottish local authorities
are required to include the disclosure of exit packages in the remuneration report.
The following amounts for the year:

a) Fees payable to auditors appointed under the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014 with regard to external audit services carried out by the appointed auditor
under the Code of Audit Practice prepared by the Comptroller and Auditor
General in accordance with Section 19 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014.

b) Fees payable to the Auditor General for Wales with regard to external audit
services carried out under the Code of Audit Practice prepared by the Auditor
General for Wales.

c) Fees payable to the Auditor General for Wales in respect of statutory inspection.

d) Fees payable to the Auditor General for Wales for the certification of grant
claims and returns.

e) Fees payable to Audit Scotland in respect of external audit services undertaken
in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice.

f) In Northern Ireland, the amount payable to the Comptroller and Auditor General
for Northern Ireland in respect of external audit services.

g) Fees payable in respect of any other services provided by the appointed auditor
over and above the duties described in notes 7 a) to f) above.

In Wales, the following information is also to be disclosed:

a) The total non-domestic rateable value at the year-end and the national
non-domestic rate multiplier for the year.

b) The calculation of the council tax base, ie the number of chargeable dwellings in
each valuation band (adjusted for dwellings where discounts apply) converted to
an equivalent number of band D dwellings.

c) The name of each authority which made a significant precept or demand on the
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9)

10)

11)

account and the amount included for each authority.

In Northern Ireland, disclosure of details of the rates receivable by the authority (ie
rate in the pound for domestic and non-domestic properties).

A breakdown of the movement of the amounts shown in the Movement in Reserves
Statement that are adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under
regulations to be debited or credited to the General Fund and Housing Revenue
Account for the year and the transfers to/from reserves.

Details of the nature and amount of trust funds where the authority acts as the sole
trustee. For other trust funds and other third party funds administered by the
authority, a statement providing an indication of the overall nature and amounts
administered by the authority. Where land or non-financial assets are managed,
occupied or held by the local authority which are impressed with charitable trusts,
the nature of those holdings.

Cash-Flow Statement
hsic of 4 ¢ cash and cash eauivalents.

3.4.5 Statutory Disclosure Requirements

There are no specific statutory disclosure requirements in relation to the presentation of
financial statements. Authorities shall disclose the statutory notes as set out in the other
sections of the Code in addition to the following:

1)

The following disclosures on employee remuneration in accordance with the
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015* for English authorities and the Accounts and
Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014."

a) Number of employees and senior police officers (all police officers in Wales)
(except those included in b) below) whose remuneration in the year was greater
or equal to £50,000, grouped in rising bands of £5,000 (England and Wales),
and

b) An analysis by job title of the remuneration and employer’s pension contributions
(as defined by the regulations referred to in 1) above) in respect of senior
employees and relevant police officers whose salary is £50,000 or more per
year (or by name and job title where the salary is £150,000 or more per year)
(England and Wales).

16

17

In accordance with Regulation 7 (3) and Schedule 1 of the regulations.

In accordance with Regulation 9 of the regulations.
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c) In Wales, the reference to ‘£50,000’ in a) and b) above shall be read as
‘£60,000'.

d) In Wales, the remuneration ratio as required by the Accounts and Audit (Wales)
Regulations 2014 (see Regulation 9(2)).

2) A brief explanation of the nature of any scheme under the Transport Act 2000 or the
Transport (Scotland) Act 2001, including the gross income and expenditure of the
scheme, and the net proceeds of the scheme (including for joint schemes the
apportionment of such proceeds).

3) A disclosure that demonstrates whether the Dedicated Schools Grant (made under
section 14 of the Education Act 2002) has been deployed in accordance with
regulations made under sections 45A, 45AA, 47, 48(1) and (2) and 138(7) of, and
paragraph 1(7)(b) of Schedule 14 to, the School Standards Framework Act 1998
(England).

Remuneration report (Northern Ireland)

Local authorities in Northern Ireland shall produce the statutory remuneration report
required by the Local Government (Accounts and Audit) Regulations (Northern Ireland)
2015.=

Remuneration report (Scotland)

Local authorities in Scotland shall produce the statutory remuneration report in
accordance with the requirements of the Local Authority Accounts (Scotland)
Regulations 2014 (SSI 2014/200)* and the guidance issued by the Scottish Government
(Scottish Government Finance Circulars 8/2011 and 7/2014).

3.4.6 Changes since the 20452016/26-17 Code

The 20162017/47-18 Code includes amendments to the Code’s provisions on the
presentation of financial statements to FeﬁleeHh&FepemF}gWFenc}en%sier—the

statements-clarify the reporting requirements for significant —accounting policies

The presentation of the financial statements section of the Code has also been amended

18

19

In accordance with Regulation 7 of the regulations.

In accordance with Regulation 8 of the regulations.
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to Qatla Na Nocambe 014 hanae a¥l WA

Standards-Board-({ASB)-Disclosure-nitiativereflect the new disclosure requirements

under IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows (Disclosure Initiative).

The 20167/1718 Code-(fellowing-the Update-to-the 2015/16-Code)—_includes

clarifications of the application of going concern basis of accounting to local authorities
and other bodies that apply the provisions of the Code. has-beenamended-toreflectthe-

3.5 HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

3511

3512

3521

3.5.1 Introduction

The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) reflects a statutory obligation to maintain a
revenue account for local authority housing provision in accordance with Part 6 of the
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (England and Wales) or the Housing
(Scotland) Act 1987.

It includes the credit and debit items required to be taken into account in determining the
surplus or deficit on the HRA for the year. The amounts included in the HRA differ from
the amounts in respect of HRA services included in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement for the authority as a whole, which includes income and
expenditure in accordance with the Code rather than that required by statute and
non-statutory proper practices. For this reason the HRA statement has two parts:

= Movement on the Housing Revenue Account Statement — which shows how the
HRA Income and Expenditure Account surplus or deficit for the year reconciles to the
movement on the Housing Revenue Account Balance for the year, and

= HRA Income and Expenditure Statement — which shows in more detail the income
and expenditure on HRA services included in the whole authority Surplus or Deficit
on the Provision of Services (comprising as well as the amounts included in the
whole authority Net Cost of Services for the HRA, the HRA'’s share of amounts
included in the whole authority net service cost but not allocated to individual
services and the HRA'’s share of operating expenditure and income such as net
interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset)).

3.5.2 Accounting Requirements

The HRA Income and Expenditure Statement shall be prepared on the same basis as
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the whole authority Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, following all the
provisions of the Code. However, the HRA Income and Expenditure Statement shall be
presented in accordance with the statutory accounting requirements.

3.5.3 Statutory Accounting Requirements

A housing authority shall present a HRA Income and Expenditure Statement. The
statement shall include a description of the purpose of the statement. The following
description is recommended but not mandatory.

The HRA Income and Expenditure Statement shows the economic cost in the year of
providing housing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices,
rather than the amount to be funded from rents and government grants. Authorities
charge rents to cover expenditure in accordance with the legislative framework; this may
be different from the accounting cost. The increase or decrease in the year, on the
basis upon which rents are raised, is shown in the Movement on the Housing Revenue
Account Statement.

The statement shall show:

Expenditure (including pension costs in accordance with the Code (IAS 19) basis):
a) repairs and maintenance

b) supervision and management (in Wales a management and maintenance item
combines items a) and b))

C) rents, rates, taxes and other charges

d) (negative) Housing Revenue Account subsidy payable (Wales)®
e) depreciation and impairments of non-current assets

f)  debt management costs (England and Wales)

g) sums directed by the Secretary of State, Scottish Government or Welsh Government
that are expenditure in accordance with the Code

h) any other expenditure (Scotland)

Income:

20

Section 131 of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 includes provision for the abolition of the subsidy
payable in relation to the Housing Revenue Accounts of local housing authorities. However,
section 131, sub-paragraph 1 has not been commenced at the time of drafting the 2046/172017/-
Codel8 Code. This comment also applies to line m)._As self-financing for Welsh housing
authorities has been in place since 2015/16, it is unlikely that these lines will apply.




i) dwelling rents (gross)

j) non-dwelling rents (gross)

k) charges for services and facilities (England and Wales)
[)  contributions towards expenditure (England and Wales)

m) Housing Revenue Account subsidy receivable (Wales) or Housing Support Grant
(Scotland)

n) sums directed by the Secretary of State, Scottish Government or Welsh Government
that are income in accordance with the Code

0) any other income (Scotland)

Sub-total: Net Expenditure or Income of HRA Services as included in the whole
authority Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

p) HRA share of Corporate and Democratic Core, if relevant

g) HRA share of other amounts included in the whole authority Net Expenditure of
Continuing Operations but not allocated to specific services

Sub-total: Net Expenditure of HRA Services

HRA share of the operating income and expenditure included in the whole authority
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement:

r) gain or loss on sale of HRA non-current assets

S) interest payable and similar charges

t) HRA interest and investment income

u) netinterest on the net defined benefit liability (asset)

v) capital grants and contributions
Surplus or deficit for the year on HRA services.

3532 A housing authority shall present a Movement on the Housing Revenue Account
Statement. The statement shall show:

a) balance on the HRA as at the end of the previous reporting period
b) surplus or (deficit) on the HRA Income and Expenditure Statement

c) adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under the legislative
framework

d) netincrease or decrease before transfers to or from reserves
e) transfers to or from earmarked reserves
f) increase or (decrease) in year on the HRA

g) balance onthe HRA as at the end of the current reporting period.



3533 A housing authority shall present, either in the Movement on the Housing Revenue
Account Statement or in the notes, an analysis of the amounts included in items c) and
e), to include the following:

a) difference between interest payable and similar charges including amortisation of
premiums and discounts determined in accordance with the Code and those
determined in accordance with statute (England and Wales)

b) difference between any other item of income and expenditure determined in
accordance with the Code and determined in accordance with statutory HRA
requirements (if any)

c) gain or loss on sale of HRA non-current assets
d) HRA share of contributions to or from the Pensions Reserve
e) capital expenditure funded by the Housing Revenue Account

f) sums directed by the Secretary of State, Welsh Government or Scottish Government
Minister to be debited or credited to the HRA that are not expenditure or income in
accordance with the Code

g) transfer to/from the Major Repairs Reserve (England and Wales)

h) transfer to/from the Capital Adjustment Account

i) transfer to/from Housing Repairs Account (England and Wales)

j) transfer to/from the Council Fund (Wales) or General Fund (England and Scotland)

k) transfers from the General Fund as directed by the Minister (Scotland only).

3.5.4 Disclosure Requirements

3541 The Housing Revenue Account is a statutory memorandum account that forms part of a
housing authority’s General Fund. No separate HRA Balance Sheet is maintained.
Generally, disclosure of HRA items separately from other General Fund items is not
required except for the disclosures and statutory disclosures listed below, and any
disclosures required under paragraphs 3.4.2.51 to 3.4.2.56 and 3.4.2.90 to 3.4.2.100 of
the Code (Movement in Reserves Statement and segment reporting). Note there is no
specification in this Code to provide an Expenditure Funding Analysis for the HRA.

3542 Having regard to paragraph 3.4.2.27 of the Presentation of Financial Statements section
of the Code, which permits authorities not to provide a specific disclosure if information is
not material, a housing authority shall disclose the following information in the notes to
the HRA Statements.

England:
1) The number and types of dwelling in the authority’s housing stock.

2) The amount of rent arrears (excluding amounts collectable on behalf of other



agencies) and the aggregate Balance Sheet provision in respect of uncollectable
debts.

3) Explanation of any sums directed by the Secretary of State to be debited or credited
to the HRA.

Wales:

4) The number and types of dwelling in the authority’s housing stock.

5) The amount of rent arrears (excluding amounts collectable on behalf of other
agencies) and the aggregate Balance Sheet provision in respect of uncollectable
debts.

6) A summary of total capital expenditure on land, houses and other property within the
authority’s HRA during the financial year, broken down according to the following
sources of funding:

a) borrowing

b) the Capital Receipts Reserve

c) revenue contributions (ie the debit under Item 2 of Part Il of Schedule 4 to the
Local Government and Housing Act 1989)

d) the Major Repairs Reserve.

7) A summary of total capital receipts from disposals of land, houses and other
property within the authority’s HRA during the financial year.

8) The total charge for depreciation for the land, houses and other property within the
authority’s HRA, and the charges for depreciation for:

a) operational assets, comprising:
dwellings
other land and buildings, and
b) non-operational assets.

9) The value of, and an explanation of, any impairment charges for the financial year in
respect of land, houses and other property within the authority’s HRA, calculated in
accordance with proper practices.

10) The value of, and an explanation of, any charge calculated in accordance with
proper practices in respect of revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute
attributable to the HRA.

11) An explanation of the HRA share of contributions to or from the Pensions Reserve.

Scotland:

12) The number and types of dwelling in the authority’s housing stock.

13)

The amount of rent arrears (excluding amounts collectable on behalf of other



agencies) and the provision considered to be necessary in respect of uncollectable
debts.

3.5.5 Statutory Disclosure Requirements

3551 Having regard to paragraph 3.4.2.27 of the Presentation of Financial Statements section
of the Code, which permits authorities not to provide a specific disclosure if information is
not material, a housing authority shall disclose the following information in the notes to
the HRA Statements.

England®:

1) The total Balance Sheet value of the land, houses and other property within the
authority’s HRA as at 1 April in the financial year, and the closing Balance Sheet
value as at 31 March in the financial year of:

a) council dwellings

b) other land and buildings

c) vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment
d) infrastructure and community assets

e) assets under construction

f) surplus assets not held for sale

g) investment properties

h) assets held for sale.

2) The vacant possession value of dwellings within the authority’s HRA as at 1 April in
the financial year.

3) An explanation that the vacant possession value and Balance Sheet value of
dwellings within the HRA show the economic cost te-gevernment-of providing council
housing at less than market rents.

4) The value of, and an explanation of, any charge calculated in accordance with
proper practices in respect of revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute
attributable to the HRA.

5) The value of, and an explanation of, any impairment charges for the financial year in
respect of land, houses and other property within the authority’s HRA, calculated in
accordance with proper practices.




#6) A summary of total capital expenditure on land, houses and other property within the
authority’s HRA during the financial year, broken down according to the following
sources of funding:

a)
b)
c)
d)

e)

borrowing
credit arrangements

capital receipts

revenue contributions {ie-the-debitunderitem-2-of RPart H-of Schedule 4-to-the-
Local Government and Housing Act 1989}

the Major Repairs Reserve.

87) A summary of total capital receipts from disposals of land, houses and other
property within the authority’s HRA during the financial year.

108)

The total charge for depreciation for the land, houses or other property within the

authority’s HRA, and the charges for depreciation® for:

a)
b)
c)
d)
€)
f)

council dwellings

other land and buildings

vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment
infrastructure and community assets
assets under construction

surplus assets not held for sale.

Note it is appropriate to calculate depreciation charges on each of these classes of asset in

accordance with the relevant sections of chapter four of the Code.
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Wales:

129)  The disclosure of income and expenditure and any balances relating to the
Major Repairs Allowance grant in accordance with the requirements of Regulation
8(2) of the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014.

3.5.6 Changes since the 20152016/16-17 Code

Following the amendments in the Update to the 2016/17 Code, Fhere 2017/18 Code-has-

updated-the-have beenno-changes-to-the Housing Revenue Account section of the
2017/18 Code since-the 2015/16-Code-tohas been updated to reflect the changes as a

result of the Housing Revenue Account (Accounting Practices) Directions 2016.

3.6 COLLECTION FUND (ENGLAND)/COUNCIL TAX INCOME
ACCOUNT (SCOTLAND)/NON-DOMESTIC RATE ACCOUNT
(SCOTLAND)

3611

3612

3.6.1 Introduction

Collection Fund (England)

The Collection Fund Statement is an agent’s statement that reflects the statutory
obligation for billing authorities to maintain a separate Collection Fund in accordance with
section 89 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (as amended by the Local
Government Finance Act 1992).

The Collection Fund shows the transactions of the billing authority in relation to the
collection from taxpayers and distribution to local authorities and the Government of
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council tax and non-domestic rates. There is no requirement for a Collection Fund
Balance Sheet since the assets and liabilities arising from collecting non-domestic rates
and council tax belong to the bodies (ie major preceptors, the billing authority and the
Government) on behalf of which the billing authority collects these taxes.

Council Tax Income Account (Scotland)

The Council Tax Income Account (Scotland) shows the net income raised from council
taxes levied under the Local Government Finance Act 1992. The net income is
transferred to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement of the authority.

Non-Domestic Rate Account (Scotland)

The Non-Domestic Rate Income Account (Scotland) is an agent’s statement that reflects
the statutory obligation for billing authorities to maintain a separate Non-Domestic Rate
Account that shows the net income from the rates levied under the Local Government
(Scotland) Act 1975 as amended by the Local Government Finance Act 1992 on
non-domestic property. The net income is paid to the Scottish Government as a
contribution to the national non-domestic rate pool. There is no requirement for a
Non-Domestic Rate Income Account Balance Sheet since the assets and liabilities
arising from collecting non-domestic rates belong to the Scottish Government on behalf
of which the billing authority collects non-domestic rates.

3.6.2 Accounting Requirements

Even though taxation debtors are non-contractual debts and are excluded from the
scope of IAS 39, the accounting requirements in the Collection Fund (England), Council
Tax Income Account (Scotland) and Non-Domestic Rate Account (Scotland) in respect of
the write-off of uncollectable debts and allowance for impairment of doubtful debts follow
the impairment provisions of chapter seven (paragraphs 7.3.3.1 to 7.3.3.6) of the Code.
However, the statements shall be presented in accordance with the statutory accounting
requirements.

3.6.3 Statutory Accounting Requirements

Collection Fund (England)

The statement shall include a description of the purpose of the statement. The following
description is recommended but not mandatory.

The Collection Fund is an agent’s statement that reflects the statutory obligation for
billing authorities to maintain a separate Collection Fund. The statement shows the
transactions of the billing authority in relation to the collection from taxpayers and
distribution to local authorities and the Government of council tax and non-domestic



rates.

The accounting statement shall show:

Amounts required by statute to be credited to the Collection Fund

a)

b)

council tax (showing the amount receivable, net of benefits, discounts for prompt
payments and transitional relief)

transfers from General Fund — council tax:

- transitional relief

- discounts for prompt payment

non-domestic rates (showing the amount receivable, net of discretionary and
mandatory reliefs)

transitional protection payments — non-domestic rates, if applicable
income collectable in respect of Business Rate Supplements

contributions:

- towards previous year’s Collection Fund deficit — council tax

- towards previous year’s Collection Fund deficit — non-domestic rates
- adjustment of previous years’ community charges

Amounts required by statute to be debited to the Collection Fund

9)

h)

precepts and demands from major preceptors (specify) and the authority — council
tax

shares of non-domestic rating income to major preceptors (specify) and the (billing)
authority — non-domestic rates

payment with respect to central share (including allowable deductions) of the
non-domestic rating income to be paid to central government by billing authorities
transitional protection payment receivable, if applicable

Business Rate Supplements:

- payments to levying authority’s Business Rate Supplement Revenue Account
- administrative costs

impairment of debts/appeals for council tax:

write-offs of uncollectable amounts

allowance for impairment

impairment of debts/appeals for non-domestic rates:

- write-offs of uncollectable amounts

- allowance for impairment

charge to General Fund for allowable collection costs for non-domestic rates
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0) other transfers to General Fund in accordance with non-domestic rates regulations,
reported separately where transfers are material, eg for each major scheme

p) contribution:
- towards previous year’s estimated Collection Fund surplus — council tax

- towards previous year’s estimated Collection Fund surplus — non-domestic
rates

adjustment of previous years’ community charges
Movements on the Collection Fund

g) movement on fund balance (reported separately for council tax, non-domestic rates,
business rate supplements and community charges)

r) opening fund balance (reported separately for council tax, non-domestic rates,
business rate supplements and community charges)

s) closing fund balance (reported separately for council tax, non-domestic rates,
business rate supplements and community charges).

Council Tax Income Account (Scotland)

The statement shall include a description of the purpose of the statement. The following
description is recommended but not mandatory.

The Council Tax Income Account (Scotland) shows the gross income raised from council
taxes levied and deductions made under statute. The resultant net income is
transferred to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement of the authority.

The accounting statement shall show:

a) gross council tax levied and contributions in lieu

b) council tax reduction scheme

c) discounts for prompt payment

d) other discounts and reductions

e) write-off of uncollectable debts and allowance for impairment

f) adjustment to previous years’ community charge and council tax

g) transfers to General Fund.

Non-Domestic Rate Account (Scotland)

The statement shall include a description of the purpose of the statement. The following
description is recommended but not mandatory.

The Non-Domestic Rate Account (Scotland) is an agent’s* statement that reflects the
statutory obligation for billing authorities to maintain a separate Non-Domestic Rate
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Account. The statement shows the gross income from the rates and deductions made
under statute. The net income is paid to the Scottish Government as a contribution to
the national non-domestic rate pool.

* Where an authority recognises income in accordance with line g) below, the statement
should be amended to reflect this.

The accounting statement shall show:

a) gross rates levied and contributions in lieu

b) reliefs and other deductions

c) payment of interest

d) write-offs of uncollectable debts and allowance for impairment
e) netnon-domestic rate income

f) adjustment to previous years’ national non-domestic rates

g) non-domestic rates income retained by authority (reported separately by each major
scheme, eg Business Rates Incentivisation Scheme/Tax Incremental Financing)

h) contribution to national non-domestic rate pool.

3.6.4 Disclosure Requirements

Having regard to paragraph 3.4.2.27 of the Presentation of Financial Statements section
of the Code, which permits authorities not to provide a specific disclosure if information is
not material, authorities shall disclose the following notes in relation to the Collection
Fund (England), the Council Tax Income Account (Scotland) and the Non-Domestic Rate
Account (Scotland):

Collection Fund (England)

1) The total non-domestic rateable value at the year end and the national non-domestic
rate multiplier for the year.

2) The calculation of the council tax base, ie the number of chargeable dwellings in
each valuation band (adjusted for dwellings where discounts apply) converted to an
equivalent number of band D dwellings.

Council Tax Income Account (Scotland)

3) The calculation of the council tax base, ie the number of chargeable dwellings in
each valuation band (adjusted for dwellings where discounts apply) after providing
for non-payment, as an equivalent number of band D dwellings and the level of
non-payment provided for.

4) An explanation of the nature and actual amount of each charge fixed.
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Non-Domestic Rate Account (Scotland)

5) Analysis of rateable values at the beginning of the year.

6) An explanation of the nature and amount of each rate fixed.

Disclosure of accounting policies in relation to impairment of debts is required, where

these accounting policies are significant to the authority’s financial statements (see
section 3.4 of the Code).

3.6.5 Statutory Disclosure Requirements

There are no statutory disclosure requirements in relation to accounting for the Collection
Fund (England), the Council Tax Income Account (Scotland) and the Non-Domestic Rate
Account (Scotland).

3.6.6 Changes since the 20452016/16-17 Code

There have been no changes to the Collection Fund (England)/Council Tax Income
Account/Non Domestic Rate Account (Scotland) section of the Code since the
20152016/1617 Code.

3.7 STATEMENTS REPORTING REVIEWS OF INTERNAL
CONTROLS

3711

3721

3.7.1 Introduction

Regulation 6(1)(a) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, Regulation 4(2) of the
Local Government (Accounts and Audit) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2015, Regulation
5(2) of the Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014 and Regulation 5(2) of
the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014 require an authority to conduct a
review at least once in a year of the effectiveness of its system of internal control and
include a statement reporting on the review with any published Statement of Accounts
(England) (as a part of the Annual Accounts (Scotland)). Regulation 6(1)(b) of the
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, Regulation 4(4) of the Local Government
(Accounts and Audit) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2015 and Regulation 5(4) of the
Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014 require that for a local authority in
England, Northern Ireland and Scotland the statement is an Annual Governance
Statement.

3.7.2 Accounting Requirements

The review of internal controls provides assurance that the Statement of Accounts gives
a true and fair view of the authority’s financial position at the reporting date and its
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financial performance during the year.

3.7.3 Statutory Accounting Requirements

Authorities are required to undertake and report on a review of internal controls.

3.7.4 Disclosure Requirements

A local authority shall undertake a review of its system of internal control in accordance
with best practice. Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework
(2016), published by CIPFA and SOLACE, recommends that the review be reported in
an Annual Governance Statement.

The preparation and publication of an Annual Governance Statement in accordance with
Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) would fulfil the
statutory requirements across the United Kingdom for a local authority to conduct a
review at least once in each financial year of the effectiveness of its system of internal
control and to include a statement reporting on the review with its Statement of Accounts.
In England the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 stipulate that the Annual
Governance Statement must be “prepared in accordance with proper practices in relation
to accounts”. Therefore a local authority in England shall provide this statement in
accordance with Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)
and this section of the Code.

The statement shall relate to the governance system as it applied during the financial
year for the accounts that it accompanies. However, significant events or developments
relating to the governance system that occur between the reporting date and the date on
which the Statement of Accounts is signed by the responsible financial officer shall also
be reported. Where an authority is in a group relationship with other entities and
undertakes significant activities through the group, the review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control shall include its group activities.

The following information shall be included in the Annual Governance Statement:

a) an acknowledgement of responsibility for ensuring there is a sound system of
governance (incorporating the system of internal control)

b) a reference to and assessment of the effectiveness of key elements of the
governance framework, including group activities where the activities are significant,
and the role of those responsible for the development and maintenance of the
governance environment such as the authority, the executive, the audit committee
and others as appropriate

c) an opinion on the level of assurance that the authority’s governance arrangements
can provide

d) an agreed action plan



e) a conclusion.

3745 The governance statement shall be approved at a meeting of the authority or delegated
committee (in Scotland, the authority or a committee with a remit including audit or
governance) and signed by the chief executive and a leading member (in Scotland, by
the chief executive and the leader of the council).

3.7.5 Statutory Disclosure Requirements

3751 Statutory disclosure requirements will be met by complying with the disclosure
requirements set out above.

3.7.6 Changes since the 20152016/26-17 Code

3761 There have been no changes to the statements reporting reviews of internal controls

section of the Code since the 2016/17 Code{fellewing-the Update-to-the 2015/16- Code)-

3.8 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

3.8.1 Introduction

3811 Authorities shall account for events after the reporting period in accordance with IAS 10
Events after the Reporting Period, except where adaptations to fit the public sector are
detailed in the Code. IPSAS 14 Events after the Reporting Date is based on IAS 10,
and introduces no additional accounting requirements, although it provides additional
guidance for public sector bodies.

Adaptation for the public sector context

3812 The date the financial statements are authorised for issue is defined in the Code, based
on legislative requirements.

3813 Transfers of services under combinations of public sector bodies (such as local
government reorganisation) do not negate the presumption of going concern.
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3.8.2 Accounting Requirements

Definitions

Events after the reporting period are those events, both favourable and unfavourable,
that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the financial
statements are authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified:

a) those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting
period (adjusting events after the reporting period), and

b) those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period
(non-adjusting events after the reporting period).

Authorised for issue

The financial statements of an authority are authorised for issue in accordance with the
relevant legislation:

= the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015
= the Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014
= the Local Government (Accounts and Audit) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2015

» the Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014.

Regulations in England require authorities to prepare a Statement of Accounts prior to
the commencement of the period for exercise of public rights. Regulations require that
this period includes the first 10 working days of July.

Regulations in Northern Ireland and Wales require authorities to prepare a Statement of
Accounts before 30 June following the reporting date.

In Scotland, the proper officer is required to submit the unaudited accounts to the
appointed auditor by 30 June. The local authority or a committee of that authority
whose remit includes audit or governance functions must meet to consider the unaudited
Annual Accounts as submitted to the auditor by 31 August.

The responsible financial officer (proper officer in Scotland/chief financial officer in
Northern Ireland) shall certify that the accounts give a true and fair view of the authority’s
financial position and financial performance. The Statement of Accounts shall reflect
events after the reporting period up to the date the accounts were certified by the
responsible financial officer, proper officer or chief financial officer.

In England, regulations require the Statement of Accounts to be published by 30
September® to be approved by a committee or local government body and signed by the
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Or as soon a reasonably practicable after the receipt of the auditors final findings (if later).



chair of the relevant approving committee or body.

3828 In Northern Ireland, regulations require an authority to publish its audited Statement of
Accounts by 30 September following the reporting period.

3829 Regulations in Scotland require the local authority to aim to approve the Annual
Accounts for signature no later than 30 September and to publish them no later than 31
October.

38210 In Wales, regulations require the Statement of Accounts published by 30 September
(and any subsequent Statement of Accounts issued following the conclusion of the audit)
to be approved by a committee or local government body and signed by the chair of the
relevant approving body.

38211 The published Statements of Accounts shall reflect events after the reporting period up to
the date the accounts were authorised for issue. The date the accounts were
authorised for issue shal-beis described in the following list:

= Unaudited accounts — the date on which the responsible financial officer (proper
officer in Scotland/chief financial officer in Northern Ireland) certifies_(or in England
confirms) that the accounts give a true and fair view of the authority’s financial
position and financial performance in advance of approval.

= Audited accounts (England) — the authorised for issue date is the date the
responsible financial officer re-eertifies-confirms the financial statements before the
committee, authority or body approves the financial statements in accordance with
the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The re-eettification-confirmation by the
responsible officer shall include a statement on the face of the Balance Sheet
regarding the status of the accounts; examples are ‘These financial statements
replace the unaudited financial statements eertified-confirmed by [responsible
financial officer] on [insert date]’; or ‘The unaudited accounts were issued on [insert
date] and the audited accounts were authorised for issue on [insert date] .

» Audited accounts (Northern Ireland) — the authorised for issue date is the date the
chief financial officer re-certifies the financial statements before the committee,
authority or body approves the financial statements in accordance with the Local
Government (Accounts and Audit) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2015. The
re-certification by the responsible officer shall include a statement on the face of the
Balance Sheet regarding the status of the accounts; examples are ‘These financial
statements replace the unaudited financial statements certified by [chief financial
officer] on [insert date]’; or ‘The unaudited accounts were issued on [insert date] and
the audited accounts were authorised for issue on [insert date]'.

» Audited accounts (Wales) — the authorised for issue date is the date the responsible
financial officer re-certifies the financial statements before the committee, authority
or body approves the financial statements in accordance with the Accounts and



Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014. The re-certification by the responsible officer shall
include a statement on the face of the Balance Sheet regarding the status of the
accounts; examples are ‘These financial statements replace the unaudited financial
statements certified by [responsible financial officer] on [insert date]’; or ‘The
unaudited accounts were issued on [insert date] and the audited accounts were
authorised for issue on [insert date]'. Re-certification shall take place in accordance
with the approval process in the Regulations.

= Audited Accounts (Scotland) — the authorised for issue date is the date on which the
proper officer re-certifies the Balance Sheets after approval by the authority or
relevant committee. The re-certification by the section 95 officer shall include a
statement on the face of the Balance Sheet regarding the status of the accounts;
examples are ‘These financial statements replace the unaudited financial statements
certified by [proper officer] on [insert date]'’; or ‘The unaudited accounts were issued
on [insert date] and the audited accounts were authorised for issue on [insert date]'.

Events after the reporting period

38212 An authority shall adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements to reflect
adjusting events after the reporting period.

38213 An authority shall not adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements to reflect
non-adjusting events after the reporting period.

Going concern

38214 An authority shall prepare its financial statements on a going concern basis unless there
is an intention by government that the services provided by the authority will no longer be
provided. An intention by government to transfer services from one authority to another
(for example, as part of local government reorganisation) does not negate the
presumption that the authority is a going concern.

3.8.3 Statutory Accounting Requirements

3831 Financial statements are authorised for issue in accordance with legislative requirements
(see paragraph 3.8.2.2).
3.8.4 Disclosure Requirements

3841 An authority shall disclose the fellewing:

1)}—Fhe date when the financial statements were authorised for issue and who gave that
authorisation. Where the statements may be amended following audit, the authority
shall disclose that fact.

384223 If an authority receives information after the reporting period, but before the financial



statements are authorised for issue, about conditions that existed at the end of the
reporting period, the authority shall update disclosures that relate to these conditions, in
the light of the new information.

38433}If non-adjusting events after the reporting date are material, non-disclosure could
influence the decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.
Accordingly, an authority shall disclose the following for each material category of
non-adjusting event after the reporting date:

a) the nature of the event, and

b) an estimate of its financial effect, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be
made.

38444yWhere there is an intention by government to transfer services from the authority to
another (for example, as part of local government reorganisation), the authority shall
disclose that fact.
3.8.5 Statutory Disclosure Requirements

3851 There are no statutory disclosure requirements in relation to events after the reporting
period.

3.8.6 Changes since the 20152016/26-17 Code

3861 There have been no changes to the events after the reporting period section of the Code
since the 2016/17 Code-{dollowing-the Update to-the 20 Wal

3.9 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

3.9.1 Introduction

3911 Authorities shall identify related party relationships and transactions, identify outstanding
balances between the authority and its related parties, and identify the circumstances in
which disclosures are required, in accordance with IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures
except where adaptations to fit the public sector are detailed in the Code.

3912 IPSAS 20 Related Party Disclosures is based on IAS 24, and provides additional
guidance for public sector bodies.

Adaptation for the public sector context

3913 The following adaptation of IAS 24 applies for the public sector context:
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* In considering materiality, regard should be had to the definition of materiality, which
requires materiality to be judged ‘in the surrounding circumstances’. Materiality
should thus be judged from the viewpoint of both the authority and the related party.

3.9.2 Accounting Requirements

Definitions

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be
expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

» that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner
= children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner, and

» dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

Key management personnel are al